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 2005 2006 2007 2008 Real Var. %

     2008 / 2007

Sales Volumes *

Copper  (tons.)  798,050 632,873 603,530 505,540 (16)

Zinc  (tons.) 133,420 127,496 114,200 100,318 (12)

Silver  (ounces) 20,601,905 19,792,863 18,130,220 14,999,735 (17)

Gold  (ounces) 52,084 55,749 48,290 47,229 (2)

Molybdenum (tons.) 14,585 11,753 16,304 16,510 1

Average Price (dollars)

Copper (COMEX) (pound) 1.68 3.09 3.22 3.13 (3)

Zinc (LME) (pound) 0.63 1.49 1.47 0.85 (42)

Silver (COMEX) (ounce) 7.32 11.54 13.39 14.97 12

Gold (LF) (ounce) 445.05 604.04 697.35 870.95 25

Molybdenum (MW DEALER OXIDE) (pound) 31.05 24.38 29.91 28.42 (5)

Lead   0.44 0.59 1.17 0.95 (19)

Railroad Division Statistics 

Tons transported (thousands of tons) 41,994 47,777 47,571 48,217 1

Net ton-kilometers (millions of tons)  35,359 39,087 40,458 40,186 (1)

Cars loaded  (thousands of units) 639.6 734.5 719.5 730.2 1

Balance Sheet  (millions of dollars)

Current Assets  2,335 3,687 4,271 3,104 (27)

Fixed Assets  4,132 4,518 4,734 4,809 2

Total Assets  7,477 8,916 9,745 8,687 (11)

Bank Debt   1,618 2,067 2,067 1,688 (18)

Total Liabilities  3,090 3,603 3,632 3,081 (15)

Equity Capital    3,206   3,967   4,660   4,361   (6)

Earnings  (millions of dollars)

Total Sales   5,189 6,359 7,078 5,946 (16)

Cost of Sale   2,422 2,593 2,791 2,911 4

Operating Profit plus Depreciation (EBITDA)  2,612   3,628   4,078   2,854   (30)

Net Profit    1,063   1,530   1,631  1,071   (34)

Cash Flow   (millions of dollars)

From Operations  1,863 2,158 2,683 2,082 (22)

Applied to Financing Activities (999) (499) (1,472) (2,197) 49

Total Cash Flow  864 1,659 1,211 (115) (109)

Allocated to Investments  (563) (968) (513) (785) 53 

Cash Flow after Investments  301 691 698 (900) (229)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 2005 2006 2007 2008 Real Var %

Stock Information** 2008 / 2007

Total Shares in Circulation (thousands) 2,594,699 2,576,863 2,571,449 7,610,000 196

EBITDA per Share  0.34 0.47 0.52 0.37 (29)

Cash flow per Share  0.23 0.31 0.36 0.24 (33)

Earnings per Share  0.14 0.20 0.21 0.14 (33)

Book Value  0.42 0.52 0.61 0.57 (7)

Financial Ratios

Operating Margin  43% 52% 52% 41% (21)

Operating Margin plus Depreciation  50% 57% 58% 48%  (17)

Current Assets to Current Liabilities (times) 2.3  2.9 3.1 3.0  (3)

Total Liabilities to Total Assets  41% 40% 37% 35% (5)

Debt /Capital+Debt  34% 34% 31% 28% (10)

EBITDA/Interests (times) 13.92 22.74 23.23 17.35 (25)

Employees  19,143 18,931 19,061 18,928 (1)

Annual Inflation

Mexico  3% 4% 4% 7% 75

United States  3% 3% 4% 0% (100)

Peru  1% 1% 4% 7% 75

Exchange Rate and the End of Each Year

Mexico  (pesos/dollar) 10.71 10.88  10.87 13.54  25

Peru  (pesos/dollar)  3.43 3.20 3.00 3.14 5

Average Exchange Rate

Mexico  (pesos/dollar) 10.90 10.90 10.93 11.14  2 

Peru  (pesos/dollar) 3.30 3.28 3.13 2.93 (6)

Expressed according to US GAAP

* Throughout this report, all tons are metric and all ounces are troy.

** Referring to 7,681,266,151 shares.



Grupo México reports good results for 2008. Despite experien-
cing a significant drop in metals prices during the last quarter, the 
company’s results were satisfactory. Grupo México also faced very 
significant increases in its costs, principally in the price of electrici-
ty and petroleum products, however Grupo México held itself as a 
low cost company compared to its peers and this valuable trait will 
be further entrenched with greater discipline in terms of costs and 
a moderate improvement in the high costs of energy and electricity, 
which will be accentuated in 2009.

The global climate for metals has changed significantly. World 
demand has reduced for industry producers and in the majority of 
the production sectors. On the whole, signs of stability and recovery 
could start with increased demand for metals by the emerging world 
powers. Grupo México holds significant advantages in this climate to 
endure the global economic crisis and is prepared to reap the bene-
fits during its recovery. Although the sales and EBITDA of Grupo 
México’s Mining Division were affected in 2008, the railroad once 
again posted an increase in sales, over 9.4%, for 2008, with which 
the railroad company reports a decade of success as a freight trans-
portation company and has proven to be an appropriate complement 
to the production activities of Grupo México. Also, Grupo México has a 
solid financial structure with low debt and a relaxed profile to service 
this debt, while the company generated significant returns for its 
shareholders in 2008 and maintained its dividend policy and profit in 
the markets, setting Grupo México apart for its low costs, low debt, 
and clarity in administration.
 
Grupo México sales were close to US $6.00 billion. Costs, affected by 
increases in the prices of electricity, equipment, and raw materials, 
rose only 4.2% as compared to 2007 to reach US $2.905 billion. 
The EBITDA for Grupo México in 2008 was US $2.869 billion, and 
the net earnings for the company were US $1.071 billion. It is impor-
tant to note that these results are largely attributed to the slump in 
metals prices, but the adjustment in revenues due to the marketing 
system of the mining industry, which sets the end price for sales 
two or three months after the product is delivered, is also a princi-
pal factor. Without this provisional pricing adjustment, the consolida-
ted EBITDA would have been US $3.250 billion and the net earnings 

LETTER TO INVESTORS

Employee in an underground mine.
Charcas, San Luis Potosí
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US $1.320 billion. It is unlikely this phenomenon will be repeated in 
the near future. 

On the whole, these are good results despite coming in at less than 
2007, and express the significant base on which the company stands, 
in spite of the reduction in global demand for the principal metals 
Group México produces. The price of copper fell 45.7% in the last 
quarter of the year. The same thing occurred with molybdenum 
(-54.4%) and zinc (-54.8%). Over the year, prices averaged, with the 
exception of zinc, 2.3% and 5.0% lower than 2007.

Mining production, in the case of Grupo México, was affected by 
lower grades, as occurs with the majority of mining companies world-
wide, and by the absence of production at the Cananea, San Martín, 
and Taxco mines because of strikes that have not as yet been legally 
defined, but have held operations at a standstill for 15 months. The 
lack of clarity in terms of possible solution in the context of low copper 
prices indicates that these mines will be reopened when adequate 
conditions of security and viability are present and market conditions 
have improved.

In 2008, Southern Copper Corporation produced over 489,000 tons 
of copper and 16,390 tons of molybdenum, 1.1% more than 2007, 
107,000 tons of zinc, 465 kilograms of gold, and 473 tons of silver. As 
mentioned, production suffered a reduction overall, because of labor 
problems at Cananea, San Martín, and Taxco, with the exception of 
molybdenum, which improved at the La Caridad mine in Mexico and 
at the mines in Peru. In terms of smelted and refined copper, there 
were increases in 2008 of 29% and 23% respectively compared to 
2007 by operating at capacity and purchases from third parties.

The operating margin for the mining company was over 52.8%, which 
although less than the 61.7% reported for 2007, due to lower prices 
and high costs of materials, is still at a high level. The per pound cost 
of production on a cash basis for 2007 was 34 dollar cents per pound 
of produced copper, including the deduction of byproducts, against a 
cost of -0.167 cents in 2007, due to the fall in the value of the bypro-
ducts, specifically molybdenum.
 

Of course, during times of crisis, such as now, the level of leverage is 
essential to determine the financial health of a company and Grupo 
México is one of the best positioned companies. The total consolida-
ted debt as of December 2008 was US $1.688 billion, US $72 million 
less than the company’s cash balance, which was US $1.760 billion. 
More significant is the fact that the payment profile for this debt is 
very attainable and does not present a burden to the company. The 
yearly payments, covering the bulk of the debt (US $1.00 billion), 
are very moderate until 2035. Also noteworthy is the reduction of 
the debt of Ferromex on amortizing the FERROMX03 debt securities 
for $1.200 billion pesos, leaving a debt in Mexican pesos of $2.500 
billion maturing in 2014 and 2022.

These realities explain how Grupo México (BBB-), Southern Copper 
Corporation (SCC), and Ferromex (BBB; and the debt issues of 
Ferromex at MXAA and AAMX), maintain their investment grade as 
rated by the principal ratings agencies in the world.

US $558 million has been invested in this repurchase at low prices, 
generating future value for investors in both market entities. Also, 
thanks to this repurchase, Grupo México increased its holdings in SCC 
from 75.1% to 79.3% of the company’s total shares. Similarly, both 
Grupo México and SCC have maintained a healthy dividend policy, 
without putting company liquidity or reserves at risk, to encourage 
their investors at a time when world markets would appear to punish 
variable investment.

Another important adjustment Grupo México and SCC have made 
to the new global economic context has been the adaptation of 
their capital expenditures in mining projects. In 2008, investments 
(CAPEX) increased 14.6% over 2007 to more than US $730 million. 
Due to the evolution of the markets, half of the investments schedu-
led for 2009 have been suspended, from US $1.300 billion to US $515 
million (US $450 million for the mining division and US $100 million 
for the transportation division). The new schedule will also be subject 
to future evaluations. This adjustment does not include the expan-
sion of the infrastructure division, which began construction on two 
tunnels in southeast Mexico at the end of 2008, a project represen-
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ting approximately US $45 million, and participation in other tenders 
for infrastructure projects related to the economic stimulus plans of 
the Mexican Government.

 
In the transportation division, the drop in economic activity only 
slightly affected the volume of freight transported, at over 40,000 
tons for the year and in terms of ton-kilometers, close to 10,000 ton-
kilometers, which were compensated by freight being transported 
over greater distances and better rates. This explains the division’s 
sales being reported at 9.4% higher than 2007, its EBITDA being 
8.6% greater than 2007, and its earnings are 1% higher than 2007. 
Ferrosur, which does not consolidate its results with Grupo México, 
sales were US $249.3 million, 1.9% higher than 2007, its EBITDA 
decreased slightly to US $64 million, but its net earnings increased 
9.4%, showing a very satisfactory performance.

With regards to Asarco, the current administration of Asarco and 
its Board have not managed to propose a viable restructuring plan 
for the company to emerge from Chapter 11, and this has caused 
Asarco, its creditors, and its only shareholder to suffer economic 
damages. The Judge heading the process has granted a new exten-
sion for this plan to be presented and Grupo México may, in turn, 
present an alternative plan and evaluate legal action to halt or 
recover these damages.

In terms of social responsibility, the affiliate companies of Grupo 
México have strengthened their commitment to the environment 
and the communities where they operate. It is therefore important to 
mention that 4 of our units (Douglas-Nacozari Gas Pipeline, Guaymas 
Sea Terminal, Precious Metals Plant, and Wire Rod Plant) received Clean 
Industry Certification. Also, 1,471,216 trees were produced in 2008, 
25% of which were distributed to IMMSA properties, 27% went to the 
community, 21% to municipal, state, and federal government agen-
cies, and 27 % of the trees were given to schools. Production this 

year was 102,236 trees. Also, the recycling program for materials 
and non-hazardous waste was expanded with community participa-
tion (paper, cardboard, waste collection receptacles) and collabora-

new campaigns were implemented for gas emissions recovery at the 
majority of the converters at the La Caridad smelter, which will signi-

are the programs at Cananea and Nueva Rosita, with their communi-
ty center, camps for children, and community actions in both cities. 
Grupo México has created a Foundation, which will start operations 
in 2009, to organize, strengthen, and develop a more significant 
company presence in the community.

Grupo México is in a good position to face the new economic condi-
tions and to adapt itself to preserve its value for investors. These 
will not be easy times, nor will they end soon. But, Grupo México has 
survived cyclical periods of lows in metals and knows it must focus on 

is prepared to take advantage of opportunities that will increase 
its capacities and generate greater value for its shareholders. The 
company, and its subsidiaries, will overcome the current challenges 
as serious and socially responsible companies, and will emerge even 
stronger when this new and very peculiar low cycle changes its direc-
tion towards better prices and greater opportunities.

GERMÁN LARREA MOTA-VELASCO
Chairman of the Board

Grupo México
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SALES Consolidated net sales for Grupo 

México reached US $5.946 billion 

in 2008, compared to the historic 

high of US $7.078 billion reported 

for 2007. There are two principal 

reasons for this decrease in sales: 

the sudden drop in metals prices 

in the last quarter of the year and 

the price adjustment on final sales 

made months after the product is 

delivered.

Copper is ductile, resistant to corrosion, malleable, and easily recycled. The versatility of this valuable metal makes it 
one of the most useful natural resources in the world.
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SALES

Consolidated net sales for Grupo México reached US $5.946 billion 
in 2008, compared to the historic high of US $7.078 billion reported 
for 2007. There are two principal reasons for this decrease in sales: 
the sudden drop in metals prices in the last quarter of the year and 
the price adjustment on final sales made months after the product 
is delivered. In the first case, we went from highs of close to US $4 
per pound for copper and over US $30 per pound for molybdenum to 
lows as low as US $1.27 and US $10.50 in the last month of the year, 
for copper and molybdenum respectively (The average dropped from 
US $3.20 to US $1.40).

The second factor, the price setting system in the mining industry, 
which is very unlikely to be brought back in the future, takes into 
account the reimbursements resulting from the setting of the end 
price on original contracts at high prices, but executable at very low 
prices. This system represented approximately US $400 million less 
in revenues for the company.

Thus, despite sales having been driven by a 37% increase in the 
production of Molybdenum, and improved revenues for the railroad 
service at over 9%, the decrease is significant. In contrast, the total 
cost of sales increased only 7.7%, allowing the mining company of 
Grupo México to remain among those with the lowest costs in the 
industry. It’s important during periods of low metals prices and slow 
economic activity to control costs to expand the profitability margin 
of the company.

Copper prices remain in a state of strong volatility due to global 
reasons that began in the financial sector but have now deeply affec-
ted metals consumption. This, and the slow transfer of lower costs for 
principal materials (energy) for the industry, which operate at a diffe-
rent rhythm from that of the sudden drop in prices, will force many to 
reduce or close expensive operations and avoid an accumulation of 
global inventories, which would lower prices even further. 
 
On the whole, the expectations of Grupo México are not pessimistic. 
The electrical industry is the principal consumer of copper (42% of 
consumption worldwide), which will not significantly reduce expan-

sion, although this will be undertaken at more moderate rhythms 
than those seen in 2008. Another source of encouragement for 
prices is construction (28% of the consumption of copper worldwi-
de), which is a priority area for many governments -infrastructure- 
to restart their economies. To this we add the moderate growth of 
importer economies in the Asian-Pacific, limited access to mining 
equipment, and maturing times for new projects at the global level. 

Although times will doubtlessly be tough and this will last longer 
than initially thought, there are indications that copper consump-
tion may be less affected than other industry branches presenting a 
better outlook for recovery. The production estimates of SCC are also 
promising and there is a sustained contribution from the transporta-
tion division in terms of the total freight transported in the country. 
Therefore, we are predicting positive results for next year. 
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SALES

PRODUCT VOLUME IN TONS THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS

 2007 2008 Var.% 2007 2008 Var.%

Copper  603,530 505,540 (16)  4,225,287  3,263,477 (23)

Zinc  114,200 100,318 (12)  356,510  196,383 (45)

Silver           (Ounces) 18,130,220 14,999,735 (17)  233,028  207,557 (11)

Molybdenum  16,304 16,510 1  1,085,673  798,070 (26)

Gold            (Ounces) 48,290 47,229 (2)  34,392  40,306 17

Lead  20,078 20,229 1  49,867  43,375 (13)

Sulfuric Acid  1,361,917 1,502,000 10  70,350  172,239 145

Other Products      30,565  129,413 323

Cars Loaded    (thousands of units) 719.5 730.2 1  992,575  1,095,185 10

        

Total Sales     $ 7,078,247 $ 5,946,005 (16)

a. 31% Energy

b. 14% Labor

c. 15% Maintenance

d. 12% Others

e. 16% Materials for Operations

f. 16% Fuelsc.

e.

a.

b.

d.

f.

COST STRUCTURE

a. 60% Copper

b. 1% Lead

c. 14% Transportation Service

d. 1% Sulfuric Acid

e. 15% Molybdenum

f. 1% Others

g. 5% Zinc

h. 3% Silver

a. 55% Copper

b. 3% Zinc

c. 1% Lead

d. 18% Transportation Service

e. 1% Gold

f. 3% Silver

g. 3% Sulfuric Acid

h. 14% Molybdenum

i. 2% Others

PARTICIPATION IN SALES BY PRODUCT

2007 2008

PARTICIPATION IN SALES BY REGION

2008

e.

f.
g.

a.

b.
c.

d.

h.

i.

e.
f.

g.

a.

b. c.

d.

h.

2007

a. 37% Mexico

b. 18% Europe

c. 4% Asia

d. 17% Latin America

e. 24% United States

e.

a.

b.

c.

d.

a. 37% Mexico

b. 18% Europe

c. 4% Asia

d. 17% Latin America

e. 24% United States

e.

b.

c.

d.a.

GRUPO MEXICO 200814 - 15 15 



Southern Copper Corporation is 

Grupo México’s mining company. It 

has operations in Mexico and Peru 

and field explorations in Chile, and 

consolidates the results of mining 

operations. In 2008, SCC represents 

82% of the sales of Grupo México. 

The remaining 18% is contributed 

by the Transportation Division.

Copper is one of the key materials for improving the energy performance of any electric device. Its high 
conductivity is one of copper’s most important properties and 60% of all copper produced today is used for 

electrical applications.

 MINING DIVISION
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MINING DIVISION

Southern Copper Corporation (SCC)

Southern Copper Corporation is the mining 
company of Grupo México. The company 
has operations in Mexico and Peru, and field 
explorations in Chile. SCC consolidates the 
results for the mining operations. In 2008, 
SCC represents 82% of the sales of Grupo 
México. The remaining 18% is contributed by 
the Transportation Division.

COPPER
Copper represented 67% of SCC revenues 
in 2008 and was sold on the four major 
markets: US (27%), EU (24%), Mexico (23%), 

and Latin America (18%), which represents a 
well-balanced diversification.

However, average prices for the year are 
lower due to the drastic drop towards the last 
quarter of the year. The average price for 
copper on the London Metals Exchange (LME) 
and the New York Commodity Exchange 
(COMEX) was 313 dollar cents per pound, 
compared to 323 cents during 2007.

Consolidated mining production was 488,929 
tons of copper in 2008, which compared to 

the 592,182 tons produced in 2007 repre-
sents a reduction of 17.4%, due principa-
lly to illegal stoppages at Cananea and 
San Martín in Mexico. The year also saw 
lower grades at the underground mines 
and at Toquepala. Copper sales decreased 
22.76%, from US $4.225 billion in 2007 to 
US $3.264 billion in 2008, as a result of the 
illegal work stoppage in Cananea, Sonora.

SCC smelter and refinery production repor-
ted a significant increase, especially in the 
fourth quarter of 2008, of 29.3% and 26.3% 

respectively, by operating at full capacity plus 
better production at the mines in Peru and 
La Caridad, and purchasing copper concen-
trate from third parties. 

The cost of sales increased 2.8% to US $2.182 
billion. This increase is due to higher costs 
for electricity and energy, steel, and for the 
replacement of equipment and installations.
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COPPER PRICES AND INVENTORY
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REFINED COPPER
(REFINERIES + SX/EWs)
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SX/EWs 

REFINERIES

 172.7 151.0 99.6 94.0 70.2

 592.0 570.6 473.6 351.7 389.0

PRIMARY MINED COPPER
(CONCENTRATES + SX/EWs)
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SX/EWs 

CONCENTRATORS 
  172.7 151.0 99.6 94.0 70.2

 700.7 634.2 506.1 498.2 418.7

PRIMARY MINED COPPER PRODUCTION AND RESERVES 2008

PRODUCTION PROCESSED  COPPER  MINERAL RESERVES

 MINERAL CONTENT

 THOUSANDS OF TONS MILLIONS OF TONS GRADE  YEARS IN 

 MINERAL COPPER CONTENT % OPERATION

Mexico

 Concentrator: 

 La Caridad 31,779 96.9 3,800.1 8.36 0.22 120 

 Cananea  1,271 6.2 6,684.9 2.67 0.04 292

 Underground Mines 2,923 5.4  53.5  0.25  0.47  8 a 16 

  Sub-Total 35,973 108.5  10,538.5 11.28  

 

SX/EWs
 La Caridad 38,053 22.0 1,145.3 1.37 0.12 30 

 Cananea 2,965 9.4 1,773.6 2.31 0.13 30 

  Sub-Total   41,018   31.4   2,918.9 3.68  

Peru

 Concentrator:       

 Cuajone 30,217  196.1  2,446.2  12.72 0.52 81

 Toquepala 21,356  114.1  4,294.0  18.89 0.44 201

 Sub-Total 51,573  310.2  6,740.2  31.61

  

 SX/EWs: *

 Cuajone    19.3  0.09 0.45 

 Toquepala 74,286  38.8 1,304.6  0.78 0.06 18

  Sub-Total 74,286  38.8 1,323.9  0.87  

 Total Concentrator 87,546  418.7 17,278.7 42.89  

 Total SX/EWs 115,304  70.2 4,242.8  4.55  

 TOTAL 202,850  488.9 21,521.5  47.44  

 * Solutions with leached copper from Cuajone are sent to the SX/EW Plant at Toquepala.      
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SMELTER COPPER PRODUCTION 2008

 

   THOUSANDS OF TONS

Mexico 

 La Caridad 171.9 

 S.L.P  18.1 

  Sub-Total 190.0 

 

Peru 

 Ilo  306.6 

  Total 496.6 

REFINERY COPPER PRODUCTION 2008

 

   THOUSANDS OF TONS

Mexico

 La Caridad Ref. 140.3

      SX/EWs 31.4

  Sub-total 171.7

 

Peru

 Ilo Ref. 248.7

 SX/EWs 38.8

  Sub-total 287.5

  Total 459.2

SEMI-MANUFACTURED COPPER PRODUCTION 2008 
 

   THOUSANDS OF TONS

Wire Rod 

Mexico

 La Caridad 76.3

  Total 76.3

MOLYBDENUM

Molybdenum is the principal byproduct of the 
Company and an important component of steel 
alloys and a sulfur catalyst in the oil indus-
try. During the high cycle, molybdenum repor-
ted the highest prices among the metals we 
produce, ranging from US $7 per pound to over 
US $32 per pound. The price of molybdenum 
reached an average of US $28.42 per pound 
in 2008, which represents a decrease of 5% 
compared to the US $29.91 per pound posted 
in 2007. This decrease in the price of molyb-
denum is due to a rapid reduction of demand 
and the general volatility present in the metals 
market. By December 2008, molybdenum was 
selling at US $10 per pound, and its overall 
average for 2009 is likely to be around US $12.

Despite this, consolidated production of molyb-
denum by Southern Copper increased 1.1% to 
16,500 tons in 2008, compared to 16,400 tons 
in 2007, principally due to the high production 
of the La Caridad mine during the last quarter 
of 2008 and a moderate increase at the Peru-
vian mines: Cuajone and Toquepala.

Molybdenum production represented 13% of 
sales in 2008. The total processed mineral 
production was 83,352 tons, with 16,400 tons 
of ore content and 10.5403 billion tons are 
held in reserves.
 

PRIMARY MINED MOLYBDENUM
(THOUSANDS OF TONS)
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MOLYBDENUM MINING PRODUCTION AND RESERVES 2008

  ORE   MOLYBDENUM  ORE RESERVES 

PRODUCTION PROCESSED CONTENT  

  MILLIONS OF  GRADE

 MILES DE TONELADAS TONS %

Mine Units

Mexico

 La Caridad 31,779 7.3 3,800.1 0.029

    

Peru    

 Toquepala 21,356 4.7 4,294.0 0.021

 Cuajone 30,217 4.4 2,446.2 0.019

  Sub-Total 51,573 9.1 6,740.2  

  Total 83,352 16.4 10,540.3

ZINC

Zinc sales in 2008 were reported at US $196.4 million, 45% less than 
2007. Zinc production decreased 11.6% to 106,920 tons in 2008, 
compared to 121,013 tons in 2007. This decrease is largely due to 
the prolonged strike action at Taxco and the labor stoppages in San 
Martín, which have lasted over 18 months. Therefore, production at 
both mines was null. The production of zinc obtained was thanks to 
the mines at Charcas, Santa Bárbara, and Santa Eulalia in San Luis 
Potosí and Chihuahua, respectively.  

PRIMARY MINED ZINC PRODUCTION AND RESERVES 2008

  ORE   ZINC ORE RESERVES

PRODUCTION PROCESSED CONTENT

  MILLIONS  GRADE YEARS IN 

 THOUSANDS OF TONS OF TONS % OPERATION

Mine Units

Mexico

 Charcas 1,168.7  62.3  10.5  5.36  9.0 

 Santa Bárbara 1,460.9  30.0  22.3  3.10  15.3 

 San Martín  0.0  0.0  15.1  2.33  28.0 

 Taxco 0.0  0.0  33.7  6.31  27.0 

 Santa Eulalia 293.0  14.6  1.9 7.89  6.5 

     

  Total 2,922.6  106.9  53.5   
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REFINERY PRODUCTION OF ZINC
 
 

   THOUSANDS OF TONS

Refineries

Mexico

 San Luis Potosí 95.4 

PRIMARY MINED ZINC
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ZINC PRICES AND INVENTORIES
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PRECIOUS METALS Gold sales were over US $40 million 

in 2008, 17.2% higher than 2007, 

while silver sales decreased 10.9% 

to report at US $207.5 million.

GRUPO MEXICO 200828 - 29 29 

Copper technology, currently being used in mid to high range servers, considerably increases performance 
compared to traditional designs with aluminum circuits.



PRECIOUS METALS 

The drop in interest rates and the volatility resulting from a prolon-
ged recession have favorably impacted gold prices, especially as a 
refuge for investors. The average price for gold on the international 
markets in 2008 was US $870.95 per ounce, 24.8% higher than the 
US $697.35 per ounce posted in 2007. The average price for silver in 
2008 was US $14.97 per ounce, an 11.8% increase on the US $13.39 
per ounce posted in 2007.

Gold sales were over US $40 million in 2008, 17.2% higher than 2007, 
while silver sales decreased 10.9% to report at US $207.5 million. The 
increase in gold sales was achieved despite gold production from 
our mines decreasing 33.9%, from 22,600 ounces in 2007 to 14,900 
ounces in 2008.

In the case of silver, production was 19.1% less, at 12.3 million ounces 
in 2008, compared to 15.2 million ounces in 2007. The decrease in 
the production of both metals in 2008 was due to the work stoppages 
the union has maintained since July 2007 at San Martín, Cananea, 
and Taxco.

Underground Mine. Santa Bárbara, Chihuahua. Underground Mine. Santa Eulalia, Chihuahua.
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PRIMARY MINED SILVER
(MILLIONS OF OUNCES)
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GOLD PRICES AND INVENTORIES
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GOLD AND SILVER MINING PRODUCTION AND RESERVES 2008

  CONTENT ORE RESERVES

PRODUCTION OUNCES  

   MILLIONS  GRADE

 GOLD SILVER OF TONS gr/ton

Mine Units    

Mexico    

 At Concentrators:     

 La Caridad 4,373 1,795,651 3,800.1  3.1

 Cananea 707 80,538 6,684.9  3.1

 Underground Mines 2,789 6,365,975 53.5  108.0

  Sub-total 7,869 8,242,164 10,538.5  

Peru    

 Toquepala 2,032 1,590,979 4,294.0 4.9

 Cuajone 5,047 2,482,487 2,446.2 5.0

  Sub-total 7,079 4,073,466 6,740.2 

  Total 14,948 12,315,630 17,278.7 

Underground mine. Santa Eulalia, Chihuahua. Copper cathode sheets.  

SMELTER PRODUCTION OF SILVER AND GOLD 2008

  

 OUNCES

   GOLD SILVER

San Luis Potosí 40,381  6,894,019

Caridad   28,380  5,680,875

Ilo   6,731  3,983,637

  Total 75,492  16,558,531

SMELTER PRODUCTION OF SILVER AND GOLD 2008

 OUNCES 

   GOLD SILVER

Refineries  

 La Caridad 21,406  4,386,609

 Ilo  4,916  2,970,612

  Total 26,322  7,357,221

Metallurgic Complex.  La Caridad, Sonora. SX/EW Plant. Sonora.
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LEAD MINING PRODUCTION 2008

 

   CONTENT

   THOUSANDS OF TONS

Mine Units

Mexico

 Charcas 4.4 

 Santa Bárbara 10.5 

 Santa Eulalia  5.5 

  Total 20.4 

LEAD

Lead has continued to be in strong demand on the international 
markets, due to its low price during 2008, which averaged at 94.83 
dollar cents per pound, 18.9% lower than the 117.03 dollar cents per 
pound posted in 2007. Therefore sales at US $43.375 billion reflect a 
decrease of 13.02% on the US $49.867 billion sold in 2007. 

PRIMARY MINED LEAD
(THOUSANDS OF TONS)
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Conveyor belt for material. Underground Mine. Charcas, San Luis Potosí.

LEAD PRICES AND INVENTORIES 
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EXPLORATIONS Grupo México invested over US 

$730 million in 2008. This inves-

tment is 14.6% higher as compa-

red to the US $637. 2 mil l ion 

invested in 2007. These resources 

were invested in the expansion 

and modernization of the mining 

units and in exploration of future 

prospects.

When alloyed with other metals, copper can acquire additional, invaluable, characteristics, such as hardness, stress 
resistance, and even greater resistance to corrosion.
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INVESTMENTS (CAPEX) AND EXPLORATION

Grupo México invested over US $730 million in 2008. This inves-
tment is 14.6% higher as compared to the US $637.2 million 
invested in 2007. These resources were invested in the expansion 
and modernization of the mining units and in exploration of future 
prospects. SCC invested US $517 million in 2008 in these expansions 
and modernizations and US $31.8 million in exploration programs, 
figure that is comparable to 2007. The transportation division inves-
ted US $176 million.

INVESTMENTS

Mexico
Over US $200 million was invested in Mexicana de Cobre (MEXCO-
BRE) and the mines and industrial facilities of Industrial Minera 
México (IMMSA), in expansions, emissions controls and gas recovery, 
and improvements to the different stages of the concentrators and, 
also, in feasibility studies for new projects. These works are expected 
to be completed in 2009 and others that will improve and modernize 
both the mine-concentrator and the smelter and refinery.

The large projects at Cananea, El Arco, and Angangeo have been 
postponed due to market conditions and legal and labor uncertain-
ties at Cananea. However, feasibility studies were continued in 2008 
at El Arco and negotiations are ongoing regarding the viability of the 
project at Angangeo. 

Peru
Over US $245 million was invested in Peru in expansions, new 
dams, replacing crushers, new mills, and filters, and in the acid 
plant expansion at Ilo. Over US $100 million was invested in the 
Tía María project, in feasibility studies and infrastructure projects. 
The latter project has been suspended due to current market 
conditions and uncertainty in the medium term. Similarly, the Los 
Chancas project has also been suspended due to the weak condi-
tions of the copper markets.

 Year ended Dec 31

  2008 2007

(Millions of US$)  

Projects     

Modernization of the smelter at Ilo (including sea terminal) 6.6  21.0 

Tía Maria - Arequipa -Peru 118.0  - 

Ball mill - Cuajone  1.4  10.0 

Crushing and conveyor belt system for leachable 

 material - Toquepala 0.1  2.0 

Expansion of the concentrator at Toquepala 37.7  - 

Expansion of the concentrator at Cuajone 18.2  - 

Disposal of tailings - dam at Quebrada Honda 21.7  13.8 

Leaching pit - Cuajone -  1.4 

PLS dam - Huanaquera 0.3  10.5 

Pilares mine 20.0  - 

Disposal of tailings at La Caridad - internal dikes 2.1  2.1 

Metallurgic laboratory - La Caridad 1.5  1.8 

Gas transportation system - La Caridad 11.3  12.2 

Byproduct treatment plant - La Caridad 6.9  - 

Vertical lime furnace - La Caridad 7.1  2.0 

PLS dam and leaching system - Cananea -  4.1 

SX/EW III Plant - Cananea -  0.2 

Crushing and conveyor belt system for leachable material, 

 phases II and III - Cananea 13.6  21.5 

High efficiency crushing system - La Caridad   2.8  - 

Expansion of the tailings dam - La Caridad Concentrator -  1.9 

Feasibility study, land to sea - El Arco 3.9  - 

Santa Bárbara Segovedad II mine expansion, conveyor belts 

 and principal substation 6.5  3.7 

Total expenses for projects 279.7  108.2 

Capital expenses for replacements:    

Mexico 138.4  139.0 

Peru 98.5  68.5 

Total capital expenses for replacements 236.9  207.5 

Explorations 37.0  40.2 

Total capital expenditures 553.6  355.9 
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SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
IN 2008

Four of our units (Douglas-Naco-

zari Gas Pipeline, Guaymas Sea 

Terminal, Precious Metals Plant, 

and Wire Rod Plant) obtained 

Clean Industry Certification and 

10 more are in the process of 

obtaining their certification.

Copper wire has been the preferred conductor for a long time for most cables used to supply power and in 
telecommunications.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ACTIONS

OPERATIONS IN MEXICO 

Vertical Furnace Project, Lime Plant, Agua Prieta, Sonora
This project, representing an investment of US $18 million, will comply 
with the strictest environmental regulations, increase the production 
capacity of live lime, and make the use of fuel more efficient, all of 
which will even further benefit the atmospheric basin Mexico and the 
US share in this region, and given this mutual interest, the Presidents 
of both countries signed the La Paz Accord years ago, the purpose 
of which is to maintain and improve the quality of the environment 
along the border. The Lime Plant has been using natural gas as fuel 
since 1999, replacing the fuel oils it had been using previous.

Dust and Emissions Plant Project at “La Caridad”, Sonora
Representing an investment of US $16 million, this facility will be used 
to give value added to the values contained in the dust and emissions 
generated by the metallurgic complex at La Caridad and may also 
be used to take advantage of the dust from zinc and lead concentra-
tes generated by the IMMSA zinc refinery in San Luis Potosí, which 
will reinforce the proper handling by both plants of these byproducts 
with hazardous material contents.

Clean Industry Certification Program
In Mexico, the Sistema Integral de Gestión Ambiental (SIGA) (Inte-
gral Environmental Management System) continued to be implemen-
ted and we have begun to unify this with our quality assurance and 
safety systems. Four of our units obtained Clean Industry Certifica-
tion (Douglas-Nacozari Gas Pipeline, Guaymas Sea Terminal, Precious 
Metals Plant, and Wire Rod Plant) and 10 more are in the process of 
obtaining their certification. This voluntary certification program is 
endorsed and recognized by the signing countries of the Free Trade 
Agreement (Mexico, the US, and Canada).

OPERATIONS IN PERU

Sea Terminal, Ilo Smelter
A feasibility of closing plan was presented in 2008 for the Sea 
Terminal at the Ilo Smelter for the transportation of sulfuric acid, 
as part of the legal requirement to present this plan 1 year after 
obtaining the Environmental Impact Evaluation (EIA) correspon-
ding. The sea terminal is currently under construction.

Ilo Refinery Certifications
The Ilo refinery obtained Sistema Integrado de Gestión (SIG) (Inte-
gral Management System) certification, which includes ISO14000, 
ISO9000, and OSHA18000 certifications.

Principal environmental activities
Construction of and improvements to wastewater treatment plants 
continued in 2008, as well as the construction and development of 
water recovery systems, dusts and emissions controls, waste mana-
gement, soil remediation, habitat recovery, reforestation activities, 
and environmental education programs, among other projects.

TOTAL INVESTMENT IN ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECTS IN 
MEXICO AND PERU: US $53.1 MILLION
 

GRUPO MEXICO 200844 - 45 45 



Opening of Community Centers

The Community Centers at the Mine Units of 
Santa Eulalia, Santa Bárbara, Chihuahua, and 
the Plant at Nueva Rosita, Coahuila started 
operations in 2008. 

Six months after opening, the Community 
Center at Nueva Rosita receives more than 
700 people, thanks to the joint efforts in 
human and material resources from over 30 
federal, state, and municipal institutions, and 
also charity organizations, whose participation 
allows programs to be carried out in environ-
mental culture, health education, open school 
education, sports, recreational, and cultu-
ral programs, and also programs to develop 
human capital and encourage the creation of 
small businesses, among others.

The Community Center offers over 35 acti-
vities, trainings, and workshops, including: 
physical fitness, cultural development, carpen-

try, dressmaking, baking, jewelry making, 
pastry making, computer studies, English 
classes, and health fairs on preventive medi-
cine, which promote a culture of self-care in 
terms of health.

Grupo Encuentro

Because of the prolonged strike at Mexica-
na de Cananea and its severe consequences 
for both local residents and the company, 
the Company decided to start an initiati-
ve to connect with the community, through 
a group of consultants (Grupo Encuentro) 
who, using creative and original schemes of 
community participation and interaction with 
local groups, contributed to renewing rela-
tions with the company and its commitment 
to the residents of Cananea The project 
lasted 100 days, during which time a diag-
nostic was performed on participation, 

Fire brigade. Caridad, Sonora. First aid brigade. Caridad, Sonora. 

COMMUNITY RESPONSIBILITY

leaders were identified, who helped each 
of the projects carried out to be successful, 
needs were detected, and also self-managing 
social projects.

There were 18 workshops held for different 
types of public, 2 camps for youths, 8 in 
depth interviews, 5 focus groups, 122 informal 
interviews, 7 excursions, and the “Arbol de los 
compromisos” (Promise Tree), where parti-
cipating children put into practice the values 
and skills necessary to face the socio-econo-
mic reality of their area and made personal 
promises to their community. 

Noteworthy among the achievements of this 
project are the experiences gained from the 
workshops and activities held, which benefi-
ted various sectors of the population, inclu-
ding: parents, school children, young adults, 
merchants, teachers, religious groups, and 
other members of society.

Production Projects

To encourage the reactivation of employment 
in Nueva Rosita, Coahuila, Grupo México, in 
collaboration with the Coahuila Department 
of the Economy, provided the training neces-
sary for the creation of sources of self-
employment in the area, known as Produc-
tion Projects. Twenty-two people from the 
communities of Rosita, Palau, and Sabinas 
participated. Through the Fondo Nacional de 
Apoyo a Empresas de Solidaridad (FONAES) 
(National Support Fund for Solidarity Busi-
nesses), 3 checks were given out to start this 
ambitious project.

The production projects currently in opera-
tion are a carpentry shop, an internet cafe, 
and a convenience store. It is expected that 
the projects presented will be accepted in 
2009 and be able to start operations shortly.

Production of trees to donate at the nursery in San Luis Potosí. Experiential workshops. Grupo Encuentro. Cananea, Sonora.
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OPERATIONS IN PERU

Southern Copper promotes the sustainable 
development of the communities located 
within its sphere of influence, through the 
Asociación Civil Ayuda del Cobre (Copper 
Assistance Organization) (www.ayudadel-
cobre.org), which disburses and invests 
funds from voluntary contributions in social 
projects for sustainable development. The 
mining company created a local fund of 
US $3,664,490.94 in 2008, and a regional 
fund of US $14,657,963.74, to benefit the 
regions of Tacna and Moquegua.

Southern Copper developed the following 
programs and projects in Peru in 2008:

The most noteworthy achievement, without 
doubt, is the completion of the construction 
and improvement works at Partidor Marisol, 
a hydraulics project of great importance that 
will benefit the regions of Cairani, Candarave, 
Huanuara, and Quilahuani, in the province of 
Candarave, and created low risk infrastructu-

Water reservoir at Yucanami. Candarave, Peru. Crops in Candarave, Peru.

re jobs, with the collaboration of the Canda-
rave Regional Committees, and also the cons-
truction of the Tacalaya – Camilaca canal. 

Southern Copper and the Universidad Nacio-
nal de Ingeniería (UNI) (National Enginee-
ring University) signed an agreement for 
a Feasibility Study to be conducted on the 
Callazas Dam, essential for the agricultural 
and livestock industry development in the 
Tacna region. Also, the Geotechnical Study 
for the Cularjahuira Dike was completed, 
which benefits approximately 1,896 resi-
dents in the Candarave districts of Camilaca 
and Candarave. 

A Weed Control Program was implemented in 
the Candarave districts of Cairani, Huanua-
ra, and Quilahuani, which created a control 
network throughout the 120 kilometers of 
canals. The Biological Control Campaign 
with the Valle de Tambo Users Board was 
also completed, to contribute to eradicating 

the plague of barreno. Disease was also controlled in the oregano 
crops, the highest quality product in the area. The use of island 
guano (natural fertilizer from guano birds) was promoted among 
oregano producer associations in the province, who will also benefit 
from an organic certification project. New crops were promoted in 
Candarave, such as thyme -shrub used as both an herb and in the 
pharmaceutical industry-, canola and cereals as alternative products 
for export. 
 

The “Southern formando comunidades saludables” (PRONUT) 
(Southern forming healthy communities) Nutrition Program was 
successfully started, through fieldwork in communities in the 
Tacna region. The Proyecto de Mejoramiento Genético de Alpacas 
(Genetic Improvement of Alpacas Project) continues in the commu-
nity of Huaytire, Candarave province, through modern techniques 
of selection, care, and genetic crossbreeding, construction of 
infrastructure and the industrialization of products using alpaca 
fiber. In terms of education, refurbishment and construction was 
completed on 56 schools and 27 health centers.  
 
TOTAL INVESTMENT IN COMMUNITY RESPONSIBILITY 
ACTIONS IN MEXICO AND PERU: US $26.4 MILLION 

Oregano plants in Candarave, Peru. Oregano plants in Candarave, Peru.
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GEOGRAPHICAL MINING LOCATION
MINAS:

CUAJONE
 Copper, Silver, Molybdenum , and Goldo

TOQUEPALA
 Copper, Silver, Molybdenum, and Gold

SMELTERS, REFINERIES, & OTHER PLANTS:

ILO 
Copper Smelter
Sulfuric Acid Plant
Copper Electrolyte Refinery 
Precious Metals Plant

TOQUEPALA
Copper SX/EW Plant

PRINCIPAL EXPLORATION & DEVELOPMENT 
PROJECTS:

Los Chancas, Peru: Copper
Tantahuatay, Peru (joint venture):
     Gold and Copper
Tía María, Peru: Copper
Catanave, Chile: Copper
Sierra Áspera, Chile: Copper and Gold
El Salado, Chile: Copper and Gold
Esperanza, Chile: Copper

SMELTERS, REFINERIES, & OTHER PLANTS:

MEXICANA DE COBRE
La Caridad, Sonora
     Copper Smelter
     Copper Electrolyte Refinery 
     Copper SX/EW Plant
     Sulfuric Acid Plant
     Wire Rod Plant
     Precious Metals Plant
Agua Prieta, Sonora
     Lime Plant

MEXICANA DE CANANEA
Cananea, Sonora
     Copper SX/EW Plants

INDUSTRIAL MINERA MÉXICO
San Luis Potosí, San Luis Potosí
     Copper Smelter
     Sulfuric Acid Plant
     Zinc Electrolyte Refinery 
Nueva Rosita, Coahuila
     Coke Plant 

PRINCIPAL EXPLORATION & DEVELOPMENT 
PROJECTS:

El Arco, B.C.: Copper and Gold
Angangueo, Mich.: Oro, Silver, Lead, and Zinc
Buenavista, Sonora: Silver, Copper, and Zinc

Minera México SPcc

 MINES:

                                  
MEXICANA DE COBRE         
La Caridad, Sonora
     Copper, Molybdenum, Gold, and Silver 

MEXICANA DE CANANEA
Cananea, Sonora
     Copper, Gold, and Silver 

INDUSTRIAL MINERA MÉXICO 
Charcas, San Luis Potosí
     Silver, Copper, Lead, and Zinc
San Martín, Zacatecas
     Silver, Lead, Zinc, and Copper
Santa Eulalia, Chihuahua
     Silver, Lead, and Zinc
Santa Bárbara, Chihuahua
     Gold, Silver, Copper, Lead, and Zinc
Taxco, Guerrero
     Gold, Silver, Lead, and Zinc
Nueva Rosita, Coahuila
     Coal
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Tons 2008 2007 2006 2005 ** 2004

Copper concentrates   1,643,178 1,918,281 1,884,549 2,348,120 2,618,992

Copper content in concentrates   418,726  498,207   506,085   634,211   700,724 

Copper content SX/EWs  (Cathodic)   70,203  93,975   99,575   150,985   172,726 

Total Mined Copper Content   488,929  592,182   605,660   785,196   873,450 

     

Smelter copper content   496,595   464,110   588,330   674,565   693,522 

Copper from Refineries   389,070   351,740   473,656   570,597   591,959 

Refined Copper                   (Refineries + SX/EWs) 459,273   445,715   573,231   721,582   764,685 

     

Refined copper converted into Wire Rod  76,283   96,607   96,580   203,398   258,793 

Refined copper converted into Cake  - - - 18,840 57,718 

     

Zinc concentrates   194,035   222,762   252,143   264,314   244,141 

Zinc content in concentrates   106,920   121,013   136,592   143,609   133,778 

Zinc from Refineries   95,420   90,766   45,279   101,523   102,556 

     

Lead concentrates   38,312   39,130   38,896   38,543   37,544 

Lead content in concentrates   20,445   19,382   19,081   19,545   18,842 

     

Gold content in concentrates   (ounces)  14,948   22,602   27,680   32,444   33,726 

Gold from Refineries  (ounces)  26,323   26,995   31,590   40,940   40,714 

     

Silver content in concentrates  (ounces)  12,315,630   15,228,905   16,171,597   19,032,917   19,420,590 

Silver from Refineries  (ounces)  7,357,221   6,196,670   8,041,927   10,145,584   11,020,437 

     

Molybdenum content in concentrates  16,390   16,208   11,837   14,803   14,373 

     

Coal   296,814   97,446   215,302   664,102  367,635 

Choke   70,317   63,455   55,728   44,406  46,235 

Sulfuric Acid   1,698,905   1,610,717   1,145,463   1,550,473  1,660,167 

Cadmium   647   634   408   706  697 

Trioxide Arsenic   -   653   1,595   1,664  1,830 

Lime   86,379   102,754   71,482   121,356  115,977 

     

   

* Figures in metric tons, except where indicated.     

** Includes ASARCO production to August 9, 2005.     

     

MINING PRODUCTION SUMMARY* 

Distribution 2008

Underground mine. Santa Eulalia, Chihuahua.
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TRANSPORTATION 
DIVISION

Ferromex generated revenues of 

US $1.082 billion in 2008, 9.5% 

higher than sales for 2007, with an 

average distance traveled of 833.5 

kilometers, resulting in a net total 

of 40.186 billion ton-kilometers, 

0.7% less than in 2007.

The unique combination of strength, ductility, stress resistance, and resistance to corrosion make copper the safest 
and preferred conductor for electrical wiring in buildings.
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Grupo Ferroviario Mexicano-Ferrocarril Mexicano (GFM-Ferromex)
Ferromex began operations in 1998 and is currently the largest rail-
road operator in Mexico, both in terms of coverage and fleet size. 
Ferromex operates the railroad network with the greatest coverage 
in Mexico (8,110.5 km of track), which covers approximately 71% of 
the geographical area of the country, and almost 80% of Mexico’s 
industrial and commercial areas. This coverage includes the princi-
pal agricultural centers and the three most important urban centers 
in Mexico (Mexico City, Monterrey, and Guadalajara). Ferromex has 
the largest railroad fleet in the country with 582 locomotives and 
12,418 cars.

Ferromex has 5 options for border crossing and communication with 
6 important ports: 4 on the Pacific and 2 more on the Gulf of Mexico, 
which are essential to the Mexican infrastructure and result in attrac-
tive offerings for importer and exporter customers.

Ferromex generated revenues of US $1.082 billion in 2008, 9.5% 
higher than sales for 2007, with an average distance traveled of 
833.5 kilometers, resulting in a net total of 40.186 billion ton-kilome-
ters, 0.7% less than in 2007.

During 2008, US $174.4 million was invested for a cumulative inves-
tment of US $1.5101 billion over the period from 1998 to 2008. These 
investments were 37.2% less than those made in 2007, as no new 
locomotives were purchased in 2008. Investments were principa-
lly made in the conditioning and changing of some tracks, and also 
for the purchase of track machinery, which has permitted increased 
train speed, improved operating safety, and generated savings in 
diesel consumption.

The cumulative EBITDA as of December 31, 2008 was US $350.2 
million, 8.4% higher than that for 2007, which represents a margin of 
32.4% on sales. Net earnings decreased 5% from US $169.2 million 
in 2007 to US $160.7 million in 2008.

TRANSPORTATION DIVISION

Infraestructura y Transportes México (ITM)

OPERATIONS

National and International Freight Service
Ferromex provides national and international freight services through 
unit, direct, and intermodal trains. These services may consist of inter-
changes received, interchanges originated, pass through, or local traffic. 
Ferromex owns approximately 29.8% of the cars it operates and the 
remaining cars are owned by private railroad companies, local and foreign 
(principally from the United States and, to a lesser extent, from Canada).   

Financial Information by Business Line, Geographic Region, and 
Export Sales
During 2008, 86% of Ferromex revenues were generated from the 
following business sectors: agricultural, minerals, industrial products, 
cement, chemicals and fertilizers, intermodal, oil and oil products, 
metals, and automotive.

The other services include diesel surcharge 8%, revenues from car 
hire 3%, revenues from passenger service 1%, and other miscella-
neous services 2%. The diverse nature of the business base offers 
Ferromex a certain degree of stability in terms of the seasonal nature 
of some sectors, such as the agricultural sector, which is compensa-
ted by continual flows from other sectors, such as the cement, mine-
rals, and chemical products sectors.   

The cost of sales increased 10%, from US $634 million to US $700 
million. This increase is due mainly to the rise in costs for the prin-
cipal materials used in our operations: diesel for our locomotives, 
electricity, operating material such as steel, replacement parts, and 
preventive maintenance in order to guarantee the proper and conti-
nued operation of equipment.

Since it began operations, Ferromex has implemented new opera-
ting practices and made significant investments of capital in order to 
reduce costs in the long term and improve operating efficiency.
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The operating profit increased 7% to reach US $253 million, while 
the EBITDA operating cash flow was US $350 million, 8% higher 
than that obtained in 2007, placing the EBITDA margin at 32.4% 
for 2008.

The net majority earnings for the year decreased 5% for a total of US 
$161 million.  

Operating Cost 
The operating cost, including labor, materials, indirect expenses, 
and car hire, increased 10.4%, to US $699.6 million in 2008 from 
US $633.7 million in 2007. Labor costs increased 10.2% in 2008, 
due to salary raises and increased operating personnel.

The price of diesel increased 7.5%, which, combined with the higher 
consumption of liters, represented an increase of US $6.8 million.

Debt
Ferromex amortized Debt Securities for $1.200 billion pesos 
in December 2008 using company resources. The debt of GFM – 
Ferromex maturing 2009 – 2013 is low, at levels of $500 million 
pesos annually.

Intermodal operation, Mexico. Railroad yard.

  (Millions US$)

GFM - Ferromex 2008 2007

 Investment in Fixed Assets    

Track 83.3 86.2 

Yards & Terminals 5.4  10.4 

Bridges, Tunnels, and Drains 7.3  4.1 

Engine Units 15.2  118.7 

Telecommunications Equipment 13.2  4.3 

Automotive Equipment 3.6  5.2 

Rolling Stock 22.9  9.5 

Lands 9.2  0.1 

Investment Projects 8.7  23.4 

Track Machinery 1.7  7.1 

Others 3.9  9.9 

Total Fixed Assets 174.4  278.9 

 

a. 30% Agricultural

b. 10% Industrial

c. 10% Diesel surcharges and others

d. 9% Minerals

e. 8% Automotive

f. 7% Chemicals

g. 6% Cement

h. 6% Steel products

i. 5% Intermodal

j. 5% Energy

k. 3% Car Hire

l. 1% Passengers

e.

a.

b.

c.d.

l.k.
j.

i.

h.

g.

f.

REPRESENTATION OF SALES BY SEGMENT
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FERROSUR

Ferrosur sales were US $249.3 million in 2008, 1.9% higher than 
the US $244.6 million in 2007. The EBITDA was US $64.4 million for 
2008, compared to US $68.9 million for 2007. The net earnings were 
US $25.4 million in 2008, 9.4% higher than that reached in 2007. 
Ferrosur’s debt as of December 31, 2008 was US $144 million, which, 
on considering a cash and Banks balance of US $59.9 million, results in 
a net debt of US $84.1 million. US $25.4 million was invested in capital 
projects in 2008, for a cumulative of US $130.6 million invested during 
the period 2006 - 2008.

The financial information for Ferrosur is presented under the parti-
cipation method therefore it is not consolidated with Grupo México, 
however, if Ferrosur were to consolidate with Grupo México, sales 
for the transportation division would total US $1.3394 billion and the 
EBITDA would reach US $416.6 million.

The volume transported in 2008 increased 0.4%, moving 6.693 
billion net ton-kilometers, compared to 6.664 billion net ton-kilome-
ters in 2007.

Intermodal México
Sales for the period January to December 2008 reached $252 
million pesos, 6% higher than the previous year, reporting earnings 
of $30 million pesos, 13% higher than 2007, continuing its growth 
trend since starting operations in 2001.

Intermodal México has placed itself as one of the logistics compa-
nies with the greatest presence nationally, operating in 40 cities in 12 
states within Mexico, where the company provides terminal services 
and also loading and unloading services for goods and truck trans-
port, representing a significant support for customers that do not 
have access to the railroad.

 

IMEX is certified under ISO 9001:2000, which allows the company 
to offer high standards of quality and to be consistent in its services 
and collection and delivery times for goods. 

IMEX started a pilot project in 2008 for the fiscal consolidation and 
deconsolidation of containers arriving at the Pantaco terminal in 
Mexico City.

IMEX has made significant investments in information systems for 
real time consults, which gives the company a competitive advantage 
in the market.

Texas Pacífico Transportation LTD
Part of Grupo Ferroviario Mexicano (GFM), the TXPF railroad is a 
line (616 km) that operates under concession in the State of Texas, 
connecting the border at Ojinaga, Chih. - Presidio, Tx., with the area 
of Fort Worth - Dallas, in conjunction with the FWWR (232 km).

This railroad has a direct connection with Ferromex in Mexico and 
with the Union Pacific, BNSF, and FWWR railroad in the United States, 
which makes it a key step on a route with great strategic value, with 
access to the northeast United States; northeast Mexico, and to the 
Pacific basin, through the Chihuahua–Pacífico railroad.

Investments have been made, in conjunction with the State of Texas, 
to carry out important refurbishment projects, to make the operation 
of the line more efficient, which will adequately satisfy the potentially 
high demand for service in this region.

GRUPO MEXICO 200860 - 61 61 



GRUPO MÉXICO RAILROAD LINES
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Ferromex is a company that has over 7,000 employees, whose acti-
vities take the company to various communities and important cities 
in Mexico. This is why Ferromex has taken on the task of focusing its 
services on promoting sustainable community development and the 
development of its personnel; the obligation of a socially responsible 
company. We have achieved this internally through ongoing training 
programs, workplace safety and hygiene campaigns, and also with 
assistance for the education and health of our employee’s families; 
and externally by improving the environment through the implemen-
tation of processes and the purchase of modern and efficient equip-
ment, planting and distributing trees, community supports, subsidized 
public transportation, and public works projects. Ferromex promotes 
and supports sustainable development in Mexico, with solid results and 
actions (cumulative investments since the start of operations, except 
in point 4): 

1. Investment of US $8.4 million to meet compliance with 1,281 
environmental commitments, undertaken with the Procuradu-
ría Federal de Protección al Medio Ambiente (PROFEPA) (Federal 
Environmental Protection Agency)..

2. Investment of approximately US $1.4 million in equipment for 9 
locomotive shops, with primary and secondary treatment units, or 
decanters to separate water from oil, in Mazatlán, Nogales, Guada-
lajara, Irapuato, Torreón, and Sufragio; receiving Clean Industry 
Certification from the PROFEPA in 2008 for the locomotive shop in 
the City of Guadalajara, Jalisco and the car shop in Guadalajara and 
the new fuel zone in Torreón, Coahuila are in the process of being 
certified and are expected to receive their certification in 2009. 

FERROMEX: 

The Environment and Sustainable Development

3. Investment of more than US $0.4 million in reforestation; planting 
approximately 41,500 different species of plants throughout the 
system and installations.

 
4. Investment of US $258.2 million between 2006 and 2007 for the 

purchase of 115 General Electric (GE) and Electro Motive Division 
(EMD) locomotives, which comply with the environmental regula-
tions of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), contributing 
to clean and efficient transportation to improve the quality of life 
in the country.

 
5. Investment of US $0.9 million for the purchase of 103 Smart Start 

units, for the automatic activation and shutdown of locomotives, 
reducing the release of contaminants into the environment.

 
6. Investment of approximately US $1.0 million for the purchase of 

more than 1,000 energy saving lighting units.
 
7. Transportation of more than 150,000 people annually through the 

Economy Class passenger service operated on the Q line; suppor-
ting isolated communities in the Chihuahua Sierra. 

8. Investment of US $37,100 in community social assistance programs 
in the Chihuahua Sierra. 

9. Investment of over $70.0 million pesos in the construction of 
public works projects to benefit the residents of Celaya, Irapuato, 
Torreón, Nogales, and Altamira.
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INFRASTRUCTURE DIVISION 
   
México Constructora Industrial

Grupo México began its operations conduc-
ting construction activities, through México 
Compañía Constructora (“MCI”), branch 
that has remained active since 1942. Around 
1960 the company started its activities in 
the mining industry, developing projects with 
Mexicana de Cobre (“La Caridad” Metallurgic 
Mining Complex) in Nacozari, Sonora, and also 
with Mexicana de Cananea. With the acqui-
sition of Ferrocarril Mexicano 10 years ago, 
the company has participated in various rail-
road projects. In 1984, Grupo México formed 
the company México Constructora Industrial 
to support the large works projects that were 
necessary due to the growth of Grupo México.

Over the years, MCI has participated in public 
and private infrastructure projects, the cons-
truction of hydroelectric dams, and also 
warehousing, canals, and irrigation zones, 
highways, thermoelectric plants, railroad 
projects, mine projects, manufacturing plants, 
petrochemical plants, and residential projects, 
which shows the capacity of the company in 
different branches of construction.

Currently, MCI has incorporated all the struc-
ture and resources of México Compañía Cons-
tructora, and also its engineering and cons-
truction personnel, permitting the company 
to take advantage of all the talent and expe-

Open pit mine. Electric shovel. Zinc electrolyte plant. San Luis Potosí. 

rience gained over more than six decades of 
participating in the most important infras-
tructure works projects in the country. 

Revenues from MCS services reached $23.4 
million in 2008. At the end of the year, MCI 
was awarded a tender by the CFE worth 
$569.4 million pesos for the construction of 
two deviation tunnels on the Grijalva River, 
which will help prevent natural disasters in 
the region. The works project was started 
January 5, 2009 and is expected to be 
completed July 14, 2010.  

With this project, MCI, which has over 60 years 
experience, is again providing construction 
services to third parties, utilizing the vast 
experience of its engineering and construc-
tion personnel who have participated in 
projects of this nature within Grupo México 
for many years.

This Division has the technical capacity 
and the experience to participate in future 
tenders given the strong growth that Mexico 
and Latin America will see in large infrastruc-
ture projects.

Tía María. Future crushing site, Peru. Tía María, Peru.
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EXPERIENCE IN LARGE SCALE PROJECTS

THERMOELECTRIC PLANTS

Electromechanical mounting for U1 and U2 at the C.T. Tuxpan in 

Veracruz.

Electromechanical mounting for the steam generator for U4 at 

C.C. José López Portillo in Río Escondido, Coahuila.

Accesses for C.T. Lázaro Cárdenas in Petacalco, Guerrero.

Civil works for the C.T. in Poza Rica, Veracruz.

HYDROELECTRIC PROJECTS

H.P. Manuel Moreno Torres 1st and 2nd stage (Chicoasén), 

Chiapas.

H.P. Valentín Gómez Farías (Agua Prieta), Jalisco.

H.P. Angel Albino Corzo (Peñitas), Chiapas.

H.P. Carlos Ramírez Ulloa (El Caracol), Guerrero

H.P. Bacurato, Sinaloa.

H.P. Belisario Domínguez (La Angostura), Chiapas.

H.P. José Cecilio del Valle (El Retiro), Chiapas

H.P. Camilo Arriaga (El Salto), San Luis Potosí.

 

STORAGE AND DERIVATIVES DAMS

Endo Dam in Hidalgo.

Excame Dam in Zacatecas.

Alfayucan Dam in Hidalgo.

Cárdenas Dam in San Luis Potosí.

Las Trojes Dam in Colima.

La Purísima Dam in Guanajuato.

El Sabinal Dam in Sinaloa.

El Gallo Dam in Guerrero.

Las Adjuntas Dam in Tamaulipas.

RAILROAD WORKS

Locomotive shop in Guadalajara, Jalisco (key-in-hand project).

Railroad access and intermodal terminal in Silao, Guanajuato.

Railroad access and intermodal yard at the Dynatech Industrial 

Park in Hermosillo, Sonora.

Railroad access and intermodal terminal in Monterrey, Nuevo 

León.

Railroad access and automotive terminal in Guadalajara, Jalisco.

Railroad access and new yard in San Francisco de los Romo, Aguas-

calientes.

Railroad access and designated terminal in Guadalajara, Jalisco.

Track rehabilitation works for the following track sections:

- Nogales-El Tajo, Sonora 

- Compostela-Manzanillo, Colima.

- León-Aguascalientes.

- Rafael S. Martínez-Pimienta, Zacatecas.

- Huichapan-Rayón, Hidalgo.

- Bojay-Carrasco, Guanajuato.

Construction of the Palmillas tunnel for the Mexico City-Queréta-

ro railroad.

Railroad-Shipping Terminal, Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz.
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MINING-METALLURGIC INDUSTRY

Copper smelter in Nacozari, Sonora.

Copper electrolyte refinery in Nacozari, Sonora.

Copper wire rod plant in Nacozari, Sonora.

Rod plant in Nacozari, Sonora.

SX/EW Plant in Nacozari, Sonora.

Oxygen plant in Nacozari, Sonora.

Sulfuric acid plant 1 and 2 in Nacozari, Sonora.

Neutralization plant in Nacozari, Sonora.

Zinc electrolyte refinery in San Luis Potosí.

Expansion of the copper concentrator plant in Cananea, Sonora to 

72,000 tons per day.

Installation of the leaching process transporter system in Cananea, 

Sonora.

Mining exploration and development at the following units:

- San Martín, Zacatecas.

- Mexicana de Cobre, Nacozari, Sonora

- Charcas, San Luis Potosí.

- Santa Bárbara, Chihuahua.

-  Bolaños, Jalisco.

Angangueo, Michoacán.

Diamond drilling for exploration at various mining operations in 

the country.

 

OIL AND PETROCHEMICALS

Gas sweetening plant in Ciudad Pemex, Tabasco.

Combined 135,000 bls/day plant in Cadereyta, Nuevo León.

Moving of earth for the Huimanguillo Petrochemical Complex in 

Tabasco.

Manufacturing and supply of pipe for the town of Dos Bocas, Tabasco.

 

CANALS AND IRRIGATION ZONES

Main canal in Bamoa, Sinaloa.

Central feed canal, Irrigation District No. 14 in Baja California and 

Sonora.

Irrigation zone in Río Soto la Marina, Tamaulipas.

New canal for the Río Bravo in Chamizal, Chihuahua.

Dendho canal in Sinaloa.

Main canal and side canals in San Lorenzo, Sinaloa.

Endo canal in the irrigation district of Tula, Estado de México.

Main canal in the irrigation zone of Valle Guamuchil, Sinaloa.

El Tunal irrigation system in Durango.

Valle del Fuerte irrigation system in Guasave, Sinaloa.

MANUFACTURING INDUSTRY

Plant for Coca-Cola in Toluca, Estado de México.

Nobla Pharmaceutical plant in Ramos Arizpe, Coahuila.

Accesses for the new Ford stamping and assembly plant in 

Hermosillo, Son.
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FUNDACIÓN GRUPO MÉXICO  
 

Since their creation, over 50 years ago, the companies that comprise 
Grupo México have shown particular interest in the preservation of 
the environment and in the social and economic development of the 
communities near our centers of operation. In the majority of cases, 
the mining activity itself has created its own communities; where the 
employees of our companies and their families not only reside but 
where they have also found a harmonious and peaceful community in 
which to grow and develop in all aspects.

Today, social development projects, community action, preservation 
of the environment and natural resources have become a common 
practice at all Grupo México production units. Interest in improving 
the environment and social development are permanent efforts. 
These have created a practice of conservation in our communities 
that is ahead of the new global conscience of social responsibility and 
sustainable development. If we look back to when the company began 
operations at various of its mining units in the 1960’s, we see that 
environmental care and protection have always been present and 
also the company’s criteria for preservation, applying cutting-edge 
technologies with the highest standards of productivity, savings, and 
environmental control.

Our companies have always remained on the technological vanguard, 
renovating and making permanent adjustments that permit the 
sustainability of its operations. An example of this was the renovation 
of the whole of the production operation which Grupo México carried 
out in the 1980’s and 1990’s. New smelters and metallurgic refineries 
were built during these decades, through an intensive investment 
program, using the best technologies considered to be the strictest 
controls in terms of the environment, thus fulfilling our responsibili-
ty to the countries and communities where we work. Since then, we 
have benefited from significant savings in water, energy, and electri-
city consumption, and also the consumption of many other materials. 
We have made significant investments to develop water treatment 
plants, contributing to our communities, providing them with treated 
water and also water extraction from the mines for residential or 
agricultural use.
 

Achievements in basic education.

Grupo México has also been a pioneer 
in terms of caring for its workforce. The 
company has never conformed to simply 
satisfying its contractual obligations, rather 
Grupo México has always gone further; the 
benefits of integral development are applied 
equally in all neighboring communities, regar-
dless whether these are connected to the 
company’s workforce.

Also significant are the efforts that have 
been made in the comprehensive health 
care of the residents of these communities, 
and the projects undertaken there, which, 
in and of themselves, are testaments to the 
commitment of Grupo México to its people. 
In addition, not conformant with reaching 
a balance between physical health and the 
natural environment, the companies of Grupo 

México have taken action to achieve perma-
nent improvements in the social and cultural 
aspects of its communities. The company’s 
achievements in elementary and middle 
school education are well-known, and also in 
recreational and artistic activities. An addi-
tional distinction has been the contribution 
of Grupo México in providing its communities 
with infrastructure for healthy recreation in 
culture and sport.

Surpassing the obligations corresponding to 
the states where we are located, and especia-
lly those of the municipal governments, our 
companies have carried out and continue to 
carry out significant works projects to provide 
clean water, drainage and sewer systems, 
electrical lighting, paving, and road safety. We 
have also built public squares, sports fields, 

Recreational activities.
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schools, churches, and important residential 
developments, which are rented to emplo-
yees and their families at a minimal cost, in 
an effort to give all our communities a feeling 
of cordiality and social solidarity.

In this same spirit, community centers have 
been created providing integral support 
to housewives, and also free instruction on 
different trades and activities. These centers 
offer workshops on cooking, pastry making, 
managing family finances, and after-school 
activities for children, etc.

With this rich and singular experience, Grupo 
México formalized the creation of its Foun-
dation in 2008, in order to integrate all the 
company’s efforts and achieve better effecti-
veness in its actions and supports to benefit 
those most in need.

Fundación Grupo México will continue to 
provide the assistance necessary for the 
integral development of its people and its 
communities; and will also develop alliances 
with other organizations to multiply efforts 
and increase benefits.

Significant assistance in the amount of 
$43,528,000 pesos was given in Mexico 
during 2008, in addition to the ongoing 
support that Grupo México provides to 
benefit its people in both Mexico and Peru.

We are committed to all those who share their 
work efforts with us for the betterment of 
our country. Building alliances is how we are 
able to make our efforts even more effective, 
creating a real and solid support system.
 

Production at Grupo México nurseries. Clean water.

Institutions supported:
Fundación ABC, Grupo México donated the 
 Radiation Therapy Department to the 
 Cancer Center.
Nuestros Niños, IAP.
Empresarios por la Educación Básica.
Probosque de Chapultepec.
Acajungla, A.C.
Asociación Franciscana, IAP.
Fundación Pro Niños de la Calle, A.C.
Fundación Universidad Nacional Autónoma, A.C.
Hogar y Caridad Sonorense, A.C.
Centro Educacional La Caridad.
Colegio de Bachilleres del Estado de Sonora.
Educación Popular Sofía Barat, A.C.
Escuela Preparatoria de Nacozari.
Escuela Preparatoria Esqueda.
Mexican Red Cross.
Fundación Mexicana para la Salud.
Comedor Santa María.
Centro de Cultura Ambiental de los Viveros 
 de Coyoacán.

Improved housing program.Improvements in infrastructure for sports. 

GRUPO MEXICO 200874 - 75 75 



FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
AND DISCUSSION

Grupo México is a holding company, 

whose principal activities are in 

the mining-metallurgic industry 

and include the exploration, exploi-

tation, and benefit of metallic and 

non-metallic minerals, and freight 

and multimodal railroad services, 

and also infrastructure, grouped 

under three subsidiaries.

Copper is a natural antibacterial agent that stops the spreading of bacteria in water and air distribution systems 
(plumbing and air conditioning). Also, the copper in doorknobs, railings, and plates in public buildings can help to 

minimize the risk of bacteria transfer.

GRUPO MEXICO 200876 - 77 77 



FINANCIAL ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

This analysis and discussion presents a review of the consolidation 
financial results for Grupo México, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries 
(“GMexico” or the “Company”) (BMV: GMEXICOB). The audited finan-
cial results for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008 are 
compared to the same period for the previous year. 

Grupo México is a holding company, whose principal activities are in 
the mining-metallurgic industry and include the exploration, exploi-
tation, and benefit of metallic and non-metallic minerals, and freight 
and multimodal railroad services, and also infrastructure, grouped 
under the following subsidiaries:  

(I) The mining division  is represented and controlled by the 
subsidiary Americas Mining Corporation (“AMC”), its princi-
pal subsidiary being: Southern Copper Corporation (“SCC”), 
which is one of the largest integrated copper producers in 
the world, producing copper, molybdenum, zinc, silver, gold, and 
lead. SCC is the largest publicly traded copper mining company 
in the world in terms of mineral reserves that quotes on the New 
York and Lima stock exchanges. The company operates mines 
and metallurgic plants, and has exploration projects in Mexico, 
Peru, and Chile. SCC stockholders, directly or through subsidia-
ries, are: Grupo México (79.8%) and other stockholders (20.24%). 
The operations of the subsidiary Asarco LLC (“Asarco”) in the US 
ceased to consolidate as of August 9, 2005, as the company filed 
for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the US Bankruptcy 
Code. As of the date of this report, Asarco maintains ownership 
of its assets, and also the management and administration of the 
business as a debtor in possession.

(II) The transportation division is represented and controlled by 
the subsidiary Infraestructura y Transportes México, S.A. de 
C.V. (“ITM”), its principal subsidiaries being Grupo Ferrovia-
rio Mexicano, S.A. de C.V. (“GFM”), Ferrocarril Mexicano, S.A. 
de C.V. (“Ferromex”), and Ferrosur, S.A. de C.V. (“Ferrosur”). 
Ferromex is the largest railroad company with the widest covera-
ge in Mexico. Ferromex has a network of 8,111 kilometers of tracks 

that covers approximately 71% of Mexico. Ferromex lines connect 
to five border points with the United States, and also connect to 
four ports on the Pacific Coast and two on the Gulf of Mexico. 
Ferromex is controlled by Grupo México (55.5%), Union Pacific 
(26%), and Grupo Carso-Sinca Inbursa (18.5%). On November 24, 
2005, Grupo México incorporated Ferrosur, through Infraes-
tructura y Transportes Ferroviarios, S.A. de C.V. (“ITF”). This 
acquisition is reported on the financial statements under the 
participation method. Ferrosur operates in the south of Mexico. 
Ferrosur has a network of 1,813 kilometers of track, covering the 
central and southeastern part of the country, serving mainly 
the states of Tlaxcala, Puebla, Veracruz, and Oaxaca, and has 
access to the ports of Veracruz and Coatzacoalcos on the Gulf of 
Mexico. Ferrosur is controlled by Grupo México, holding 74.99%, 
and Grupo Carso-Sinca Inbursa, holding 25.01%. Grupo México 
also owns Intermodal México, S.A. de C.V.

(III) The infrastructure division of GMéxico is represented by the 
subsidiary México Constructora Industrial, S.A. de C.V (“MCI”), 
established in 1942, which conducts engineering, procurement, 
and construction activities for the development of Company and 
third party projects, and also participates in public tenders for 
important infrastructure works projects.

All figures in this report were prepared according to the US GAAP 
and are expressed in US dollars (“$”), except where indicated 
otherwise, and as of December 31, 2008. Therefore all percentage 
changes are expressed in real terms. The conversion from Mexican 
pesos to US dollars is included for reference purposes only, applying 
the exchange rate set by the Bank of Mexico for settling obligations, 
which was 13.5383 pesos per dollar on December 31, 2008.

This report may contain certain statements regarding expectations of 
the future performance of Grupo México and such statements should 
be considered estimates made by the Company in good faith. These 
statements on expectations reflect the opinions of Company Mana-
gement based on currently available information.
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Cathode sheets. Mobile equipment.

The real results are subject to future and uncertain events, which could 
have a material impact on the real performance of the Company.

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
GMexico is a publicly traded company, whose shares have been quoted 
on the Bolsa Mexicana de Valores (BMV) (Mexican Stock Exchange) 
since 1978, under the listing code: GMEXICOB.

On June 30, 2008, GMexico split the 2,595,000,000 series “B” shares, 
without par value, that represented the equity capital as of the date of 
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held April 30, at 3 new shares for 
each of the 2,595,000,000 shares in circulation, by consequence the 
equity capital of Grupo México is now represented by 7,785,000,000 
common series “B” shares, fully subscribed and paid. As of December 
31, 2008, the company has 7,610,000,000 common series “B” shares in 
circulation.

SCC shares are quoted on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and the 
Lima Stock Exchange under the listing code: PCU, on both exchanges.

Zinc ingot.Zinc sheets. 

METALS PRICES
Copper, molybdenum, zinc, silver, and lead prices fell during 2008 as 
a consequence of the uncertainty resulting from the financial crisis 
in North America and the current economic deceleration worldwi-
de. We expect 2009 to be a difficult year for metals due to the drop 
in world production and the difficulties high consumption industries 
face. However, we remain optimistic that demand will recover before 
the end of the year, supported by aggressive economic stimulus plans 
and infrastructure programs in the United States and China, and in 
most other countries.

    

Metals Prices  2008 2007 Var. %

Copper   ($cts/pound) 315.51  322.89  (2.3) 

Molybdenum   ($cts/pound) 28.42  29.91  (5.0) 

Zinc   ($cts/pound) 85.04  147.07  (42.2) 

Silver   ($dlls/ounce) 14.97  13.39  11.8 

Gold   ($dlls/ounce) 871.71  696.66  25.1 

Lead   ($cts/pound) 94.83  117.03  (19.0)

 

Source: Copper, Zinc, and Gold - LME; Silver - COMEX; Molybdenum - Metals Week Dealer Oxide

Mining Production and Sales
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STOCK DIVIDENDS
During 2008, Grupo México distributed a total of $13.686 billion 
pesos in dividends. The following table shows the dividend amounts 
per share distributed for each quarter over the last two years; at 
values adjusted for the stock split carried out June 30, 2008, and 
also their equivalent when the dividend payment was made with 
new shares.

 2008

 MX$/share Date of Payment

First Quarter 0.33 May 9, 2008

Second Quarter* 0.39 August 22, 2008

Third Quarter* 0.24 November 14, 2008

Fourth Quarter* 0.12 February 27, 2009

 2007

 MX$/share Date of Payment

First Quarter 0.30 May 15, 2007

Second Quarter 0.33 September 3, 2007

Third Quarter 0.37 November 27, 2007

Fourth Quarter 0.30 February 15, 2008

(*) A dividend payment in shares was authorized in the third quarter of 2008, at one share per 35 
shares, and another was authorized in the fourth quarter of 2008, at one share per 75 shares.

Conveyor belt. Charcas, San Luis Potosí. Spare parts warehouse. Mexicana de cobre. 

Our dividend policy continues to be reviewed at the meetings of 
the Board of Directors, considering the current capital expenditu-
re program and the future cash flow our operations are expected 
to generate.

STOCK REPURCHASE FUND
On April 30, 2008, the Grupo México Ordinary General Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting authorized a fund for the repurchase of stocks for the 
amount of $2,240,000,000 pesos. As of December 31, 2008, Grupo 
México had repurchased 155,413,644 shares for an amount equal 
to $2,081,371,246 pesos, which represents 93% of the repurchase 
fund authorized.

The Grupo México Board of Directors and Audit Committee meeting 
held October 31 authorized the purchase of 350 million Company 
and Minera México stocks. These stocks had been owned by Minera 
México and have been included in the company equity for various 
years under the company’s employee stock plan. The per share value 
for this transaction was at market price, consistent with the strate-
gy of creating additional value for stockholders, and also for future 
employee share plans.

Panoramic view. Charcas, San Luis Potosí.Underground mine. Santa Bárbara, Chihuahua. 
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Los Alisos Dam. 

As of December 31, 2008, Grupo México has increased its holdings 
in SCC from 75.1% to 79.8%. This was achieved through the direct 
purchase of 12.5 million SCC shares, and as a result of the repurcha-
se of 29.6 million shares by SCC through the repurchase program 
authorized by its Board. 

The repurchase programs were carried out because of the low prices 
for GMéxico and SCC shares. The Boards of Directors for both compa-
nies authorized the repurchase deeming this to provide a better 
return than cash positions, creating greater value for stockholders.

CONSOLIDATED NET DEBT
As of December 31, 2008, the total consolidated debt of Grupo México 
was $1.6883 billion, with a cash and banks balance of $1.7596 billion, 
equivalent to $71.3 million in net cash after discounting debt.  

Thickeners. La Caridad, Sonora. 

DEBT DETAILS

Millions US$  Credit Total Balance Interest Final

  Limit Available Dec 31 08 Rate Maturity

Southern Copper Corporation     

 30 year Yankee Bond Series “B” $ 125.0  $ 125.0  $ 56.4  9.25% 01-Abr-28

 Mitsui Loan $ 100.0  $ 100.0  $ 50.0  Libor 6m+1.25% 15-Dic-13

 10 year Bonds Maturing 2015 $ 200.0  $ 200.0  $ 200.0  6.38% 28-Jul-19

 30 year Bonds Maturing 2035 $ 1,000.0  $ 1,000.0  $ 1,000.0  7.50% 28-Jul-39

 Total $ 1,425.0  $ 1,425.0  $ 1,306.4     

     

GFM - Ferromex     

 Securities Certificates* $ 221.6  $ 110.8  $ 110.8  9.03% 29-Oct-26

 Securities Certificates* $ 147.7  $ 73.9  $ 73.9  TIIE 28 +0.34% 8-Nov-18

 Banamex* $ 87.6  $ 87.6  $ 69.6  8.18% 16-Sep-19

 Banamex* $ 18.6  $ 18.6  $ 13.9  8.25% 16-Mar-18

 BOFA-Eximbank $ 79.8  $ 79.8  $ 7.9  Libor 6m+0.10% 25-Ago-09

 BNP Paribas-EXIMBANK $ 39.5  $ 39.5  $ 22.1  Libor 3m+0.09% 26-Jul-17

 HSBC-EDC $ 24.4  $ 24.4  $ 17.2  Libor 6m+0.08% 27-Nov-18

 HSBC $ 4.2  $ 4.2  $ 2.9  Libor 6m+0.40% 27-Nov-18

 Calyon $ 19.8  $ 19.8  $ 17.5  Libor 3m+0.40% 16-Jun-20

 Calyon-Eximbank $ 70.8  $ 70.8  $ 62.5  Libor 3m+0.00% 16-Jun-20

 Total $ 714.0  $ 714.0  $ 398.3     

* Loan contracted in pesos, however the table shows the equivalent in dollars at the exchange rate of 13.5383.
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DEBT MATURITY 
The total consolidated debt of GMéxico has an amortization schedu-
le that does not present a difficult financial burden for the Company. 
The average debt amortizations per year between 2009 and 2014 
will be $83 million. The maturity schedule for the debt is as follows: 

   

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
GMexico uses derivative instruments to manage its exposure to 
market risks due to variances in the prices for basic products, inter-
est rates, and exchange rates. GMexico does not generally sign deri-
vative contracts, except when there is anticipation of the occurrence 
of a future activity that would expose GMexico subsidiaries to market 
risks, with and on the prior approval of the risk committee, audit 
committee, and the board of directors.

CAPITAL AMORTIZATION SCHEDULE - DEC. 31, 2008
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GMexico contracted the following financial instruments through its 
two divisions, Mining and Transportation:

Mining Division. The subsidiary SCC contracted coverage to: a) 
protect prices on a portion of its copper sales; b) fix the energy rates 
for part of its production costs; and c) protect part of its operating 
costs in the face of an appreciation of the Mexican peso against the 
US dollar. 

In the mining division, the transactions corresponding to the protec-
tion programs for metals prices are entered in the accounting 
following the guidelines established by SFAS No. 133 and adjusted to 
fair market value based on the metals prices as of the last day of the 
respective reporting period with the gain or loss being reported in 
the net sales on the consolidated income statement.

SCC signed copper collar contracts to protect 179,443 tons in 2008. 
As of year close, these collars had accumulated a gain of $137 million.

Minera México signed futures contracts for dollars to cover a minimal 
portion of its needs for pesos for company operations in Mexico. 
Some of these contracts have expired and that with the longest term 
has a term of less than 7 months. As of 2008 close, these contracts 
reported a book loss of $17 million and to date, post an unfavorable 
mark-to-market of $50.3 million.  SCC estimates this position will not 
have a negative effect as the Company earns its revenues in dollars, 
as is the nature of the commodities industry.  

Transportation Division. The subsidiary GFM signed an interest rate 
derivative to cover a bank loan. 

The transportation division follows the accounting policy that the 
financial assets and liabilities resulting from any type of financial 
instrument, except for investments in financial instruments held to 
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Panoramic view. Santa Bárbara. 

term, are valued at their fair value and reported in the balance 
statement. The effects of the valuation of a financial asset or liabili-
ty are recognized in the results for the corresponding period.  

 
GFM holds an interest rate derivative for an $80.0 million loan, 
which reports an unfavorable valuation as of December 31, 2008 of 
$2.3 million.  

As of December 31, 2008, the consolidated result for all derivative 
instruments was a gain of $116.5 million. 

CREDIT PROFILE
During 2008, Grupo México and its subsidiaries maintained their 
respective “investment grade” credit ratings, due to their low 
debt profile, strong liquidity position, and a manageable amorti-
zation schedule. 

On December 19, 2008, Fitch confirmed the credit ratings of “BBB-” 
for GMéxico, AMC, and Grupo Ferroviario Mexicano, and “BBB” for 
Southern Copper Corporation (“SCC”).  Also, in December 2008, 
Standard & Poor’s and Fitch confirmed their ratings of “MXAA” and 
“AAMX”, respectively, for Ferrocarril Mexicano, for the debt issues 
FERROMX 07 and FERROMX 07-2.

Driller and blasting charges.

 Moodý s Standard & Fitch Ratings
  Pooŕ s 

Grupo México   
International Rating - BBB- BBB-
   
Americas Mining Corporation   
International Rating - BBB- BBB-
   
Southern Copper Corporation   
International Rating Baa2 BBB- BBB
US$1 billion Bonds Baa2 BBB- BBB
Local Rating - - BBB
   
Minera México   
Local Rating - - BBB
International Rating Baa3 - BBB
Secured Bond Baa3 - BBB
   
Ferromex   
Long Term Local Rating - MXAA AA(Mex)
International Rating - - BBB-
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SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS BY BUSINESS UNIT

MINING DIVISION

Southern Copper Corporation
Consolidated net sales for 2008 reached $4.851 billion, compared to 
the $6.086 billion reported in 2007. This 20% decrease is principally 
due to the fall in metals prices particularly as of September and the 
adjustment resulting from the sales system of the mining industry, 
which sets the final sale price two to three months after the delivery 
of the product.

Thickener tank. End product: Copper cathode.

a. 67% Copper

b. 16% Molybdenum

c. 4% Zinc

d. 4% Silver

e. 4% Sulfuric Acid

f. 5% Others

e.

a.
b.

c.

d.

f.

SALES BY PRODUCT (SCC)

three years since Asarco started its Chapter 11 
process. Despite the time elapsed, the Court 
has granted Asarco a new extension on the 
term for the presentation of a new Reorgani-
zation Plan, which ends March 17, 2009.

The two reorganization plans GMéxico has 
presented in the past were rejected by 
Asarco’s Independent Board, causing signi-
ficant economic damage to Asarco, its credi-
tors, and its sole stockholder. Therefo-
re GMéxico is studying and evaluating the 
proper legal actions that will allow Asarco to 
recover the values lost due to the negligent 
actions of the Independent Board. 

Asarco reported revenues of $1.696 billion 
as of December 31, 2008, with an EBITDA 
of $437 million, and a cash position of 
$1.324 billion.
 

Panoramic view Tía María.

ASARCO

Asarco ceased to consolidate as of August 9, 
2005, after filing a petition for bankruptcy 
under Chapter 11 of the US Bankruptcy Code; 
the purpose of these proceedings is to arrange 
for the financial reorganization of Asarco. The 
reorganization proceedings require, on the one 
hand, the definition of the environmental liabi-
lities of Asarco LLC, and on the other hand, 
the Judge must decide whether to assign any 
responsibility to Asarco LLC regarding the 
handling of asbestos by Asarco’s subsidiaries 
LAQ and CAPCO, companies that ceased to 
operate in 1986 and 1993 respectively. As of 
the date of this report, Asarco retains owner-
ship of its assets, and also the management 
and administrative operation of the business 
as a debtor in possession.

The Independent Board and the creditors of 
Asarco have not, as yet, achieved a reorganiza-
tion of the company although it has been over 
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TRANSPORTATION DIVISION

Infraestructura y Transportes México

Net sales increased 9.4% in 2008 to reach US $1.082 billion, compa-
red to the US $988 million posted in 2007, as a result of the average 
distance traveled and a combination of better traffics and rates. 
The volume transported in 2008 decreased 0.7%, moving 40.186 
billion net ton-kilometers, compared to 40.458 billion net ton-kilo-
meters in 2007. 

INVESTMENT IN FIXED ASSETS

Ferromex has invested in new equipment and infrastructure in order 
to improve the efficiency and reliability of the system to provide addi-
tional services, which customers require more and more. Ferromex 
provides an efficient and reliable service to its customers, competing 
favorably with the truck transportation industry.

Ferromex has increased the capacity of its network and has invested 
in transfer terminals and distribution centers to transfer traffic from 
trucks to railroad cars for those customers that require door to door 
services.

The transportation division (including Intermodal), invested US$176 
million in 2008, 37% less than 2007. This reduction is due to no new 

Container. Ferromex.Locomotive. Ferromex. 

locomotives being purchased. These investments, which include the 
cumulative refurbishment of 1,570 kilometers of track with new rails 
and 621.8 kilometers with recovered rail, have increased the capaci-
ty of the infrastructure to 130 tons on the basic network, meeting US 
standards, improved operating safety, and increased train speed. In 
addition, sleepers and rails were changed on a total of 116 and 302 
kilometers, respectively, and 1 new siding, 2 support tracks, and 3 
extensions and/or refurbishments of sidings were completed. Cons-
truction was also started on the Intermodal Terminal in Chihuahua, 
Chihuahua, and 248 gondolas were purchased. 

Ferrosur

On January 30, 2009, the Federal Competition Bureau (Comisión 
Federal de Competencia “CFC”) notified GFM, Ferromex, Ferrosur, and 
GMexico of its resolution declaring the companies culpable of mono-
polistic practices and imposing pecuniary penalties against GFM for 
$726,000 pesos and against Ferromex and GMexico for $82.2 million 
pesos, and no specific amount was set as a pecuniary penalty against 
Ferrosur. The resolution has not been confirmed and recourse for 
reconsideration can be filed with the CFC within 30 business days. 
Lastly, in the event the final resolution issued by the CFC is contrary 
to the interests of our companies, action to contest may be pursued 
with the Court Authorities.  

Operations at Intermodal México.Monterrey Shop.  
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

México
conSTrUcTora inDUSTriaL

100%

inFraeSTrUcTUra Y
TranSPorTeS México

74.99%

SoUTHern coPPer

79.8%

Minera
México

100%

SoUTHern coPPer
PerÚ

100%

inFraeSTrUcTUra Y
TranSPorTeS FerroViarioS

100%

GrUPo FerroViario
Mexicano

74%

TexaS PaciFic

100%

Mexicana de cobre

Mexicana de cananea

iMMSa

cuajone

Toquepala

iLo

100% 100%

FerroSUr* FerroMex

* Ferrosur does not consolidate its results with Grupo México

Grupo México BMV GMéxico

Southern Copper BVL-PCU

Southern Copper NYSE-PCU

www.gmexico.com

OPERATING PROFIT - NET EARNINGS
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
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OPERATING PROFIT

NET EARNINGS

COPPER PRICE  128.97 168.23 308.94 322.17 313.36 ctv./pound.
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CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
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The equity value refers to 7,610,000,000 shares and the per share earnings refer 
to 7,681,151 shares.

OPERATING PROFIT PER SHARE
(DOLLARS)
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EQUITY CAPITAL AND TOTAL ASSETS
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Mexico City, April 29, 2009

To Stockholders of
Grupo México, S. A. B. de C. V.

1. We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Grupo México, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsidiaries (the Company) 
as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidat-
ed statements of operations, of changes in stockholders’ equity 
and of cash flows for the years then ended, which, as described in 
Note 2, have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. These finan-
cial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-
ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audits.

 We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in Mexico. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe 
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

2. As discussed in Note 1, 23 (Other legal matters) and 24 (point d), 
Asarco Inc. (Asarco) a non-consolidated subsidiary of the Company 
is in Chapter 11. The Company has been named in various litigation 
involving Asarco in asbestos and environmental claims and the 
fraudulent conveyance in connection with the Company’s subsid-
iary [Americas Mining Corporation (AMC)] purchase of Southern 
Copper Corporation (SCC) from Asarco. In the last trial, on April 1, 
2009 the judgment was issued where the Company was sentenced 

on counts of fraudulent transfer, aiding and abetting and conspir-
acy. The sentence forces the Company to return 260 million of 
SCC’s shares (representing approximately 30.5% of total SCC’s 
outstanding shares) and $1.38 billion dollars in cash. The Company 
with its legal advisors will appeal this judgment. As of the date 
of this report the Company and its legal advisors are unable to 
determine the timing and final outcome of the appeal process. At 
December 31, 2008 SCC represents 69% of the total consolidated 
assets, 82% of net consolidated sales and 95% of the net income 
of the year, respectively.

3. In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to 
in the first paragraph above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Grupo México, S. A. B. de C. V. and subsid-
iaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their 
operations, the changes in their stockholders’ equity and the 
cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, S. C.

C.P.C. Raúl Téllez González
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GRUPO MÉXICO, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  December 31,
Assets 2008 2007
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,759,584 $ 2,664,858
Short-term investments  172,402  117,903
  1,931,986  2,782,761
Accounts receivable trade (less allowance for doubtful accounts
2008 - $9,197 and 2007 - $10,072)  186,507  550,138
Other accounts receivable  266,838  254,476
  453,345  804,614
Inventories - Net  479,442  482,082
Prepaid expenses and other  28,837  54,755
Deferred income tax and employees’ statutory profit sharing  115,612  120,519
  623,891  657,356
Total current assets  3,009,222  4,244,731
Property, plant and equipment - Net  4,727,880  4,627,111
Concession titles - Net  81,294  106,546
Investments in shares of associated companies and other unconsolidated subsidiaries  281,563  317,136
Leachable material - Net  156,294  220,243
Intangible assets  278,705  169,780
Deferred income tax  83,106  
Other assets  57,322  33,092
Total assets $ 8,675,386 $ 9,718,639
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of long-term debt  $ 49,615 $ 313,237
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  609,080  449,402
Income tax payable  151,333  299,235
Employees’ statutory profit sharing  220,222  330,325
Total current liabilities  1,030,250  1,392,199
Long-term debt  1,638,716  1,754,037
Labor liabilities  60,403  67,100
Deferred income tax and employees’ statutory profit sharing  237,656  320,477
Other liabilities and reserves  102,288  71,316
Total liabilities  3,069,313  3,605,129
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES    
Minority interest  1,245,228  1,453,699
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY: 
Common stock (shares authorized and issued: 2008 and 2007 7,785,000,000)  1,970,602  1,991,746
Reserve for shares purchase  131,815  171,244
Additional paid-in capital  9,043  9,043
Treasury stock  (351,049)  (139,031)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (167,016)  (3,905)
Retained earnings  2,767,450  2,630,714
Total stockholders’ equity  4,360,845  4,659,811
Total liabilities, minority interest and stockholders’ equity $ 8,675,386 $ 9,718,639

The accompanying twenty four notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GRUPO MÉXICO, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except for income per share amounts)

  Year ended
  December 31,
 2008 2007
Income:
Net sales $ 4,850,820 $ 6,085,672
Service revenue  1,095,185  992,575

  5,946,005  7,078,247
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation, amortization and depletion)  2,874,352  2,750,780
Administrative expenses  174,522  209,586
Depreciation, amortization and depletion  411,550  402,201
Exploration  36,990  40,212

  3,497,414  3,402,779

Income from operations  2,448,591  3,675,468

Net comprehensive financing cost:
Interest expense  165,368  155,237
Interest capitalized  (6,776)  (14,717)
Interest income  (116,287)  (139,575)
Foreign exchange loss (income)  97,971  (3,344)
Loss on derivative instruments  76,722  73,711
Loss on debt prepayments    16,572
Other (income) expenses  (8,610)  4,294

  208,388  92,178

Income before income taxes and minority interest  2,240,203  3,583,290

Income tax  780,899  1,334,141

Income before minority interest  1,459,304  2,249,149

Equity in the results of associated companies and other
   unconsolidated subsidiaries  31,711  26,737

Minority interest income  (420,018)  (644,783)

Consolidated net income  $ 1,070,997 $ 1,631,103

Income per share - Basic and diluted $ 0.14 $ 0.21

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (thousands) - Basic and diluted  7,681,266  7,717,380

The accompanying twenty four notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GRUPO MÉXICO, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ equity
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  Outstanding  Reserve
  shares Common for shares
  in thousands stock purchase

Balance as of January 1, 2007 7,730,589 $ 1,995,295 $ 162,960

Retained earnings capitalization     24,305

Purchase of own shares (22,053)  (4,866)  (29,738)

Re-sale of own shares 5,811  1,317  13,717

Dividends paid

Increase treasury stock

Comprehensive result:
Consolidated net income
Other

Balances as of December 31, 2007 7,714,347  1,991,746  171,244

Retained earnings capitalization     27,539

Purchase of own shares (155,414)  (33,373)  (155,248)

Dividends paid in shares (reserve 
   for purchase of shares) 51,066  12,229  88,280

Dividends paid in shares 
   (treasury stock)

Dividends paid

Increase in treasury stock

Comprehensive result:
Consolidated net income
Other 

Balances as of December 31, 2008 7,609,999 $ 1,970,602 $ 131,815

The accompanying twenty four notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

  Additional  Accumulated
  paid-in Treasury other Retained
  capital stock comprehensive loss earnings Total

  9,043 ($ 109,401) ($ 36,067) $ 1,945,666 $ 3,967,496

        (24,305)

          (34,604)

          15,034

        (921,750)  (921,750)

    (29,630)      (29,630)

        1,631,103  1,631,103
      32,162    32,162
            
          1,663,265

  9,043  (139,031)  (3,905)  2,630,714  4,659,811

        (27,539)  

          (188,621)

        (100,509)  

    136,052    (136,052)  

        (670,161)  (670,161)

    (348,070)      (348,070)

        1,070,997  1,070,997
      (163,111)    (163,111)

          907,886

 $ 9,043 ($ 351,049) ($ 167,016) $ 2,767,450 $ 4,360,845
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GRUPO MÉXICO, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  Year ended 

  December 31,

Operating: 2008 2007
Consolidated net income $ 1,070,997 $ 1,631,103
Charges (credits) not requiring (providing) resources:
Minority interest  420,018  644,783
Equity in the results of associated companies and other unconsolidated subsidiaries  (31,711)  (26,737)
Provisions for doubtful accounts, voluntary retirements, pensions, seniority 
premiums and medical services  10,292  6,833
Depreciation, amortization and depletion  411,550  402,201
Amortization of concession titles and deferred charges    7,500
Foreign exchange losses  7,643  8,758
Deferred income tax and employees’ statutory profit sharing  (116,593)  61,789
Loss on derivative investments  56,815  
Loss on short-term investments  10,339  81,006
Gain on sale of property  (29,778)  
Capitalized leachable material  (2,246)  (45,903)
  1,807,326  2,771,333
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable  326,700  62,317
Inventories  (4,004)  (35,068)
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities  (48,514)  (115,956)
Net resources provided by operations  2,081,508  2,682,626
Investing:
Additions to property and equipment  (693,144)  (573,142)
Purchase of marketable securities  (85,066)  (217,903)
Net proceeds from short-term investments  20,228  297,398
Purchase of own shares - Net  (88,112)  (19,570)
Sale of property  60,613  
Net resources used in investing activities  (785,481)  (513,217)
Financing:
Debt repaid  (320,831)  (37,116)
Dividends paid to common majority and minority - stockholders  (1,343,661)  (1,434,633)
SCC common share buyback  (384,656)  
AMC purchase of SCC’s shares  (148,070)  
Net resources used in financing activities  (2,197,218)  (1,471,749)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (901,191)  697,660
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (4,083)  26,814
  (905,274)  724,474
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  2,664,858  1,940,384
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  1,759,584 $ 2,664,858
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 184,574 $ 218,377
Income taxes $ 1,002,449 $ 1,317,923
Employees’ statutory profit sharing $ 321,089 $ 318,954
Supplemental information of non-cash operating, investing
and financing activities:
(Increase) decrease in pension and other post-retirement benefits $ 2,628 ($ 3,899)

The accompanying twenty four notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
 

GRUPO MÉXICO, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS:

The operating companies that comprise Grupo México, S. A. B. de 
C. V. and subsidiaries (collectively the Company or GMEXICO) are 
in the metallurgical mining and freight railway services industries. 
They engage in the exploration, mining and processing of metallic 
and nonmetallic minerals, the mining of coal and provide multi-use 
and freight railway services.

The Company’s mining operations are contained in a company known 
as Americas Mining Corporation (AMC), which in turn is parent 
company of Southern Copper Corporation (SCC) [formerly Southern 
Peru Copper Corporation (SPCC)] and Asarco Inc. (Asarco).

SCC and subsidiaries are an integrated producer of copper and 
other minerals, and operates mining, smelting and refining facilities 
in Peru and Mexico. SCC and subsidiaries conducts its primary oper-
ations in Peru through a registered branch (the Branch). The Branch 
is not a corporation separate from SCC. The Company’s Mexican 
operations are conducted through Minera México, S. A. de C. V. and 
subsidiaries (MM).

Asarco is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and process-
ing of copper through its operation of three major open-pit mines, 
two smelting facilities, one of which is currently on standby, two 
solvent extraction/electrowinning (SX-EW) facilities and a refining 
facility. The United States of America (U.S.) operations also include 
a lead smelter.

Asarco Inc. (Asarco) a non-consolidated subsidiary of the Company 
is in Chapter 11. The Company has been named in various litigation 
involving Asarco including asbestos and environmental claims and the 
fraudulent conveyance in connection with Americas Mining Corpora-
tion’s (AMC) purchase of Southern Copper Corporation (SCC) from 
a subsidiary of Asarco. In the latter case, on April 1, 2009 the final 
judgment was issued finding the Company liable on counts of fraud-
ulent transfer, aiding and abetting and conspiracy. The Company is 
required to return 260 million of SCC’s shares (representing approx-
imately 30.5% of total SCC’s outstanding shares) and $1.38 billion 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements December 31, 2008 and 2007
 (Amounts in U.S. dollars)
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dollars in cash. The Company is planning to appeal this judgment and 
is unable to determine the timing and final outcome of the appeal 
process. At December 31, 2008 SCC represents 69% of the total 
consolidated assets, 82% of net consolidated sales and 95% of the 
net income of the year, respectively. Asarco is in continuing posses-
sion of its properties and is operating and managing its business as a 
debtor in possession. As of the date of this report, it is not plausible 
to predict how the bankruptcy court will ultimately rule with respect 
to such petitions and the impact such rulings will have on Asarco and 
its subsidiaries and on the Company. See Note 23 “Contingencies”.

In August 2005, AMC recorded a reserve of $21 million correspond-
ing to the net value of the Asarco investment.

The Company’s railway system operations are contained in a company 
known as Infraestructura y Transportes México, S. A. de C. V. (ITM), 
which is the parent company of Grupo Ferroviario Mexicano, S. A. 
de C. V. (GFM), that serves as the parent company holding indirectly 
74% interest in Ferrocarril Mexicano, S. A. de C. V. (Ferromex). The 
remaining 26% is owned by Union Pacific.

On November 24, 2005, GMEXICO reported that its ITM subsid-
iary, through its recently incorporated subsidiary Infraestructura 
y Transportes Ferroviarios, S. A. de C. V. (ITF), acquired 99.99% of 
the capital stock of Ferrosur, S. A. de C. V. (Ferrosur) owned by Sinca 
Inbursa, S. A. de C. V. (Sinca) and Grupo Condumex, S. A. de C. V. 
(GCondumex). In accordance with Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards (SFAS) No. 141, “Business Combinations”, it is neces-
sary to have the Federal Antitrust Commission’s final authoriza-
tion before the Company can consolidate the acquired company. On 
November 8, 2006, the Federal Antitrust Commission denied the 
consolidation between Ferrosur and ITF. Due to this result, ITM and 
ITF started a legal proceeding to revoke the above mentioned ruled 
proposed by the Federal Tax and Administrative Justice Court. As of 
the date of these consolidated financial statements, the outcome of 
this legal proceeding is uncertain. Because of the aforementioned 
and as long as the said authorization remains pending, investments 
in Ferrosur will be presented under the equity method in GMEXICO’s 
consolidated financial statements.

Main operations and activities:
SCC branch is primarily an integrated producer of copper through 

the operation of two mining facilities, a smelting facility, an SX/EW 
facility and a refining facility, all in the southern part of Peru.

MM is primarily engaged in the exploration, mining and processing of 
copper in Mexico through the operation of two major open-pit mines, 
three SX/EW facilities, three smelting facilities, a refining precious 
metal facility and a copper rod plant. These operations also include 
five underground mining facilities producing copper, zinc and lead, a 
zinc refining facility, a coal mine and a coke plant.

ITM, through its wholly owned subsidiary GFM, was formed to 
participate in the privatization of the Mexican Railway System. The 
main subsidiary of GFM is Ferromex, which is engaged in providing 
freight and multi-modal railroad services, as well as, any activity 
that supports and is related to this activity, including land transpor-
tation, storage and other complementary railroad transportation 
services. The Mexican Federal Government granted Ferromex a 
50-year concession (exclusive for 30 years) to operate the branch-
es known as North-Pacific and the Ojinaga-Topolobampo Short Line. 
The concession is renewable, subject to certain conditions, for a 
similar period. In addition, the Mexican Federal Government also 
sold certain fixed assets and the materials necessary to operate 
Ferromex, plus 25% of the shares of Ferrocarril y Terminal del Valle 
de México, S. A. de C. V. (FTVM), the entity responsible for operat-
ing the Mexico City Terminal. In August 1999, Ferromex obtained the 
rights to operate the Nogales - Nacozari Short Line concession for 
30 years, renewable for a period not exceeding 50 years, beginning 
on September 1, 1999. GFM accounts for this 25% investment in 
FTVM under the equity method. In addition, ITM through its subsid-
iary Ferrosur operates the Southeast Railroad track concession 
granted by the government.

The operations under MM, ITM, GFM and their respective subsidiaries 
are collectively referred to as the “Mexican Operations”. The oper-
ations under SCC and its Branch are collectively referred to as the 
“Peruvian Operations”.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Principles of Consolidation -
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of subsid-
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iaries of which the Company has voting control, in accordance with SFAS No. 94 “Consolida-
tion of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries”. These consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of 
America (U.S. GAAP).

The main subsidiaries the Company consolidates are as follows:

Subsidiary Location Investment as of December 31, 

  2008 and 2007

  

Americas Mining Corporation (AMC) U.S. 100%
  

Asarco Incorporated and subsidiaries (Asarco) U.S. 100%
Southern Copper Corporation (SCC) U.S. and Peru 76.4% *
Minera México, S. A. de C. V. (MM) Mexico 99.96%
Mexicana de Cobre, S. A. de C. V. (Mexcobre) Mexico 99.99%

Mexicana de Cananea, S. A. de C. V. (Mexcananea) Mexico 100%
Industrial Minera México, S. A. de C. V. (Immsa) Mexico 100%
  

Infraestructura y Transportes México, S. A. de C. V. (ITM)  Mexico 74.9%
  

Líneas Ferroviarias de México, S. A. de C. V. (LFM) Mexico 100%
Intermodal México, S. A. de C. V. Mexico 100%
Grupo Ferroviario Mexicano, S. A. de C. V. (GFM) Mexico 74%
Ferrocarril Mexicano, S. A. de C. V. (Ferromex) Mexico 100%
Infraestructura y Transportes Ferroviarios, S. A. de C. V. (ITF) Mexico 100%

* In 2007 the percentage of investment was 75.09%.

Investments over which the Company does not have significant influence are accounted by the 
equity method. All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of estimates - 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items 

subject to such estimates and assumptions include: ore reserves that 
are the basis for future cash flow estimates and amortization calcula-
tions; environmental, reclamation, closure and retirement obligations; 
estimates of recoverable copper in mill and leach stockpiles; asset 
impairments (including estimates of future cash flows); bad debts; 
inventory obsolescence; deferred and current income tax; valuation 
allowances for deferred tax assets; reserves for contingencies and liti-
gation; and fair value of financial instruments. The Company bases its 
estimates on the historical experience and on various other assump-
tions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition -
Substantially all of the Company’s copper is sold under annual or 
other longer-term contracts. Revenue is recognized when title passes 
to the customer. The passing of title is based on terms of the contract, 
generally upon shipment. Copper revenue is determined based on 
the monthly average of prevailing commodity prices according to the 
terms of the contracts. The Company provides allowances for doubt-
ful accounts based upon historical bad debt, claims experience and 
periodic evaluation of specific customer accounts.

For certain of the Company’s sales of copper and molybdenum prod-
ucts, customers contracts allow for pricing based on a month subse-
quent to shipping, generally ranging between one and six months 
subsequent to shipment. In such cases, revenue is recorded at a provi-
sional price at the time of shipment. The provisionally priced copper 
sales are adjusted to reflect forward in the London Metal Exchange 
(LME) or in the Commodities Exchange in New York (COMEX) copper 
prices at the end of each month until a final adjustment is made to the 
price of the shipments upon settlement with customers pursuant to 
the terms of the contract. In the case of molybdenum sales, for which 
there are no published forward prices, the provisionally priced sales 
are adjusted to reflect the market prices at the end of each month 
until a final adjustment is made to the price of the shipments upon 
settlement with customers pursuant to the terms of the contract.

These provisional pricing arrangements are accounted for separate-
ly from the contract as an embedded derivative instrument under 
SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities”, as amended (SFAS No. 133). The Company sells copper in 
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concentrate, rod, anode, cathode, blister and refined form at industry 
standard commercial terms. Net sales include the invoiced value and 
corresponding fair value adjustment of the related forward contract 
of copper, zinc, silver, molybdenum, acid and other metals. 

ITM and subsidiaries recognize revenue as transportation services in 
the period services are rendered as the shipment moves from origin.

Shipping and handling fees and costs -
Amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling, are classified 
as sales. Amounts incurred for shipping and handling are included in 
cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation, amortization and depletion).

Cash and cash equivalents -
Cash and cash equivalents include bank deposits, certificates of 
deposit and short-term investment funds with original maturities of 3 
months or less at the date of purchase. The carrying value of cash and 
cash equivalents approximate fair value.

Short-term investments - 
The Company accounts for short-term investments in accordance 
with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt 
and Equity Securities”. The Company determines the appropriate 
classification of all short-term investments as held-to-maturity, 
available-for-sale or trading at the time of purchase and reevaluates 
such classifications as of each balance sheet date. Unrealized gains 
and losses on available-for-sale investments, net of taxes, are report-
ed as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income 
(loss) in stockholders’ equity, unless such loss is deemed to be of a 
permanent nature. At the end of 2008, the Company did not hold 
any held-to-maturity or trading investments.

Inventories -
Metal inventories, consisting of work-in-process and finish goods, are 
carried at the lower of average cost or market. Costs incurred in the 
production of metal inventories exclude general, sales and adminis-
trative costs.

Work-in-process inventories represent materials that are in the 
process of being converted into a saleable product. Conversion 
processes vary depending on the nature of the copper ore and the 
specific mining operation. For sulfide ores, processing includes milling 

and concentrating and results in the production of copper and molyb-
denum concentrates. Molybdenum in-process inventory includes the 
cost of molybdenum concentrates and the costs incurred to convert 
those concentrates into various high-purity molybdenum chemicals 
or metallurgical products.

Finished goods include saleable products (e.g., copper concentrates, 
copper anodes, blister copper, copper cathodes, copper rod, molyb-
denum concentrates and other metallurgical products).

Materials and supplies inventories are carried at average acquisition 
cost less a reserve for obsolescence, which is determined according 
to studies performed by the Company.

Property, plant and equipment -
Property, plant, mining and railway equipment are recorded at acqui-
sition cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. 

Cost includes major expenditures for improvements and replace-
ments, which extend the useful lives or increase capacity and inter-
est costs associated with significant capital additions. Maintenance, 
repairs, normal development costs at existing mines and gains or 
losses on assets retired or sold are reflected in earnings as incurred. 

Buildings and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line method 
over their estimated lives ranging from 5 to 40 years or the estimat-
ed life of the mine if shorter.

The Mexican railway operation uses the straight-line method based on 
the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 4 to 50 years.

Mine development -
Mine development includes primarily the cost of acquiring land rights 
to an exploitable ore body, pre-production stripping costs at new mines 
that are commercially exploitable, costs associated with bringing new 
mineral properties into production, and removal of overburden to 
prepare unique and identifiable areas outside the current mining area 
for such future production. Mine development costs are amortized on 
a unit of production basis over the remaining life of the mines.

There is a diversity of practices in the mining industry in the treat-
ment of drilling and other related costs to delineate new ore reserves. 
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The Company follows the practices delineated in the next two para-
graphs in its treatment of drilling and related costs.

Drilling and other associated costs incurred in the Company’s efforts 
to delineate new resources, whether near-mine or Greenfield are 
expensed as incurred. These costs are classified as mineral explo-
ration costs. Once the Company determines through feasibility 
studies that proven and probable reserves exist and that the drill-
ing and other associated costs embody a probable future benefit 
that involves a capacity, singly or in combination with other assets, 
to contribute directly or indirectly to future net cash inflow, then the 
costs are classified as mine development costs. These mine develop-
ment costs incurred prospectively to develop the property are capi-
talized as incurred, until the commencement of production, and are 
amortized using the units of production method over estimated life of 
the ore body. During the production stage, drilling and other related 
costs incurred to maintain production are included in production cost 
in the period in which they are incurred.

Drilling and other related costs incurred in the Company’s efforts to 
delineate a major expansion of reserves at an existing production 
property are expensed as incurred. Once the Company determines 
through feasibility studies that proven and probable incremen-
tal reserves exist and that the drilling and other associated costs 
embody a probable future benefit that involves a capacity, singly 
or in combination with other assets, to contribute directly or indi-
rectly to future net cash inflow, then the costs are classified as mine 
development costs. These incremental mine development costs are 
capitalized as incurred, until the commencement of production and 
amortized using the units of production method over the estimat-
ed life of the ore body. A major expansion of reserves is one that 
increases total reserves at a property by approximately 10%.

For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 the Company did 
not capitalize any drilling and related costs. The net balance of capi-
talized mine development costs at December 31, 2008 and 2007 were 
$46.4 million and $48.7 million, respectively.

Capitalization of railway improvements and maintenance - 
Railway improvements and maintenance are capitalized when the 
components of more than 20% of a track section are changed. The 
capitalized items are depreciated at an average rate between 3.3% 

and 6.6%. When maintenance or repairs do not require changing the 
components of more than 20% of one section of a track, the cost is 
expensed as incurred.

Capitalization of overhauls - 
Regular maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. The 
costs of a locomotive overhauls, which extend the useful life, are 
capitalized and amortized over a term ranging from 4 to 10 years, 
depending on the type of overhaul.

Concession titles -
Concessions titles are recorded at their adjudication cost. Amor-
tization is calculated using the straight-line method, based on the 
remaining estimated useful life of the fixed assets under concession, 
which was an average of 30.3 years (as determined by independent 
experts), as of the date the concessions were granted.

Asset retirement obligations (reclamation and remediation costs) -
The fair value of a liability for asset retirement obligations is recognized 
in the period in which the liability is incurred. The liability is measured 
at fair value and is adjusted to its present value in subsequent periods 
as accretion expense is recorded. The corresponding asset retirement 
costs are capitalized as part of the carrying value of the related long-
lived assets and depreciated over the asset’s useful life.

Intangible assets - 
Intangible assets include primarily the excess amount paid over the 
book value for investment shares and mining and engineering devel-
opment studies. Intangible assets are carried at acquisition costs, net 
of accumulated amortization and are amortized principally on a unit 
of production basis over the estimated remaining life of the mines. 
Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the 
asset may not be recoverable.

Debt issuance costs -
Debt issuance costs, which are included in other assets, are amor-
tized using the interest method over the term of the related debt.

Ore reserves -
The Company periodically reevaluates estimates of its ore reserves, 
which represent the Company’s estimate as to the amount of unmined 
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copper remaining in its existing mine locations that can be produced 
and sold at a profit. Such estimates are based on engineering eval-
uations derived from samples of drill holes and other openings, 
combined with assumptions about copper market prices and produc-
tion costs at each of the respective mines.

The Company updates its estimate of ore reserves at the beginning of 
each year. In this calculation SCC and MM use current metal prices which 
are defined as the average metal price over the preceding 3 years. The 
current per pound of copper price used by SCC and MM, as defined, 
was $3.15 and $2.66 at the end of 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The ore reserve estimates are used to determine the amortization of 
mine development and intangible assets.

Leachable material -
Mexcananea capitalizes the cost of materials with low copper content 
extracted during the mining process (leachable material), which is 
collected in areas known as leaching dumps. The amortization of the 
capitalized costs is determined based on the depletion period of the 
leaching dumps, which is estimated to be 5 years.

Exploration -
Tangible and intangible costs incurred in the search for mineral 
properties are charged against earnings when incurred.

Income tax -
Provisions for income tax are based on taxes payable or refund-
able for the current year and deferred taxes on temporary differ-
ences between the amount of taxable income and pretax financial 
income and between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
reported amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are included in the consolidated financial statements 
at currently enacted income tax rates applicable to the period in 
each jurisdiction in which the deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
expected to be realized and settled as prescribed in SFAS No. 109 
“Accounting for Income Taxes” (SFAS 109). As changes in tax laws or 
rates are enacted in each jurisdiction, deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties are adjusted in income in the period that the change is enacted. 
Deferred income tax assets are reduced by any benefits that, in the 
Company’s opinion, are more likely not to be realized.

The Company classifies income tax-related interest and penalties as 
income taxes in the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company 
recognizes income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which it oper-
ates. For each jurisdiction, the Company estimates the actual amount 
of currently payable or receivable as well as deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the finan-
cial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and 
their respective tax bases. 

A valuation allowance is provided for those deferred tax assets for 
which it is more likely than not that the related benefits will not be 
realized. In determining the amount of the valuation allowance, the 
Company considers estimated future taxable income as well as feasi-
ble tax planning strategies in each jurisdiction. If the Company deter-
mines that it will not realize all or a portion of it’s deferred tax assets, 
the Company will increase its valuation allowance with a charge to 
income tax expense. Conversely, if the Company determines that it 
will ultimately be able to realize all or a portion of the related benefits 
for which a valuation allowance has been provided, all or a portion 
of the related valuation allowance will be reduced with a credit to 
income tax expense. 

The Company’s operations involve dealing with uncertainties and 
judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in multiple 
jurisdictions. The final taxes paid are dependent upon many factors, 
including negotiations with taxing authorities in various jurisdictions 
and resolution of disputes arising from federal, state, and interna-
tional tax audits. The Company recognizes potential liabilities and 
records tax liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in the U.S. and 
other tax jurisdictions based on the estimate of whether, and the 
extent to which, additional taxes will be due. As of January 1, 2007, 
the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48 “Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48), an interpretation of SFAS No. 
109, FIN 48 establishes the guidance to record these liabilities (see 
Note 12 “Income tax, asset tax and flat tax” of these consolidated 
financial statements). The Company adjusts these reserves in light 
of changing facts and circumstances; however, due to the complex-
ity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result 
in a payment that is materially different from the Company’s current 
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estimate of the tax liabilities. If the Company’s estimate of tax liabil-
ities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, an additional 
charge to expense would result. If payment of these amounts ulti-
mately proves to be less than the recorded amounts, the reversal 
of the liabilities would result in tax benefits being recognized in the 
period when the Company determines the liabilities are no longer 
necessary. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, 
related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Foreign exchange -
As required by local law, the Peruvian Branch maintains its 
books of accounts in Peruvian nuevos soles, while MM and ITM in 
Mexican pesos.

In the mine division the functional currency is the U.S. dollar, there-
fore, foreign currency assets and liabilities are remeasured into 
U.S. dollars at current exchange rates except for non-monetary 
items such as inventory, property, plant and equipment, intangi-
ble assets, other assets and stockholders’ equity which are remea-
sured at historical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses are 
generally translated at actual exchange rates in effect during the 
period, except for those items related to balance sheet amounts 
that are remeasured at historical exchange rates. Gains and losses 
from foreign currency remeasurement are included in earnings of 
the period. The gains and (losses) resulting from foreign currency 
transactions are included in “Cost of sales (exclusive of deprecia-
tion, amortization and depletion)”.

ITM and ITF functional currency is the Mexican peso. Therefore, 
the entities use the current rate translation method to translate 
its financial statements in to U.S. dollars. The current rate method 
requires the translation of all assets and liabilities using the year-
end exchange rate and the capital stock continues to be translated 
at historical exchange rates. The components of the statements of 
operations, including foreign exchange gains and losses recorded 
in Mexican pesos as a result of fluctuations in the rate of exchange 
between the Mexican pesos and the U.S. dollars, are translated at the 
average exchange rate for the period. The effect of the exchange rate 
on the translation is reflected as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income within stockholders’ equity. The gains and 
(losses) from foreign currency transactions are shown in the consoli-
dated statements of operations.

The consolidated financial statements should not be construed as representations that 
Mexican pesos had been, could have been or may be converted in the future into U.S. dollars 
at such rates or any other rates.

Relevant exchange rates used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
were as follows:

	 2008	 2007

Mexican pesos (Ps) per one U.S. dollar:

Current exchange rate at December 31 Ps 13.5383  Ps 10.8662
Weighted average exchange rate for the year ended Ps 11.1383  Ps 10.9269

Peruvian nuevos soles (Pns) per one U.S. dollar:

Current exchange rate at December 31 Pns 3.142  Pns 2.997
Weighted average exchange rate for the year ended Pns 3.116  Pns 3.129

Derivative instruments -
The Company utilizes certain types of deriv-
ative financial instruments to enhance its 
ability to manage risks that exist as part of its 
ongoing business operations and to enhance 
its return on Company’s assets. Derivative 
contracts are reflected as assets or liabilities 
in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair 
value. The estimated fair value of the deriva-
tives is based on market and/or dealer quota-
tions and in certain cases valuation model-
ing. From time to time, the Company has 
entered into copper and zinc swap contracts 
to protect a fixed copper and zinc price for 
portions of its metal sales, hedging contracts 
to fix power prices for a portion of its produc-
tion costs, interest rate swap agreements 
to hedge the interest rate risk exposure on 
certain of its bank obligations with variable 
interest rates, currency swap arrangements 

to ensure Mexican peso/U.S. dollar conver-
sion rates. Gains and losses related to copper 
and zinc hedges are included in net sales, 
gain and losses related to power costs are 
included in cost of sales, all other gains and 
losses on derivative contracts are included 
in “Loss on derivative instruments” in the 
consolidated statement of operations.

Asset impairments - 
The Company evaluates its long-term mining 
and railway assets when events or changes 
in economic circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of such assets may not 
be recoverable. These evaluations in case 
of mining segment are based on business 
plans that are prepared using a time horizon 
that is reflective of the Company’s expecta-
tions of metal prices over its business cycle. 
The Company is currently using a long-term 
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average copper price of $1.50 per pound of copper and an average 
molybdenum price of $10.00 per pound, along with near-term price 
forecast, for 2009 through 2011, reflective of the current price envi-
ronment, for the impairment tests. The Company uses an estimate of 
the future undiscounted net cash flows of the related asset or asset 
group over the remaining life to measure whether the assets are 
recoverable and measure any impairment by reference to fair value. 

Due to the illegal work stoppage the Company has performed 
an impairment analysis on the assets at the Cananea mine. The 
Company continues to provide periodic maintenance to the assets 
and expects to begin operations at this mine in the near future. The 
Company determined through its impairment analysis that no impair-
ment exists as of December 31, 2008. Should estimates of future 
copper and molybdenum prices decrease significantly, impairment 
could result. 

According to the annual impairment tests, the Company determined 
that no impairment exists as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Investment in shares of associated companies and other unconsoli-
dated subsidiaries -
The investment in associated companies and other unconsolidated 
subsidiaries are accounted by the equity method, under which the 
acquisition cost of shares is increased or decreased by the propor-
tionate part of any changes in the associated company’s stockhold-
ers’ equity subsequent to the acquisition date. The Company’s equity 
in the income of the associated companies and other unconsolidat-
ed subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statements 
of operations. 

Other comprehensive income -
Comprehensive income is the change in equity during a period, 
except those resulting from investments by owners and distribu-
tions to owners. During the years ended December 31, 2008 and 
2007, the components of “other comprehensive income (loss)” were 
the consolidated net income for the year, the cumulative trans-
lation adjustment, the additional minimum liability for employee 
benefit obligations, unrealized gain on equity securities, the adjust-
ments necessary to adopt SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting 
for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans” and 
the adjustments related to treasury stock valuation.

Reclassifications -
Certain amounts in the consolidated financial statements have been 
reclassified in order to conform to the presentation as of and for the 
year ended December 31, 2008.

Adoption of new accounting principle -
In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities” (SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 permits compa-
nies, at their election, to measure specified financial instruments 
and warranty and insurance contracts at fair value on a contract-
by-contract basis, with changes in fair value recognized in each 
reporting period in earnings. The election, called the “fair value 
option,” will enable some companies to reduce the volatility in 
reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities 
differently, and it is easier than using the complex hedge-account-
ing requirements in SFAS No. 133, to achieve similar results. Subse-
quent changes in fair value for designated items will be required 
to be reported in earnings in the current period.  SFAS No. 159 is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
after November 15, 2007 and therefore became effective for the 
Company as of January 1, 2008. The Company has not elected to 
measure any eligible items at fair value. Accordingly, the adoption of 
SFAS No. 159 has not impacted the Company’s results of operations 
and financial position.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value 
Measurements” (SFAS No. 157), which defines fair value, establish-
es a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about 
fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new 
fair value measurements; rather, it applies under other accounting 
pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. 
The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are to be applied prospectively as of 
the beginning of the fiscal year in which it is initially applied, with any 
transition adjustment recognized as a cumulative-effect adjustment 
to the opening balance of retained earnings.
 
SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the 
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hier-
archy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and 
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the lowest priority to unobservable inputs 
(Level 3 measurements). The three levels of 
the fair value hierarchy under SFAS No. 157 
are described below:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets that are accessible at the measure-
ment date for identical, unrestricted assets 
or liabilities; 
 
Level 2 - Inputs that are observable, either 
directly or indirectly, but do not qualify as 
Level 1 inputs. (i.e., quoted prices for similar 
assets or liabilities), and
 

Level 3 - Prices or valuation techniques that 
require inputs that are both significant to the 
fair value measurement and unobservable 
(i.e., supported by little or no market activity).
 
The provisions of SFAS No. 157 were adopted 
by the Company on January 1, 2008 and 
do not have any effect on its overall finan-
cial position or results of operations. All fair 
value adjustments at December 31, 2008 
represent assets or liabilities measured at 
fair value on a recurring basis. Fair values 
as of December 31, 2008 were calculated as 
mentioned bellow:

  

Quoted prices in Significant

 Balance at active markets other Significant

 December 31, for identical observable unobservable

 2008 assets inputs inputs

  (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

 (in millions)

Short-term investment  $ 172.4  $ 85.1  $ 76.3  $ 11.0
Derivative instruments  (56.8)    (56.8)  

Debt financial instruments  (2.3)    (2.3)  

Pension plans  39.5   26.6  12.9  

Long-term debt (*)  (1,418.5)  (994.9)  (379.9)  (43.7)
Provisionally priced sales:        

Copper  (44.2)  (44.2)
Molybdenum   (53.1)   (53.1)

Total ($ 1,363.0) ($ 980.5) ($ 349.8) ($ 32.7)

* Long-term debt is carried at amortized cost and its carrying value as of December 31, 2008 is $1,688.4 million. The $1,418.5 million repre-

sents the estimated fair value of the debt. See Note 11 “Long-term debt” for SFAS No. 107 fair value disclosures.

The Company’s short-term investments are classified as Level 2 
because they are valued using quoted prices for similar investments. 
The Company classifies investments within Level 3 of the valua-
tion hierarchy in certain cases where there is limited activity or less 
observable inputs to the valuation. Investments classified within Level 
3 include corporate bonds, asset backed obligations and mortgage-
backed securities.
 
Derivatives are valued using internal models that use as their basis 
readily observable market inputs, such as time value, forward inter-
est rates, volatility factors, and current and forward market prices 
for foreign exchange rates. The Company generally classifies these 
instruments within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. Such derivatives 
include foreign currency, gas swaps, copper and zinc derivatives.
 
The fair value of the plan assets is valued using quoted market prices; 
such value is classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.
 
Fair value for the mine division long-term debt is based on quoted 
market prices classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. The 
GFM’s /railway segment loans, are based on present value of cash 
flows less the interest rate, GFM also uses readily observable market 
inputs and are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy. The 
Mitsui loan is based on the present value of the cash flow discounted 
at 9% which is the Company’s weighted average cost of capital, this 
fair value is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

The Company’s accounts receivables associated with provisionally 
priced sales of copper are valued using quoted market prices based 
on the forward price in the LME or in the COMEX. Such value is classi-
fied within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Molybdenum prices are 
established by reference to the publication Platt’s Metals Week and 
are considered Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.
 
The table below sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value 
of the Company’s Level 3 short-term investments (corporate bond, 
asset backed obligations, and mortgage-backed securities) and the 
long-term debt (Mitsui loan).
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 As of December 31, 2008

 2008

 (in millions)

Balance at beginning of period ($ 38.3)
Unrealized losses  (5.5)
Purchases, sales, issuance and settlements - net  5.3
Transfers in/out of Level 3   5.8

Balance at end of period ($ 32.7)

The total amount of unrealized losses for the period was included 
in Interest Expense in the consolidated statement of operations for 
December 31, 2008.

In February 2008 the FASB approved FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 
SFAS 157-2 “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157” (FSP No. SFAS 
157-2), that permits companies to partially defer the effective date of 
SFAS No. 157 for one year for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial 
liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the finan-
cial statements on a nonrecurring basis. FSP No. SFAS 157-2 does not 
permit companies to defer recognition and disclosure requirements 
for financial assets and financial liabilities or for nonfinancial assets 
and nonfinancial liabilities that are remeasured at least annually. In 
accordance with the provisions of FSP No. SFAS 157-2, the Company 
has decided to defer the adoption of SFAS No. 157 for one year for 
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized or 
disclosed at fair value in the consolidated financial statements on a 
nonrecurring basis.

New accounting pronouncements -
In December 2008 the FASB approved FSP No. SFAS 132(R)-1 “Employ-
ers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits” 
(FSP No. SFAS 132(R)-1), which provides guidance on an employer’s 
disclosures about plan assets of a defined benefit pension or other 
postretirement plan. This FSP No. SFAS 132(R)-1 also includes a tech-
nical amendment to Statement 132(R) that requires a nonpublic entity 
to disclose net periodic benefit cost for each annual period for which a 
statement of operations is presented. The disclosures about plan assets 

required by this FSP shall be provided for fiscal 
years ending after December 15, 2009.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162
“The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles.” This statement iden-
tifies the sources of accounting principles 
and the framework for selecting the princi-
ples to be used in the preparation of financial 
statements that are presented in conformi-
ty with U.S. GAAP. This statement is effective 
60 days following the SEC’s approval of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
amendments to AU Section 411 “The Meaning 
of Present Fairly in Conformity With Gener-
ally Accepted Accounting Principles.” The 
Company does not expect any material impact 
on its financial position and results of opera-
tions with the adoption of this statement.
 
On March 19, 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No. 
161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments 
and Hedging Activities.” The new standard is 
intended to improve financial reporting about 
derivative instruments and hedging activities 
by requiring enhanced disclosures to enable 
investors to better understand their effects 
on an entity’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows. This statement 
is effective for financial statements issued 
for fiscal years and interim periods beginning 
after November 15, 2008. The Company is 
currently analyzing the effect that this state-
ment will have on its financial position and 
results of operations.
 
In December 2007, the FASB published SFAS 
No. 160 “Non Controlling Interests in Consoli-
dated Financial Statements”, an amendment 
of ARB No. 51. This statement addresses the 

reporting of minority interests in the results 
of the parent and provides direction for the 
recording of such interests in the financial 
statements. It also provides guidance for 
the recording of various transactions related 
to the minority interests, as well as certain 
disclosure requirements.
 
SFAS No. 160 will be effective for fiscal years, 
and interim periods beginning after Decem-
ber 15, 2008, earlier adoption is prohibit-
ed and shall be applied prospectively. The 
presentation and disclosure requirements 
shall be applied retrospectively for all periods 
presented. The Company has adopted this 
pronouncement on January 1, 2009.
 
The adoption of this statement will cause 
some changes to the Company’s presenta-
tion of financial results and in the cash flows. 
However, these changes are not expected to 
be of a material nature.
 
In December 2007, the FASB published SFAS 
No. 141-R, which replaces SFAS No. 141, “Busi-
ness Combinations.” This statement improves 
the reporting of information about a business 
combination and its effects. This statement 
establishes principles and requirements for 
how the acquirer will recognize and measure 
the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities 
assumed, and any non-controlling interest in 
the acquisition. Also, the statement deter-
mines the recognition and measurement of 
goodwill acquired in the business combina-
tion or a gain from a bargain purchase, and 
finally, determines the disclosure require-
ments to enable users of the financial state-
ments to evaluate the nature and financial 
effects of the business combination.
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SFAS No. 141-R will be effective for all business combinations with an 
acquisition date on or after the beginning of the first annual report-
ing period after December 15, 2008, earlier adoption is prohibited. 
The Company has adopted this pronouncement on January 1, 2009 
to be applied in any future business combination.

NOTE 3 - SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT:

The balance of short-term investments was as follows:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

Investments 2008 2007

Short-term investments with a

 weighted average interest rate of 1.85% $ 172.4 $ 117.9

Short-term investments in securities consist of available for sale 
securities issued by public companies. The Company has a diversified 
portfolio of investments.
 
In 2008, the Company earned interest of $4.3 million related to these 
investments which were recorded as interest income in the consoli-
dated statement of operations. In addition, in 2008, the Company 
redeemed $45.2 million of these investments.

During 2008 the Company lost $10.3 million on these investments. 
The Company’s management considered this loss to be other than 
temporary, and therefore has recorded it as other expense in the 
consolidated statement of operations.
 
During 2007 the Company invested $380.0 million in short-term 
investment instruments which were indexed to SCC common stock 
prices while others were leveraged and indexed to certain bond 
pools. Related to these investments, the Company realized losses 
of $81.0 million in 2007 which were recorded as loss on derivative 

instruments in the consolidated statement of operations. Addition-
ally, the Company earned interest of $18.7 million on these invest-
ments which were recorded in interest income in the consolidated 
statement of operations. The entire amount of these investment 
instruments were liquidated during the course of 2007.

NOTE 4 - INVENTORIES:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

  2008 2007

Metals and minerals 

Finished goods $ 46.7 $ 65.7
Work-in-process  135.8  140.7

Subtotal  182.5  206.4

Supplies  296.9  275.7

Inventories - Net $ 479.4 $ 482.1

NOTE 5 - INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND OTHER  
UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES:

The investments in associated companies were as follows:

  Equity in

  the results from the

  year ended

 Investment at December 31,  December 31,

 (in millions) (in millions)

Associated companies  %  2008  2007  2008  2007

Ferrosur  75 $ 255.3 $ 291.8 $ 26.5 $ 24.3
FTVM 25  8.7  12.9  4.7  2.4
TTX Company .64  8.8  10.4  0.5  

Other   8.8  2.0       

Investments  $ 281.6 $ 317.1 $ 31.7 $ 26.7
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On May 15, 2008, GFM received a dividend from FTVM amounting to 
$7.2 million.

The acquisition of Ferrosur was accounted on November 24, 2005 
using the “purchase method”, pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 
No. 141 “Business combinations”, issued by FASB. These provisions 
establish that when applying the purchase method, the cost of the 
acquired entity is compared to the assigned amounts (fair value) of 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The allocated fair values were 
determined by means of independent appraisals, public information 
on market prices and management’s estimations.

As a consequence of the application of this method, the Company 
recorded $57.8 million ($57.0 million nominal value) excess in cost of 
the acquired entity over the net of the amounts allocated to assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed (goodwill).

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, Ferrosur is the only subsidiary of 
ITF and it is mainly engaged in providing freight multi-modal railroad 
services and auxiliary services, as well as any activity that directly 
supports and is related to this purpose, including any other supple-
mentary activities to railroad transportation services.

The Mexican Federal Government awarded Ferrosur a 50-year 
concession to operate the Southeast Railroad Track (exclusive for 
30 years), renewable for a similar period, subject to certain condi-
tions. The Mexican Federal Government also sold certain fixed assets 
and the materials necessary to operate the railroad, plus 25% of 
FTVM shares. In addition, in December 2005, Ferrosur obtained 
the rights to operate the Oaxaca-South short line concession for 30 
years, renewable for a period not exceeding 50 years, beginning on 
December 1, 2005.

Ferrosur has the right to use and the obligation to maintain in good 
conditions the trackage rights, railways, buildings and maintenance 
facilities, as well as the ferryboat terminal. Ownership of those assets 
and facilities is retained by the Mexican Federal Government and 
all of the rights over those assets will revert to the Mexican Federal 
Government at the end of the concessions.

GFM owns 25% of the capital stock of FTVM, the entity responsible for operating the Mexico 
City Terminal. The general guidelines for the opening of the investment of the Mexican rail-
road system stipulate that each of the companies associated with a terminal will own 25% of 
the capital of such terminal. The financial position and results of operations of FTVM as of 
and for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are not material to the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company.

In December 2007, GFM acquired 100 shares of TTX Company, whose main activity is providing 
haulage equipment to its members, mainly railroads type I from the U.S.

NOTE 6 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT: 

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Buildings and equipment $ 6,309.4 $ 6,135.4
Locomotives and freight cars  629.8  761.2
Rails and structures  447.6  484.7
Train yards and terminals  107.4  121.4
Other railway equipment  131.8  113.2

  7,626.0  7,615.9
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and depletion  (3,914.0)  (3,724.4)

  3,712.0  3,891.5
Land, other than mineral  283.4  306.6
Construction in progress  732.5  429.0

Property, plant and equipment - Net $ 4,727.9 $ 4,627.1

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to $337.1 
million and $332.9 million, respectively. 
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NOTE 7 - CAPITALIZED LEACHABLE MATERIAL COST:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Capitalized leachable material $ 378.1 $ 374.3
Accumulated amortization  (221.8)  (154.1)

Leachable material - Net $ 156.3 $ 220.2

Amortization of leachable material is included in “Depreciation, amortization and depletion” and 
amounted to $67.7 million and $61.8 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Company’s policy of deferring leachable material increased operating costs by $57.6 million 
and $10.1 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, as compared to what such amounts would have 
been if the Company expensed leachable material costs as incurred.

NOTE 8 - CONCESSION TITLES:

Concessions are comprised of the following:

  As of December 31,

 (in millions)

	 	2008	 	2007

North-Pacific railroad track $ 105.5 $ 131.5
Nogales-Nacozari short railroad track  0.2  0.2
Ojinaga-Topolobampo short railroad track  1.5  1.8
Overhauls  18.6  23.3

  125.8  156.8
Accumulated amortization  (44.5)  (50.3)

Concession titles - Net $ 81.3 $ 106.5

Amortization charged to 2008 and 2007 income amounted to $5.1 million and $5.2 
million, respectively.

The value of the North-Pacific Railway concession title was determined by deducting the value 
of the tangible assets received from the price paid for the Ferromex shares, net of the liability 
arising from the capital lease of 24 locomotives that Ferrocarriles Nacionales de México (FNM) had 
entered into with Arrendadora Internacional, S. A. de C. V. (liquidated since 2001).

Ferromex is entitled to use, and has the obligation to maintain in good condition, the rights of way, 
railroad tracks, buildings and maintenance facilities, title to those assets and facilities; however, 
lies with the Federal Mexican Government and all rights over those assets must be returned to the 
Federal Mexican Government upon termination of the concession term.

NOTE 9 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

	 2008	 2007

Mining concessions $ 121.2 $ 121.2
Mine engineering and development studies  6.0  6.0

  127.2  127.2
Accumulated amortization  (30.1)  (28.4)

  97.1  98.8
Goodwill  181.6  71.0

Intangible assets $ 278.7 $ 169.8

During the last quarter of 2008, GMEXICO, through its subsidiary AMC, acquired approx-
imately 11.8 million shares of SCC’s minority interest. The shares were purchased at fair 
value. The amount paid for the shares was higher than its book value, resulting in goodwill 
of $121.7 millon. The Company in a period not bigger than one year, since of the acquisition 
date, must initiate the process of identifying the fair value of the net assets acquired includ-
ing certain intangibles.

Amortization of intangibles was $1.7 million and $2.3 million for the years ended December 
31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The estimated aggregate amortization expense for intan-
gibles is $10.7 million for the years 2009 through 2013, approximately $2.1 million per year.
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NOTE 10 - MAINTENANCE AGREEMENTS:

GFM has executed one maintenance and repairs agreement with 
Lámparas General Electric, S. de R. L. de C. V. (GE), an agreement 
with GE Transportation Systems México, S. A. de C. V. (GETS), an 
agreement with Alstom Mexicana, S. A. de C. V. (ALSTOM) and an 
agreement with EMD Locomotive Company de México, S.A. de C.V. 
(EMDL) to provide repair and maintenance services, as well as the 
major repairs of Ferromex’s locomotives, as follows:

 Terms of the agreement

  Number of

 Supplier locomotives Initial Date Expiration Date

 GE  252 February 2006 February 2012
 GETS 160 May 1999 December 2026
 ALSTOM 120 November 2004 December 2009
 EMDL  15 June 2006 June 2026

 Total 547

GFM is entitled to cancel some of the maintenance agreements, in which 
case, it would assume the respective cost of early termination. Pursuant 
to the GE agreement that will expire in February 2012, it is not foreseen 
that the GFM decide an early termination thereof.

The GETS agreement for 160 locomotives, includes two separate fleet 
(AC-4400 and ES-4400AC); the AC-4400 agreement, expiring in June 
2024, provides that GFM cannot cancel the agreement until July 1, 2009 
and a penalty would have to be paid ranging from $2.0 million in 2009 to 
$0.13 million in June 2024. As regards the 100 ES-4400AC (EVO) loco-
motives agreement states that GFM shall only cancel it as of 2010 paying 
a penalty from $2.7 million in the year 2010 to $0.17 million in 2026.

The ALSTOM agreement specifies that in case of an early termination, 
GFM would pay starting from the second year of operation, a $0.10 
million charge for expenses incurred in the termination of agreements 
with personnel assigned to ALSTOM, which shall decrease $0.02 million 
per year, and the acquisition by GFM of materials.

The EMDL agreement, shall only be terminated in advance as of 
July 1, 2011. If GFM decides to conclude the contract between July 
1, 2011 and June 30, 2012, GFM must pay an equivalent quantity to 
15 months of average billing, amount which shall be reduced in a 
month per year.

Maintenance and repairs - With respect to the locomotive’s mainte-
nance and repair work, pursuant to the agreements; GFM must make 
monthly payments based on certain fees that include mainly preven-
tive and corrective maintenance. These fees are recorded as mainte-
nance expense in results of operations at the time such services are 
received. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, GFM paid $42.6 million 
and $41.4 million, respectively.

Overhauls - Overhauls are capitalized to property and equipment 
as incurred.

NOTE 11 - LONG-TERM DEBT:

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company was in compli-
ance with the guarantees and restrictions established by the debt 
agreements which include financial covenants and restrictions on 
contracting additional debt and on certain capital expenditures. The 
consolidated debt was as follows:

 Amount in

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

SCC  $ 1,233.6 $ 1,243.3
GFM/ITM  398.3  617.5
MM  56.4  206.4

Total notes payable  1,688.3  2,067.2
Less - Current portion  (49.6)  (313.2)

Long-term debt $ 1,638.7 $ 1,754.0

The maturities of notes payable as of December 31, 2008 were as 
shown on next page.
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 Maturity Amount

  (in millions)

 2009 $ 49.6
 2010  41.6
 2011  10.0
 2012  10.0
 2013  10.0
 Thereafter  1,567.1
  $ 1,688.3

SCC & MM / Mining segment

Long-term debt:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

SCC:

6.375% Notes due 2015 ($200 million face amount, less unamortized discount of 

 $0.9 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007) $ 199.1 $ 199.1
7.500% Notes due 2035 ($1,000 million face amount, less unamortized discount of 

 $15.5 million and $15.8 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively)  984.5  984.2
3.570% Mitsui credit agreement due 2013 [Japanese LIBOR rate plus 1.25% 

  (6.080% at December 31, 2007)]  50.0  60.0

MM:

8.250% Yankee Bonds - Series “A” due 2008    150.0
9.250% Yankee Bonds - Series “B” due 2028  56.4  56.4

Total debt  1,290.0  1,449.7
Less - Current portion  (10.0)  (160.0)

Long-term debt $ 1,280.0 $ 1,289.7

In 1998, MM issued $500 million of unsecured debt, which are referred to as Yankee bonds. 
These bonds were offered in two series: Series “A” for $375 million, with an interest rate 
of 8.250% and a 2008 maturity, and Series “B” for $125 million, with an interest rate of 
9.250% and a 2028 maturity. During 2007, SCC repurchased $68.6 million of the Series “B” 
bonds and with this purchase SCC paid a premium of $16.6 million which were included in the 
consolidated statement of operations on the line “Loss on debt prepayments”. In 2008, MM 
paid $150.0 million of remaining balance of its Series “A” Yankee bonds. Whit this payment 
the Series “A” Yankee bonds were fully repaid. The bonds contain a covenant requiring MM to 

maintain a ratio of EBITDA to interest expense of not less than 2.5 to 
1.0 as such terms are defined by the facility. At December 31, 2008, 
MM is in compliance with this covenant.

In 1999, SCC entered into a $100 million, 15-year loan agreement 
with Mitsui. The interest rate for this loan is the Japanese LIBOR rate 
plus 1.25% (Japanese LIBOR for this loan at December 31, 2008 was 
2.32%). The Mitsui credit agreement is collateralized by pledges of 
receivables on 31,000 tons of copper per year. The Mitsui agreement 
requires SCC to maintain a minimum stockholders’ equity of $750 
million and a specific ratio of debt to equity. Reduction of GMEXICO’s 
direct or indirect voting interest in SCC to less than a majority would 
constitute an event of default under the Mitsui agreement. At Decem-
ber 31, 2008, SCC is in compliance with these covenants.

In July 2005 SCC issued $200 million 6.375% Notes due 2015 at a 
discount of $1.1 million and $600 million 7.500% Notes due 2035, at a 
discount of $5.3 million. The notes are senior unsecured obligations of 
SCC. SCC capitalized $8.8 million of costs associated with this facility 
and are included in “Other assets” on the consolidated balance sheet. 
The net proceeds from the issuance and sale of the notes were prin-
cipally used to repay outstanding indebtedness of the SCC and the 
balance was used for general corporate purposes. SCC filed a Regis-
tration Statement on Form S-4 with respect to these Notes in October, 
2005. In January, 2006, SCC completed an exchange offer for $200 
million, 6.375% Notes due 2015 and $600 million, 7.500% Notes due 
2035. In the exchange offer, $197.4 million of the 6.375% old notes due 
2015 were tendered in exchange for an equivalent amount of new notes 
and an aggregate of $590.5 million of the 7.500% old notes due 2035 
were tendered in exchange for an equivalent amount of new notes. 
The indentures relating to the notes contain certain covenants, includ-
ing limitations on liens, limitations on sale and leaseback transactions, 
rights of the holders of the notes upon the occurrence of a change of 
control triggering event, limitations on subsidiary indebtedness and 
limitations on consolidations, mergers, sales or conveyances. All of 
these limitations and restrictions are subject to a number of significant 
exceptions, and some of these covenants will cease to be applicable 
before the notes mature if the notes attain an investment grade rating. 
At December 31, 2008 SCC is in compliance with these covenants.

On May 9, 2006, SCC issued an additional $400 million 7.500% 
Notes due 2035. These notes are in addition to the $600 million of 

36 - 37 GRUPO MEXICO 200837 



existing 7.500% Notes due 2035 that were issued in July 2005. The 
current transaction was issued at a spread of +240 basis points over 
the 30-year U.S. Treasury bond. The original issue in July 2005 was 
issued at a spread of +315 basis points over the 30-year U.S. Treasury 
bond. The notes were issued at a discount of $10.8 million. SCC capi-
talized $3.2 million of cost associated with this facility and is includ-
ed in “Other assets” on the consolidated balance sheet. SCC used 
proceeds from the May 2006 issuance for its expansion programs.

The notes issued in July 2005 and the new notes issued in May 2006 
are treated as a single series of notes under the indenture, including 
for purposes of covenants, waivers and amendments. SCC has regis-
tered these notes under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Aggregate maturities of the outstanding borrowings at December 31, 
2008, are as follows:

 Year Principal Due

  (in millions)

 2009 $ 10.0
 2010  10.0
 2011  10.0
 2012  10.0
 2013  10.0
 Thereafter  1,256.4

 Total $ 1,306.4

Total debt maturities do not include the debt discount valuation 
account of $16.4 million.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, “Other assets” included $5.9 
million and $6.8 million, respectively, held in escrow accounts as 
required by the SCC’s loan agreements. The funds are released from 
escrow as scheduled loan repayments are made.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the balance of capitalized debt 
issuance costs was $11.2 million and $11.8 million, respectively. 
Amortization charged to interest expense was $0.6 million and $0.8 
million in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

ITM & GFM / Railway segment

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

Long-term debt contracts in U.S. dollar:  2008  2007

Loan from BNP PARIBAS (BNP) and Export-Import Bank (EXIM), 

with maturities every three months up to July 25, 2013, subject to 

an interests at the LIBOR rate for three months plus 0.09% (1) $ 22.0 $ 26.7

Loan from HSBC Bank plc and Export Development Canada (EDC), 

with maturities every six months up to November 26, 2014, subject

to an interests at the LIBOR rate for six months plus 0.08% (2)  17.2  20.1

Loan from HSBC, with maturities every six months up to November 26, 2014,

subject to an interests at the LIBOR rate for six months plus 0.40% (2)  3.0  3.4

Loan from CALYON and EXIM with maturities every three months up to June 15, 2016, 

subject to an interests at the LIBOR rate for three months without spread (3)  62.4  70.8

Loan from CALYON with maturities every three months up to June 15, 2016, subject 

to an interests at the LIBOR rate for three months plus 0.40% to 0.50% (3)  17.4  19.8

Loan from Bank of America N.A. (BOFA) with the guarantee of EXIM, with payments every six 

months up to August 2009, subject to an interests at the LIBOR rate for six months plus 0.1% (4)  8.0  16.0

Long-term debt contracts in Mexican pesos:

Loan from BANAMEX and EXIM with maturities every three months up to 

September 15, 2015, subject to an interest at the fixed rate 8.18% (5)  69.6  99.5

Loan from BANAMEX with maturities every three months up to March 15, 2014, 

subject to an interest at the fixed rate 8.25% (5)  14.0  20.7

Debt paper (Certificados Bursátiles) (6)  184.7  340.5

  398.3  617.5

Less - Current portion   (39.6)  (153.2)

Long-term debt $ 358.7 $ 464.3
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Long-term debt matures as follows:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 Maturity  2008    2007

 2008   $ 153.2
 2009 $ 39.6  42.8
 2010  31.6  34.8
 2011 and thereafter  327.1  386.7

    358.7  464.3
 
   $ 398.3 $ 617.5

(1) In order to secure the loans from BNP and EXIM on December 
30, 2004 and on January 27, 2005, an irrevocable trust guaran-
tee was set up, with Banco Nacional de México, S. A. (BANAMEX) 
as the trustee, GFM as the trustor, EXIM as the trust beneficiary 
in the first instance and BNP as trust beneficiary in the second 
instance, for which GFM pledged the rights of 25 acquired loco-
motives that gave rise to these loans, as well as the titles and 
interest on the guarantees provided to the trustee.

(2) Loans from HSBC Bank pcl - EDC and HSBC, respectively 
contracted for the purchase of 15 SD70ACe locomotives, which 
are pledged for these loans.

(3) Loans from CALYON - EXIM and CALYON, respectively contract-
ed for the purchase of 40 locomotives, which are pledged for 
these loans.

 On March 17, 2008, GFM contracted an interest rate derivative 
with BBVA Bancomer, S. A. (BANCOMER) for a notional amount 
of $80 million to cover the CALYON - EXIM and CALYON loans. 
Ferromex is jointly liable and guarantor of the GFM derivative. 
GFM is required to pay interest at an annual fixed rate of 2.8% on 

both loans, and BANCOMER has the option to cancel the fixed rate 
on March 16, 2010, in which case, the variable rates noted in the 
previous page, less 0.30%, would remain in effect. At December 
31, 2008 the interest rate derivative which resulted on a loss of 
$2.3 million was recorded on “Loss on derivative instruments” in 
the consolidated statement of operations. The effect of variation 
between the contracted rate and the derivative rate in 2008 was 
favorable by $0.1 million.

 GFM periodically contracts hedges as protection against interest-
rate risk on outstanding loans.

 Ferromex holds no derivative instruments.

(4) In order to secure the loans from BOFA - EXIM, an irrevocable trust 
guarantee was set up, with BANAMEX as the trustee, Ferromex 
as the trustor, EXIM as the trust beneficiary in the first instance 
and BOFA as trust beneficiary in the second instance, for which 
Ferromex yielded to the trust the rights to 35 acquired locomo-
tives that gave rise to this loan, as well as the titles and interest on 
the guarantees provided to the trustee.

(5) Loans from BANAMEX - EXIM and BANAMEX, contracted to settle 
in advance the bridge loan from BANAMEX, used for the purchase 
of 60 locomotives, which are pledged for these loans.

 In the loans (1) to (3) and (5) Ferromex signed as guarantor.

(6) Debt paper program (Certificados Bursátiles): 

 Ferromex had a program authorized by the Mexican Securities and 
Exchange Commission (CNBV), to issue debt paper in the aggre-
gated amount of $5,000 million Mexican pesos (nominal value), 
during a period of four years, beginning on December 10, 2003.

 On November 13, 2007, the CNBV authorized to Ferromex a new 
program of debt paper up to an amount of $5,000 million Mexican 
pesos (nominal value), during a 4-year term.

 Ferromex had issued debt paper under these programs with the 
following features and whose balances are as shown on next page.

40 - 41 GRUPO MEXICO 200841 



 December 31,

  Date of Maturity   (in millions)

 Issuance Transaction Date Annual Rate (%) 2008 2007

 

FERROMX - 03 Dec 11, 2003 Dec 4, 2008 CETES 91 days + 2.15%   $ 46.0

Reopening of

FERROMX - 03 March 12, 2004 Dec 4, 2008 CETES 91 days + 2.24%    64.4

FERROMX - 07 Nov 16, 2007 Nov 7, 2014 TIIE 28 days + 0.34% $ 73.9  92.0

FERROMX - 07- 2 Nov 16, 2007 Oct 28, 2022 Fixed rate of 9.03%  110.8  138.1

    $ 184.7 $ 340.5

The loans and the debt paper establish certain covenants for GFM, 
which at December 31, 2008 had been fulfilled.

The interests paid during 2008 and 2007 were $44.5 millions and 
$44.7 millions, respectively.

The average annual rates for the years ended on December 31, 
2008 and 2007 were: 6-month LIBOR 3.05% and 5.25%, 3-month 
LIBOR of 2.91% and 5.30% and TIIE for 28 days 7.50% and 7.66%, 
respectively.

NOTE 12 - INCOME TAX, ASSET TAX AND FLAT TAX:

The results of the Company’s subsidiaries are consolidated results 
in these financial statements, but these results are not included in a 
consolidated tax return.

The following table summarizes the components of the provision 
(benefit) for each jurisdiction for current and deferred income tax 
were prepared under SFAS No. 109 in 2008 and 2007 and were as 
shown on next page.

 For the year ended December 31, 2008

 Mexico U.S. Peru Total

 (in millions)

Income tax:

U.S. Federal and state:

Current   $ 0.1 ($ 29.9) ($ 29.8)
Deferred         (15.1)   (15.1)

   $ 0.1 ($ 45.0) ($ 44.9)
Income tax:

Current $ 373.9    $ 546.9  $ 920.8
Deferred   (88.4)     (6.6)   (95.0)

   285.5     540.3   825.8

Total provision for income tax $ 285.5 $ 0.1  $ 495.3  $ 780.9

 

 For the year ended December 31, 2007

 Mexico U.S. Peru  Total

 (in millions)

Income tax:

U.S. Federal and state:

Current   $ 101.1 $ 79.8  $ 180.9
Deferred         (48.3)   (48.3)

   $ 101.1 $ 31.5  $ 132.6
Income tax:

Current  $ 457.7   $ 633.7  $ 1,091.4
Deferred   31.9    78.4   110.3

   489.6    712.1   1,201.7

Total income tax  $ 489.6 $ 101.1 $ 743.6  $ 1,334.3

Asset tax ($ 0.2)     ($ 0.2)

Total provision for income tax  $ 489.4 $ 101.1 $ 743.6  $ 1,334.1
 

42 - 43 GRUPO MEXICO 200843 



The reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:

 Year ended as of 

 December 31,

 2008 2007

Expected tax 30.0% 30.0%

Effect of income taxed at a rate other than the statutory rate 7.0 (1.0)
Depletion  (5.1) 
Dividends  2.7
Permanent differences 1.3 1.0
Peru tax on net income deemed distributed 2.0 1.4
Increase in valuation allowance 0.1 

Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits for uncertain 

   tax positions (3.8)
Other  3.4  3.1

Effective income tax rate 34.9% 37.2%

The Company files income tax returns in 
three jurisdictions, Peru, Mexico and U.S. 
each of which has a different statutory rate 
for 2008. For the two years presented above 
the statutory income tax rate for Peru was 
30%, for Mexico the statutory tax rate was 
28% and for the U.S. the statutory tax rate 
was 35%. The expected tax rate used above 
is the statutory tax rate for Peru.

The Company has chosen to use the Peru-
vian income tax rate of 30% for this tax 
rate reconciliation because the Peruvian 
income tax provision is the largest compo-
nent of the tax expense for each of the two 

years presented. For all of the years present-
ed, both SCC and GMEXICO filed separate 
tax returns in their respective tax jurisdic-
tions. Although the tax rules and regulations 
imposed in the separate tax jurisdictions may 
vary significantly, similar permanent items 
exist, such as items which are nondeductible 
or nontaxable. Some permanent differences 
relate specifically to SCC, such as the allow-
ance in the U.S. for percentage depletion.

Temporary differences and carryforwards that 
gave rise to deferred tax liabilities, assets and 
related valuation allowances were shown on 
next page.

 As of December 31,

 (in millons)

  2008 2007

Assets:

Inventories ($ 0.4)  $ 14.3
Capitalized exploration expenses  11.6  11.7
Foreign tax credit carryforward  52.8  2.9
AMT credit carryforwards    27.6
Unrelized loss on short-term investment  2.2  9.9
Reserves  135.2  135.2
Tax loss carryforwards  25.3  34.2
Capital loss carryforward  28.6  
Valuation allowance  (28.6)  (34.1)
Other   21.2   28.6
 

Total deferred tax assets   247.9   230.3

Liabilities:

Property and equipment  (193.1)  (266.6)
Deferred charges  (51.0)  (83.9)
Other   (17.8)   (28.1)

Total deferred tax liabilities   (261.9)   (378.6)
Total net deferred tax liabilities ($ 14.0) ($ 148.3)

At December 31, 2008, SCC has a capital loss carryforward of $81.8 
million related to closed derivative transactions. This capital loss 
carryforward will expire in 2012 if it is not used against taxable capital 
gains before then. The Company has placed a full valuation allowance 
of $28.6 million on the deferred tax asset related to this capital loss 
carryforward because the Company’s management believes it is not 
more likely than not that the benefit of this capital loss carryforward 
will be realized.

The Company believes it is more likely than not that the remaining 
losses of $25.3 million generated prior to 2005 will be utilized is high 
due to the increase in revenue from equipment leasing agreements 
and for the law changes and has removed the remaining valuation 
allowance. These losses will expire as follows: $0.9 million in 2012, 
$21.8 million in 2013 and $2.6 million 2014.
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GMEXICO and Mexican Subsidiaries/MEXICO

In accordance with Mexican tax law, effective in 2008 GMEXICO and 
its Mexican subsidiaries are subject to income tax and flat tax. In 
2007, they were subject to income tax and asset tax. The Mexican 
income tax law as amended reduced the income tax rate from 29% 
in 2006 to 28% in 2007 and 2008, where it is expected to remain in 
the foreseeable future.

Until 2007 asset tax was calculated by applying 1.25% to the Compa-
ny’s asset position, as defined in the law, and is payable only to the 
extent that it exceeds the income tax payable for the same period. If 
in any year asset tax exceeded the income tax payable, the asset tax 
payment for such excess might be reduced by the amount by which 
the income tax exceeded the asset tax in the three preceding years 
and any required payment of asset tax was creditable against the 
excess of the income tax over asset tax of the following 10 years.

As of 2007 GMEXICO and some of its Mexican subsidiaries (mainly 
corporate companies and the railway segment) obtained authoriza-
tion to file a consolidated income and asset tax return.

MM and its subsidiaries obtained authorization to file a consolidat-
ed income and asset tax return. Thus, MM prepares a consolidated 
income tax return, which includes all of its subsidiaries. Additional-
ly, MM’s subsidiaries file individual income tax returns. The Mexican 
Income Tax Law approved on November 13, 2004 the tax consoli-
dation to 100% starting on 2005 as part of the amendments to the 
Income Tax Law of the parent’s equity interest. In 2008, the Company 
benefited from the law change and from increased revenues from 
intercompany equipment leasing arrangements and utilized $8.7 
million of carryforward bases.

On October 1, 2007 the Mexican Government enacted a new law, 
which took effect on January 1, 2008. The law introduces a flat tax, 
which replaces Mexico’s asset tax and applies along with Mexico’s 
regular income tax. In general, Mexican companies are subject to 
paying the greater of the flat tax or the income tax.

The flat tax is calculated by applying a 16.5% tax rate in 2008, a 17% 
tax rate in 2009, and 17.5% in 2010 and the following years. Although 
the flat tax is defined as a minimum tax it has a wider taxable base as 

many of the tax deductions allowed for income tax purposes are not 
allowed for the flat tax.

The Company’s management according to their financial and tax 
projections, determined that income tax will be higher than flat 
tax, so the Company did not recognized any deferred flat tax. As of 
December 31, 2008 this tax law change did not have an effect on the 
Company’s deferred tax position.

AMC and SCC/U.S. and PERU

U.S. Tax Matters-
U.S. income taxes are not accrued for the unremitted earnings of 
foreign subsidiaries that have been or are intended to be invested 
indefinitely. The Company has not established a U.S. deferred tax 
liability for $2.0 billion in unremitted earnings as of December 31, 
2008. It is not practicable to estimate an amount of tax that could 
be payable if there was a remittance of the earnings that are to be 
permanently reinvested.

At December 31, 2008, the foreign tax credit (FTC) carryforward 
available to reduce possible future U.S. income tax amounted to 
approximately $52.8 million. All FTC’s generated in 2008 can be 
carried forward for 10 years. They will expire without benefit, if they 
are not utilized by 2019. There are no other U.S. tax credits available 
for carryforward or carryback.

In 2006, the foreign tax credit (FTC) carryforward available amount-
ed to approximately $102.4 million. The FTC carryforwards were 
utilized in 2007 as a result of the $957.0 million cash dividend from 
its MM subsidiary.

Without the benefit of these carryovers, in 2007 the Company would 
have had to pay a U.S. current cash tax of approximately $90.0 million 
on the dividend income in 2007. The additional U.S. tax on the divi-
dend from Mexico is the result of the rate differential between the 
U.S. federal tax rate and the Mexican effective tax rate.

Peruvian Tax Matters-
SCC obtains income tax credits in Peru for value-added taxes paid in 
connection with the purchase of capital equipment and other goods 
and services employed in its operations and records these credits 
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as a prepaid expense. Under current Peruvian law, SCC is entitled to 
use the credits against its Peruvian income tax liability or to receive 
a refund. The carrying value of these Peruvian tax credits approxi-
mates their net realizable value.

FIN No. 48 - Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

FIN 48 was issued in July 2006 and interprets SFAS No. 109. FIN 
48 became effective for the Company on January 1, 2007 and 
prescribes a comprehensive model for the recognition, measure-
ment, financial statement presentation and disclosure of uncer-
tain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 
48 provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and 
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
 
The Company classifies income tax-related interest and penalties as 
income taxes in the consolidated financial statements.

The variation of unrecognized tax benefits were as follows in millions:

 

 2008 2007

Opening balance $ 136.3 $ 32.0
Adjustment to unrecognized tax benefits at implementation    84.1
Increases:

Tax positions in prior period  11.6  11.5
Current period tax positions  17.6  18.8
Decreases:

Tax positions in prior period    (10.1)
Recognition of benefits from resolution of issues

 with IRS  (90.2)  

Those related to settlements with taxing authorities  (10.4)  

Ending balance $ 64.9 $ 136.3

The decrease in the 2008 unrecognized tax benefit of $71.4 million 
relates primarily to the completion of the audits for the tax years 

1997-2002 and individually insignificant increases and decreases in 
the current and prior year tax positions.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the amount of unrecognized tax bene-
fits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate was $18.4 
million and $42.6 million, respectively, which were related entirely to 
U.S. Income tax matters. The Company has no unrecognized Peruvian 
or Mexican tax benefits.
 
As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the liability for uncertain tax posi-
tions included accrued interest and penalties of $5.4 million and $19.7 
million, respectively.
 
On November 13, 2008, the Company and the IRS reached an agree-
ment with respect to the audit results of the Company’s 1997 through 
2002 U.S. federal income tax returns. In November 2008 the Company 
made a $10.4 million cash tax payment to the IRS for the settlement of 
the audit. Approximately $19.0 million of interest expense related to this 
settlement is expected to be paid in 2009.

In the U.S., the tax years 2003 and 2004 are currently before the appeals 
division of the IRS. The tax years 2005, 2006 and 2007 are current-
ly under IRS field examination, which commenced in November 2008. 
The Company does not expect that any of the open years will result in 
a cash payment within the preceding twelve months of December 31, 
2009. The Company’s reasonable expectations about future resolu-
tions of uncertain items did not materially change during the year ended 
December 31, 2008.

The following tax years remain open to examination and adjustment by 
the Company’s three tax jurisdictions:

Peru: 2003 and all following years (years 1997 through 2002 have 
been examined by the Peruvian tax authority and the issues 
raised are being contested; no new issues can be raised for 
these years)

U.S.: 2003 and all future years

Mexico: 2002 and all following years
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During the first quarter of 2009 GMEXICO, through its wholly 
owned subsidiary AMC, purchased 4.9 million SCC’s shares. With 
this purchase and the SCC’s repurchase of its common shares, the 
indirect ownership of GMEXICO increased from 79.0% to 80.0% its 
interest on SCC at March 31, 2009. Likewise with this repurchase, 
SCC has initiated discussions with AMC to put in place a tax sharing 
agreement and entire disclosures about the US tax and SFAS No. 
109 implications.

NOTE 13 - EMPLOYEES’ STATUTORY PROFIT SHARING:

The Company’s operations in Peru and Mexico are subject to statuto-
ry workers’ participation.

In Peru, the provision for workers’ participation is calculated at 8% 
of pre-tax earnings. The current portion of this participation, which 
is accrued during the year, is based on Branch’s taxable income and 
is distributed to workers following determination of final results for 
the year. In Mexico, workers’ participation is determined using the 
guidelines established in the Mexican Income Tax Law at a rate of 
10% of pre-tax earnings.

The provision for workers’ participation is included in “Cost of sales 
(exclusive of depreciation, amortization and depletion)” and “Admin-
istrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of operations. For 
the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, workers’ participation 
expense was $230.6 million and $327.4 million, respectively.

The deferred employees’ statutory profit sharing - Mexican law 
requires companies to pay their employees 10% of taxable profit 
each year. The profit sharing arrangement has deferred tax conse-
quences to the extent that basis differences exist between finan-
cial reporting and income tax reporting. Prior years’ losses are not 
deductible in calculating profit sharing. Starting 2006 profit sharing 
expense is deductible in arriving at taxable income. The components 
of the net deferred employees’ statutory profit sharing liability as of 
December 31 2008 and 2007 were as shown on next page.

 December 31,

 (in millons)

 2008 2007

Assets:

Inventories ($ 5.0) ($ 8.1)
Non-deductible reserves  40.0  41.7
Other   (1.3)   (1.5)

Total assets   33.7   32.1

Liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment  (41.7)  (54.2)
Deferred charges  (18.0)  (29.3)
Others   1.2   (0.2)

Total liabilities   (58.5)   (83.7)

Total deferred employees’ statutory profit sharing liability ($ 24.8) ($ 51.6)

NOTE 14 - ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION:

SCC maintains an estimated asset retirement obligation for its mining 
properties in Peru, as required by the Peruvian Mine Closure Law. 
In accordance with the law, a conceptual mine closure plan, without 
costs, was submitted to the Peruvian Ministry of Energy and Mines 
(MEM) in August 2006. SCC received MEM’s response in November 
2007 and responded to MEM’s review in March 2008. In June 2008, 
the MEM requested additional information regarding the closure plan. 
SCC complied with this request in July 2008. From September 2008 
through November 2008, public discussion of the SCC’s closure plan 
has taken place in the areas of the SCC’s operations. In addition, this 
closure plan has been reviewed in Peru with the Instituto Nacional de 
Recursos Naturales (INRENA for its acronym in Spanish) and the Direc-
ción General de Salud Ambiental (DIGESA for its acronym in Spanish), 
the Peruvian government agencies responsible for the preservation of 
natural resources and for environmental and water resources, respec-
tively. SCC is awaiting MEM’s report, which is expected to consolidate 
the issues raised in the recent review for the closure plan.
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The closure cost recognized for this liability includes the estimated 
cost required at the Peruvian operations, based on SCC’s experience, 
also includes cost at the Ilo smelter, the tailing disposal, dismantling 
the Toquepala and Cuajone concentrators, and the shops and auxilia-
ry facilities. 

As of December 31, 2008, SCC has made an estimated provision of $18.0 
million for this liability in these consolidated financial statements, but 
SCC believes that this estimate should be viewed with caution, pending 
final approval of the mine closure plan.

The following is a reconciliation of the asset retirement obligation:

 Years ended December 31,

 2008 and 2007

 (in millions)

Balance January 1, 2007 $ 12.2
Additions, changes in estimates  

Accretion expense  0.9

Balance, December 31, 2007  13.1
Additions, changes in estimates  4.1
Accretion expense  0.8

Balance, December 31, 2008 $ 18.0

NOTE 15 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION:

The Company has entered into certain transactions in the ordinary 
course of business with parties in which the Company is the control-
ling shareholder or with its affiliates. These transactions include the 
lease of office space, air transportation and construction services and 
products and services relating to mining and refining. The Company 
lends and borrows funds among affiliates for acquisitions and other 
corporate purposes. These financial transactions bear interests and 
are subject to review and approval by senior management, as are all 
related party transactions. It is the Company’s policy that the Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors shall review all related party 

transactions. The Company is prohibited from entering or continuing 
a material related party transaction that has not been reviewed and 
approved or ratified by the Audit Committee.

The Larrea family controls a majority of the capital stock of GMEXICO, 
and has extensive interests in other businesses, including oil drill-
ing services, construction, aviation, and real estate. The Company 
engages in certain transactions in the ordinary course of business 
with other entities controlled by the Larrea family relating to mining 
and refining services, the lease of office space, and air transportation 
and construction services. In connection with this, the Company paid 
fees of $4.7 million and $7.5 million in 2008 and 2007, respective-
ly, for maintenance services and sale of vehicles provided by México 
Compañía de Productos Automotrices, S. A. de C.V., a company 
controlled by the Larrea family. Also, in 2007, the Company paid fees 
of $0.8 million for drilling services provided by Perforadora México, S. 
A. de C. V., a company controlled by the Larrea family. Additionally, in 
the third quarter of 2006, one of the Company’s Mexican subsidiaries 
provided a short-term interest bearing loan of $10.6 million to México 
Transportes Aéreos, S. A. de C. V. (MexTransport) for the purchase of 
an airplane, which was paid in the first quarter of 2007. MexTransport, 
a company controlled by the Larrea family, provides aviation services 
to the Mexican operations. The Mexican subsidiaries have provided 
a guaranty for a new $10.8 million loan obtained by MexTransport. 
The guaranty provided to MexTransport is backed up by the transport 
services provided by MexTransport to the Company’s Mexican subsid-
iaries. The Company paid fees of $6.1 million and $1.2 million in 2008 
and 2007, respectively to MexTransport for aviation services.
 
SCC and subsidiaries purchased $4.0 million and $6.3 million in 2008 
and 2007, respectively, of industrial materials from Higher Technology 
S.A.C., in which Mr. Carlos González has a proprietary interest. SCC paid 
fees of $0.8 million and $0.7 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, for 
maintenance services provided by Servicios y Fabricaciones Mecánicas 
S.A.C., a company in which Mr. Carlos González has a proprietary inter-
est. Mr. Carlos González is the son of SCC’s Chief Executive Officer.

SCC and subsidiaries purchased $0.7 million in 2008 and 2007, of 
industrial material from Sempertrans France Belting Technology, in 
which Mr. Alejandro Gonzalez is employed as a sales representative. 
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SCC also purchased $0.5 million and $0.3 
million in 2008 and 2007, respectively, of 
industrial material from PIGOBA, S.A. de C.V., a 
company in which Mr. Alejandro González has 
a proprietary interest. Mr. Alejandro González 
is the son of SCC’s Chief Executive Officer.
 
SCC and subsidiaries purchased $2.2 million 
and $3.6 million in 2008 and 2007, respec-
tively, of industrial material and services from 
Breaker, S.A. de C.V., a company in which Mr. 
Jorge Gonzalez has a proprietary interest. 
Mr. Jorge González is the son-in-law of SCC’s 
Chief Executive Officer.
 
ITM paid lease office space of $1.3 million and 
$1.2 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively to 
Inmobiliaria Bosques de Ciruelos, S. A. de C. 
V., a company controlled by the Larrea family.
 
It is anticipated that in the future the Company 
will enter into similar transactions with the 
same parties.

 Year ended 

 December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Interest cost $ 0.7 $ 0.6
Expected return on plan assets  (0.5)  (0.5)
Amortization of net loss    (*)  0.1

Net periodic benefit cost $ 0.2 $ 0.2

(*) Less than $0.1 million.

The change in benefit obligation and plan assets and a reconciliation of funded status are 
as shown on next page.

NOTE 16 - BENEFIT PLANS:

Peruvian Operations
SCC has two noncontributory defined benefit 
pension plans covering former salaried 
employees in the U.S. and certain former 
employees in Peru. Also, SCC has a post retire-
ment health care plan.

Peru/Defined Benefit Pension Plan -
Effective on October 31, 2000, the SCC’s Board 
of Directors amended the qualified pension 
plan to suspend the accrual of benefits.
 
The components of net periodic benefit costs 
calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 87 
“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” using 
December 31, as a measurement date, consist 
of the following:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Change in benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 11.6  $ 12.4
Interest cost  0.6  0.6
Benefits paid  (0.9)  (0.9)
Actuarial gain (loss)  0.1   (0.5)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 11.4  $ 11.6

Change in Plan Assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 12.4  $ 12.0
Actual return on plan assets  (0.1)  0.8
Employer contributions  1.5  0.5
Benefits paid  (0.9)   (0.9)
Administrative expenses        

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 12.9  $ 12.4

Funded Status at end of year: $ 1.5  $ 0.8

SFAS No. 158 amounts recognized in statement of financial 

position consists of: 

Non current assets $ 1.5 $ 0.8
Current liabilities    

Non current liabilities      

Total $ 1.5 $ 0.8

SFAS No. 158 amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive

income consists of:

Net loss net of income tax  $ 2.2 $ 1.8
Prior service cost    

Transition obligation      

Total (net of income tax of $1.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively) $ 2.2 $ 1.8
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The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income, 
related to the pension plans (net of income tax):
 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Reconciliation of accumulated other comprehensive income:

Accumulated other comprehensive income at beginning of plan year $ 1.8 $ 2.4
Net loss (gain) amortized during the year    (*)   (*)
Net loss (gain) occurring during the year  0.4  (0.6)

Net adjustment to acccumulated other comprehensive income  0.4  (0.6)

Accumulated other comprehensive income at end of plan year  $ 2.2 $ 1.8

(*) Less than $0.1 million.

The following table summarizes the amounts in accumulative other comprehensive income 
amortized and recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost (net of income tax):

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Amortization of prior service cost (credit)    

Amortization of net losses ($ 0.1) ($ 0.1)

Total amortization expenses ($ 0.1) ($ 0.1)

The assumptions used to determine the pension obligation and seniority premiums as of year 
end and net cost in the ensuing year were:

 2008  2007

Discount rate 6.30% 6.25%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan asset  4.50% 4.50%
Rate of increase in future compensation level N/A N/A

 

The scheduled maturities of the benefits expected to be paid in each 
of the next 5 years, and thereafter, are as follows:

  Expected

  Benefit Payments

 Year (in millions)

 2009 $ 0.9
 2010  0.9
 2011  0.9
 2012  0.9
 2013  0.9
 2014 a 2018  4.5

 Total $ 9.0

SCC’s funding policy is to contribute amounts to the qualified plan 
sufficient to meet the minimum funding requirements set forth in the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, plus such addi-
tional amounts as SCC may determine to be appropriate. Plan assets 
are invested in stock and bond funds.
 
SCC’s policy for determining asset mix-targets includes periodic 
consultation with recognized third party investment consultants. 
The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is updated 
periodically, taking into consideration asset allocations, historical 
returns and the current economic environment. Based on these 
factors, SCC expect it’s assets will earn an average of 4.5% per 
annum assuming it’s long-term mix will be consistent with it’s 
current mix and an assumed discount rate of 6.25%. The fair value 
of plan assets is impacted by general market conditions. If actual 
returns on plan assets vary from the expected returns, actual 
results could differ.

Peru/Post-retirement Health Care Plan -
SCC adopted the post-retirement health care plan for retired 
salaried employees eligible for Medicare on May 1, 1996. The plan 
is unfunded.
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Effective on October 31, 2000, the health care plan for retirees was 
terminated and SCC informed retirees that they would be covered 
by the then in effect post-retirement health care plan of Asarco, 
which offered substantially the same benefits and required the same 
contributions. As a result of the Chapter 11 proceedings, Asarco is 
no longer managing the plan. SCC has assumed management of the 
plan and is currently providing health benefits to retirees. The plan 
is accounted in accordance with SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Account-
ing for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions”, as amended 
by SFAS No. 158.

The components of net period benefit costs are as follows:

 Year ended

 December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Service cost    

Amortization of net (gain) loss  (*)  (*)
Amortization of prior services (credit) cost  (*)  (*)
Interest cost $ 0.1 $ 0.1

Net periodic benefit cost $ 0.1 $ 0.1

(*) Less than $0.1 million.

The change in benefit obligation and a reconciliation of funded status 
are as shown on next page.

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

  2008  2007

Change in Benefit Obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 1.3  $ 1.4
Interest cost  0.1  0.1
Plan Amendments    

Benefits paid  (0.1)  (0.1)
Actuarial loss (gain)   0.6   (0.1)

Benefit obligation at end of year  $ 1.9  $ 1.3

Change in Plan Assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year    

Employer contributions  $ 0.1  $ 0.1
Benefits paid   (0.1)   (0.1)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $     $  

Funded status at end of year ($ 1.9) ($ 1.3)
SFAS No. 158 amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial

position consists of:

 

Non current assets

Current liabilities  (0.1)  (0.1) 
Non current liabilities   (1.8)   (1.2) 

Total ($ 1.9) ($ 1.3) 

SFAS No. 158 amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income

consists of:

Net loss  $ 1.0  $ 0.4
Prior service credit   (0.2)   (0.3) 

Total (net of income tax)  $ 0.8  $ 0.1
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The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income 
related to the pension and post-retirement plans (pre-tax):

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Reconciliation of accumulated other comprehensive income:

Accumulated other comprehensive income at beginning of plan year $ 0.1 $ 0.1

Net loss (gain) curring during the year  0.7  
Net loss (gain) amortized during the year   (*)  (*)

Net adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income  0.7  (*)

Accumulated other comprehensive income at end of plan year $ 0.8 $ 0.1

(*) Less than $0.1 million.

The following table summarizes the amounts in accumulative other comprehensive income 
amortized and recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost (net of income tax):

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

  2008 2007

Amortization of prior service cost $ 0.1 $ 0.1
Amortization of net losses  (0.1)  (0.1)

Total amortization expenses $  $ 

The discount rates used in the calculation of other post-retirement benefits and cost as of 
December 31, 2008 and 2007 were 6.25% and 5.50%, respectively.

The benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five years, and 
thereafter, are as follows:

  Expected

 Year Benefit Payments

  (in millions)

 2009 $ 0.1
 2010  0.1
 2011  0.1
 2012  0.1
 2013  0.1
 2014 to 2017  0.7

 Total $ 1.2

For measurement purposes, a 8% annual rate of increase in the per 
capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2008. 
The rate is assumed to decrease gradually to 5% for 2014 and remain 
at that level thereafter.

Assumed health care cost trend rates can have a significant effect 
on the amount reported for the health care plan. A one percentage-
point change in assumed health care trend rate would not have a 
significant effect.

Mexican Operations

MM/Defined Benefit Pension Plans -
MM has established for its salaried employees a defined contribu-
tion benefit pension plan. This plan is in addition to benefits granted 
by the Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social (IMSS). Under this plan, 
MM will make yearly matching contributions equaling 3% of partic-
ipating employee’s base salary. Related to this, MM recorded a 
contribution expense of $0.7 million in 2008 and 2007. The defined 
contribution plan liability was $2.4 million and $3.4 million in 2008 
and 2007, respectively.
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The benefits earned in MM’s defined benefit plan are based on sala-
ries adjusted by inflation. As Mexico has experienced a period of low 
inflation in recent years, the benefits earned from the IMSS have 
exceeded those earned from MM’s non-contributory defined benefit 
plan. Due to this fact, and due to the fact that MM wants to assure 
the economic well being of its retired employees, MM decided in 
2006 to create a new defined contribution plan. Certain groups of 
salaried employees agreed to transfer from the non-contributory 
defined benefit plan to the new defined contribution plan. Bene-
fits earned by participating employees as of January 1, 2006 were 
transferred into the new defined contribution plan. The initial trans-
fer of benefits from the non-contributory defined benefit plan to 
the new defined contribution plan equaled $13.7 million.
 
In 2006 the change in plan was accounted for as a settlement 
under SFAS No. 88, “Employee’s Accounting for Settlements and 
Curtailments of Deferred Benefit Pension Plans and for Termina-
tion Benefits”. MM recorded a $1.7 million settlement gain in rela-
tion to the change in plan.
 
MM has established for its union employees a non-contributo-
ry defined benefit pension plan. This plan is in addition to benefits 
granted by IMSS.

The components of net periodic benefit costs calculated in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 87 “Employers Accounting for Pensions”, using 
December 31, as a measurement date, are described as follows:

 For the years

  ended December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Interest cost $ 2.0 $ 2.2
Service cost  2.4  2.2
Expected return on plan assets  (2.9)  (3.1)
Amortization of transition assets, net  (0.1)  (0.1)
Amortization of net actuarial loss  (0.7)  (0.2)
Settlement (gain)    

Amortization of prior services cost  0.2  0.2

Net period benefit cost $ 0.9 $ 1.2

The change in benefit obligation and plan assets are as follows:

 December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Change in benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 39.8  $ 36.1
Service cost  2.4  2.2
Interest cost  2.0  2.2
Actuarial (loss) gain, net  (4.7)  
Amendments    

Settlements  1.0  
Benefits paid  (6.8)  (0.7)
Inflation adjustment   (6.8)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year  $ 26.9  $ 39.8
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $ 40.2  $ 33.6
Actual return on plan assets  (5.6)  7.5
Transfer of assets  (0.7)  
Benefits paid  (0.5)  (0.5)
Currency exchange rate adjustment   (6.7)   (0.4)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $ 26.7  $ 40.2

Funded status ($ 0.2)  $ 0.4

SFAS No. 158 amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial

position consists of:

Non current assets     $ 0.4
Current liabilities    

Non current liabilities ($ 0.2)  

Total ($ 0.2)  $ 0.4

SFAS No. 158 amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income

consists of:

Net gain ($ 1.6) ($ 4.8)
Prior service cost  0.7  1.2
Transition asset   (0.1)   (0.2)

Total (net of income tax of $0.6 million and $4.0 million, respectively) ($ 1.0) ($ 3.8)
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The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated other 
comprehensive income, related to the pension and post-retirement 
plans (net of income tax):

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

  2008  2007

Reconciliation of accumulated other comprehensive income:

Accumulated other comprehensive income at beginning of plan year: ($ 3.8) ($ 1.0)
Amortization of transition obligation (asset)  0.1  (*)
Prior services cost amortized during the year  (0.2)  0.1
Net loss (gain) amortized during the year  0.4  (0.1)
Net loss (gain) occurring during the year  2.2  (2.7)
Currency exchange rate changes   0.3   (0.1)

Net adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income   2.8   (2.8)

Accumulated other comprehensive income at end of plan year ($ 1.0) ($ 3.8)

(*) Less than $0.1 million.

The following table summarizes the amounts in accumulative other 
comprehensive income amortized and recognized as a component of 
net periodic benefit cost (net of income tax):

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Amortization of transition asset ($ 0.1) ($ 0.1)
Amortization of net losses  (0.7)  (0.2)
Amortization of prior services cost  0.2  0.2

Total amortization expenses ($ 0.6) ($ 0.1)

The assumptions used to determine the pension obligation and 
seniority premiums as of year-end and net cost in the ensuing year 
were as shown on next page.

 2008 and 2007

Weighted average discount rate 8.0%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan asset 8.0%
Rate of increase in future compensation level 4.5%

These rates are based on Mexican pesos as pension plan payments 
will be paid in Mexico.

The benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five years, and 
thereafter, are as follows:

  Expected

 Year Benefit Payments

  (in millions)

 2009 $ 20.0
 2010  0.5
 2011  0.5
 2012  0.5
 2013  0.6
 2014 to 2017  4.1

 Total $ 26.2

MM’s policy for determining asset mix targets includes periodic 
consultation with recognized third party investment consultants. The 
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is updated periodi-
cally, taking into consideration assets allocations, historical returns 
and the current economic environment. The fair value of plan assets 
is impacted by general market conditions. If actual returns on plan 
assets vary from the expected returns, actual results could differ.
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These plans accounted for approximately 30% of benefit obliga-
tions. The following table represents the asset mix of the invest-
ment portfolio:

 As of December 31,

 2008 2007

Asset category:

Equity securities 83% 70%
Treasury bills  17%  30%
 100% 100%

The amount of contributions that MM expects to be paid to the plan 
during 2009 is not material.

MM/Post-retirement health care plan -
The components of net period benefit costs are as follows:

 For the year

 ended December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Interest cost $ 4.8 $ 2.4
Service cost  0.6  0.5
Amortization of net loss (gain)  0.7  (0.1)
Amortization of transition obligation  1.6  1.6
Inflation adjustment       0.2

Net periodic post-retirement benefit costs $ 7.7 $ 4.6

The change in benefit obligation and a reconciliation of funded status 
are as shown on next page.

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Change in benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 63.3  $ 50.7
Service cost  0.6  0.5
Interest costs  4.8  2.4
Actuarial gain net  0.1  10.9
Benefits paid  (1.6)  (3.3)
Settlements    

Currency exchange rate adjustment   (13.2)   2.1

Projected benefit obligation at end of year  $ 54.0  $ 63.3

Funded status ($ 54.0) ($ 63.3)

SFAS No. 158 amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of financial

position consists of:

Non current assets    

Current liabilities    

Non current liabilities ($ 54.0) ($ 63.3) 

Total ($ 54.0) ($ 63.3) 

SFAS No. 158 amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive

income consists of:

Net loss  $ 9.1  $ 11.7
Prior service cost    

Transition obligation   11.6   15.5

Total (net of income tax of $16.7 million and

$12.5 million, respectively)   $ 20.7  $ 27.2

The table on next page summarized the changes in accumulated other comprehensive income 
related to the pension and post-retirement plans (net of income tax).
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 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Reconciliation of accumulated other comprehensive income:

Accumulated other comprehensive income at beginning of plan year:  $ 27.2  $ 20.7
    

Amortization of transition obligation  (1.0)  (1.0)
Net (gain) loss occuring during the year  (0.4)  6.8
Currency exchange rate changes   (5.1)   0.7

Net adjustment to accumulated other comprehensive income ($ 6.5)  $ 6.5

Accumulated other comprehensive income at end of plan year   $ 20.7  $ 27.2

The following table summarizes the amounts in accumulative other comprehensive income 
amortized and recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost (net of income tax):

  As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Amortization of prior service cost  $ 1.6 $ 1.6
Amortization of net losses  0.7   0.1
   

Total amortization expenses $ 2.3 $ 1.7

Discount rates used in the calculation of other post-retirement benefits and costs as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and 2007 were 8.0% and 4.0%, respectively.

The benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five years, and thereafter, are as 
follows:

 Year Expected

  Benefit Payments

  (in millions)

 2009 $ 3.6
 2010  3.7
 2011  3.9
 2012  4.1
 2013  4.4
 2014 to 2017  37.4
 

 Total $ 57.1

For measurement purposes, a 2.5% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered 
health care benefits was assumed for 2008 and remains at that level thereafter.
 
An increase in other benefit cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amount 
of the reported obligations as well as component cost of the other benefit plan. One 
percentage-point change in assumed other benefits cost trend rates would have the 
following effects:

 One Percentage Point

 (in millions)

 Increase Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost components $ 2.2 $ 1.7
Effect on the post-retirement benefit obligation $ 26.5 $ 21.1

ITM (Railway division) - Defined Benefit Pension Plans -
In ITM and subsidiaries the liabilities and costs pertaining to the seniority premiums, which 
employees are entitled after 15 years of service are recognized on the basis of actuarial 
studies performed by independent experts.

ITM has also established plans to cover dismissal indemnities on the basis of actuarial studies, 
performed by independent experts.

Following is a summary of the main financial data relative to these plans:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

  2008  2007

Projected benefit obligation  $ 5.1 $ 5.4

Actuarial loss (gain)   0.2  (0.3)

Amortization of transition obligation  (1.1)  (1.6)

Net pension liability  $ 4.2 $ 3.5
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Additional disclosures required by SFAS No. 132 and 87 are as follows:

 Year ended December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 5.4 $ 3.8
Service cost  0.6  0.4
Interest cost  0.7  0.3
Actuarial gain  (0.4)  (0.2)
Other  (1.2)  1.1

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 5.1 $ 5.4

Weighted-average assumptions were as follows:

 As of December 31,

 2008 2007

Discount rate 9.2% 13%
Rate of compensation increase 5.6% 10%

Components of the net periodic pension cost were as follows:

 As of December 31,

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

Service cost $ 0.6 $ 0.4
Interest cost  0.7  0.3

Net periodic pensions cost $ 1.3 $ 0.7

The cost of the above services, the variations in assumptions and 
the transition liability are being amortized over the remaining labor 
life of the employees expected to receive the plan benefits, which is 
approximately 10.7 years in 2008 (11.9 years in 2007).

The provision as of December 31, 2008 is comprised of the net 
projected liability in the amount of $2.8 plus $0.6 of severance 
related to the end of the working relationship for causes other than 
restructuring ($3.7 plus $0.6, as of December 31, 2007).

Corporate Services - 
Grupo México Servicios, S. A. de C. V. (GMS, direct subsidiary of 
GMEXICO) provides various professional services to its affiliates. 
Currently GMS has 57 executive and as of December 31, 2008 and 
2007 the labor liabilities were immaterial.

NOTE 17 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Common stock:
At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company paid common and 
outstanding stock consists of 7,609,999,000 and 7,714,347,105, 
respectively, fully paid and subscribed shares, corresponding to 
fixed capital Series “B”, Class I. Variable capital is limited to ten 
times the amount of the minimum fixed capital.

At an Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting held on April 30, 2008, 
the stockholders declared a three-for-one split of the Company’s 
outstanding common stock of the series “B”. The split increased 
the number of shares outstanding to 7,785,000,000 from 
2,595,000,000 effective June 19, 2008. All share and per share 
amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split 
in these consolidated financial statements.

During the last quarter of 2008 GMEXICO, through AMC, purchased 
approximately 11.8 million shares of SCC’s common shares. As a 
result of this transaction, the Company’s ownership of SCC’s 
outstanding capital stock increased to 76.4%. See Note 24 “Subse-
quent Events” for further purchases in 2009.

At an Ordinary Stockholders’ Meeting held on April 30, 2008 the 
Company’s stockholders’ decreed a dividend amounting to $458.9 
million ($4,715.1 million Mexican pesos). The payments were realized 
as described on next page.
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  Amount in millions Mexican pesos Amount in millions

 Date of Mexican pesos per share of U.S. dollars

 April 25th, 2008 $ 2,570.3 $ 1.00 $ 245.1
 August 1st, 2008  2,144.8  0.28  213.8

  $ 4,715.1   $ 458.9

In addition, the stockholders decreed a divi-
dend in kind for $236.6 million, which were 
paid as follows: on August 1, 2008 GMEXICO 
paid a dividend of 1 share for each 150 
outstanding shares, which come from the 
Reserve for purchase of shares account, 
for $100.5 million ($1,029.2 million Mexican 
pesos) and on October 31, 2008 paid a divi-
dend of 1 share for each 35 outstanding 
shares, which comes from the treasury stock 
account, for $136.1 million ($1,780.6 million 
Mexican pesos).

At an Ordinary Stockholders’ Meeting held 
on April 30, 2007 the stockholders’ decreed 
a dividend amounting to $709.9 million 
($7,716.5 million Mexican pesos). In January 
25, 2008, the Company paid dividends 
amounting to $211.3 million ($2,314 million 
Mexican pesos) corresponding to this decree. 
The remaining $498.6 million ($5,402.5 
million Mexican pesos) were paid in 2007.

Series “B” consists of ordinary voting stock 
representing 100% of all Class I and Class 
II voting stock. At least 51% of the shares 
comprising this Series must be subscribed by 
private individuals or companies considered 
to be Mexican investors, as established by 
the Ley General de Sociedades Mercantiles.

Dividends paid are not subject to income tax 
if the dividends come from the Net Tax Profit 
Account (CUFIN, for its acronym in Spanish). 
Any dividends paid in excess of this account are 
subject to a tax equivalent to 38.89%. The tax 
is payable by the Company and may be cred-
ited against its income tax in the same year 
or in the following two years. Dividends paid 
from previously taxed profits are not subject 
to tax withholding or additional tax payment. 
In the event of a capital reduction, any excess 
of stockholders’ equity over capital contribu-
tions, the latter restated in accordance with the 
provisions of the Income Tax Law, is accorded 
the same tax treatment as dividends.

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the CUFIN 
amounted to $2,003.8 million and $1,948.4 
million, respectively.

Appropriated Retained Earnings:
As of December 31, 2008, the Company set 
aside $2.4 billion of unremitted earnings, of 
its Mexican subsidiary, MM, as appropriated 
retained earnings. It is the Company’s inten-
tion to indefinitely invest these funds in Mexico. 
These amounts are earmarked for the Compa-
ny’s Mexican expansion program. See also 
Note 12 “Income taxes, asset tax and flat tax” 
of these consolidated financial statements.

Treasury Stock:
Included in treasury stock are shares of GMEXICO and SCC’s common 
stock carried at cost.

Activity in treasury stock was as follows:

 Years

 (in millions)

 2008 2007

GMEXICO common shares  

Balance as of January 1 $ 139.0 $ 109.4
Other activity, including received dividends, interest and

currency translation effect - Net  212.0   29.6
  

Balance as of December 31 $ 351.0 $ 139.0

At December 31, 2008 and 2007 treasury stock is composed of 
29,696,086 and 1,199,136 shares, respectively of SCC’s common stock 
with a cost of $292.9 million and $4.4 million, respectively. At Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and 2007 treasury stock is composed of GMEXICO’s 
234,507,729 shares and 441,100,719 shares with a cost of $116.3 million 
and $86.1 million, respectively. During 2008, the Company agreed to 
pay dividends in shares, from the shares of the treasury stock for 211.7 
thousand shares equivalent to $136.0 million.

In 2008 SCC’s Board of Directors authorized a $500 million share 
repurchase program. During 2008 SCC purchased 28.5 million shares 
of its common stock at a cost of $292.9 million this shares are includ-
ed in the Treasury Stock. These shares will be available for general 
corporate purposes. SCC may purchase additional shares from time to 
time, based on market conditions and other factors. This repurchase 
program has no expiration date and may be modified or discontin-
ued at any time. See Note 24 “Subsequent Events” for further SCC’s 
purchases in 2009.

The shares of SCC are used for general corporate purposes, includ-
ing, among others, for awards under the Directors’ Stock Award Plan. 
GMEXICO’s shares are used to grant awards under both the Employ-
ee Stock Purchase Plan and the Executive Stock Purchase Plan.
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Under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 
in 2008, SCC did not award any GMEXICO’s 
shares and in 2007 awarded 14.4 million of 
these shares to its employees.

In both years 2008 and 2007, SCC distribut-
ed 13,200 shares of its common stock shares 
to its directors under the Directors’ Stock 
Award Plan.

The gain net of income tax is integrated as 
follows: $94.8 million to the majority share-
holders’ interest and $25.2 million to the 
minority interest.

Directors Stock Award Plan:
SCC established a stock award compensation 
plan for the directors who are not compen-
sated as SCC’s employees. Under this plan, 
the participants will receive 1,200 shares of 
common stock upon election and 1,200 addi-
tional shares following each annual meeting 
of stockholders thereafter. 600,000 SCC’s 
shares common stock have been reserved for 
this plan. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, 
229,200 shares and 216,000 shares, have 
been awarded under this plan, respectively.

Reserve for purchase of shares:
In April 2005, GMEXICO established a reserve 
of $201.7 million for the repurchase of 
shares, of which $10 millions will be included 
in GMEXICO’s Treasury Stock for future sales 
to its employees. On April 30, 2008 at an 
Ordinary Stockholders’ Meeting, the stock-
holders agreed to increase the reserve for 
purchase of shares by $27.5 million ($24.3 
million in 2007), of which $10.6 million ($10.2 
million in 2007) will be included in Treasury 

Stock. During 2008, GMEXICO purchased 
155,414 thousands of shares (22,053 thou-
sand shares in 2007) which amounted to 
$188.6 million ($34.6 million in 2007). In 
2008, the Company decided to pay dividends 
in shares, which come from the Reserve 
for purchase of shares account, for 51,066 
thousands of shares, equivalent to $100.5 
million. Likewise, during 2007 the Company 
resold 5,811 thousand of shares amounting 
to $15.0 million.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan:
In January 2007, GMEXICO offered eligible 
employees a stock purchase plan (the Employ-
ee Stock Purchase Plan) through a trust that 
acquires shares of GMEXICO’s stock for sale 
to its employees, subsidiaries and certain 
affiliated companies. The purchase price is 
established at the approximate fair market 
value on the grant date. Every two years 
employees will be able to acquire title to 50% 
of the shares paid in the previous two years. 
The employees will pay for shares purchased 
through monthly payroll deductions over the 
eight year period of the plan. At the end of 
the eight year period, GMEXICO will grant the 
participant a bonus of 1 share for every 10 
shares purchased by the employee.

If GMEXICO pays dividends on shares during 
the eight year period, the participants will be 
entitled to receive the dividend in cash for all 
shares that have been fully purchased and 
paid as of the date that the dividend is paid. 
If the participant has only partially paid for 
shares, the entitled dividends will be used 
to reduce the remaining liability owed for 
purchased shares.

In the case of voluntary resignation of the employee, GMEXICO will 
pay to the employee the purchase price applying a deduction based 
on the following schedule:

If the resignation occurs during:  % Deducted

1st year after the grant date 90%
2nd year after the grant date 80%
3rd year after the grant date 70%
4th year after the grant date 60%
5th year after the grant date 50%
6th year after the grant date 40%
7th year after the grant date 20%

In the case of involuntary termination of the employee, GMEXICO will 
pay to the employee the difference between the fair market value of 
the shares at the date of termination of employment and the purchase 
price. When the fair market value of the shares is higher than the 
purchase price, the Company will apply a deduction over the amount 
to be paid to the employee based on the following schedule.

If the termination occurs during: % Deducted

1st year after the grant date 100%
2nd year after the grant date 95%
3rd year after the grant date 90%
4th year after the grant date 80%
5th year after the grant date 70%
6th year after the grant date 60%
7th year after the grant date 50%

In case of retirement or death of the employee, GMEXICO will render 
the buyer or his legal beneficiary, the shares effectively paid as of the 
date of retirement or death.
 
For the years 2008 and 2007, the stock based compensation expens-
es under this plan was $2.1 million in both periods. As of December 31, 
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2008, there was $12.8 million of unrecognized compensation expenses under this plan, which is 
expected to be recognized over the remaining six years period.

The following table presents the stock award activity for the years ended December 31, 2008 
and 2007:

 
   Unit weighted 

   average grant

  Shares date fair value

 Outstanding shares at 

  January 1, 2007

  Granted 14,504,151 $ 1.17
  Exercised   

  Forfeited            

 Outstanding shares at  

  December 31, 2007 14,504,151 $ 1.17
  Granted   

  Exercised (23,655) $ 1.17
  Received as dividend 96,515  

  Forfeited            

 Outstanding shares at 

  December 31, 2008 14,577,011 $ 1.16

Executive Stock Purchase Plan:
GMEXICO also offers a stock purchase plan 
for certain members of executive manage-
ment and the executive management of its 
subsidiaries and certain affiliated compa-
nies. Under this plan, the participants will 
receive incentive cash bonuses which are 
used to purchase up to 2,250,000 shares 
of GMEXICO over an eight year period. The 
fair value of the award is estimated on the 
date of grant and is recognized as compensa-
tion expense over a weighted average requi-

site service period of eight years. GMEXICO 
recorded $1.3 million and $0.5 million net 
of tax, in compensation expense in 2008 
and 2007, respectively. As of December 31, 
2008, there was $1.9 million of unrecognized 
compensation cost, related to this plan, which 
is expected to be recognized over the remain-
ing period of six years.

The table shown on next page presents the 
stock award activity for the years ended 
December 31, 2008 and 2007.

  

  Unit weighted average

  Shares grant date fair value

 Outstanding shares at 

  January 1, 2007 2,250,000 $ 0.77
  Granted   

  Exercised  (877,500) $ 0.77
  Forfeited           

Outstanding shares at

  December 31, 2007 1,372,500 $ 0.77
  Granted    

  Exercised (675,000) $ 0.77
  Forfeited           

Outstanding shares at 

  December 31, 2008 697,500 $ 0.77

During 2007, GMEXICO offered a stock 
purchase plan for certain executives in the 
amount of 24,000,000 shares. The fair value 
of the award is estimated on the date of 
grant and was recognized as compensation 
expense amounting to $27.5 million.

NOTE 18 - BUSINESS SEGMENT:

The Company applies SFAS No. 131 “Disclosure 
About Segments of an Enterprise and Related 
Information”. This statement establishes stan-
dards for reporting information about operat-
ing segments and related disclosures about 
products, services, geographic areas and 
major customers.

The Company’s segments are organized 
using the management approach by indus-

try and geographical region, resulting in 
three primary reportable segments: MM, SCC 
and ITM. The MM (open pit and underground 
operations) produce copper, with production 
of by-products of molybdenum, silver and 
other material, SCC include integrated copper 
extraction, smelting and refining operations, 
produce copper, with production of by-prod-
ucts of molybdenum, silver and other mate-
rial, mainly in Peru and the U.S., respective-
ly. The AMC’s balances are originated from 
corporate activities performed in the U.S. 
ITM carries out railway transportation activi-
ties through its main subsidiary GFM mainly 
in Mexico. 

Information by segments is shown in the 
same format used by the Company’s manage-
ment to evaluate each business. An operat-
ing segment is defined as a component of the 
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Company dedicated to business activities from which the Company 
generates income and incurs costs and expenses, with respect to 
which information for decision-making is prepared and in respect 
of which the Company’s management evaluates the allocation of 
resources periodically. The accounting policies of the segments are 
described in the summary of significant accounting policies (See Note 
2 “Significant Accounting Policies”).

The Company assesses the performance by segment based on the 
operating income or (loss) before these expenses.

The most significant data by business segment in 2008 and 2007 
were as follows (in millions):

 

  2008

    Total  Consolidation Total

 MM SCC AMC mining segment ITM eliminations consolidated

 Sales of product and 

  services $ 2,027 $ 2,824   $ 4,851 $ 1,082 $ 13 $ 5,946
 Operating income 

  (loss) $ 676 $ 1,525 ($ 3) $ 2,198 $ 253 ($ 2) $ 2,449
 Administrative expenses $ 62  $ 40 $ 4 $ 106 $ 48 $ 21 $ 175
 Depreciation and 

  amortization $ 213 $ 114   $ 327 $ 82 $ 3 $ 412
 Comprehensive 

  financing result ($ 17) $ 68 $ 14 $ 65 $ 38 ($ 61) $ 42
 Net income (loss) $ 460 $ 1,407 ($ 841) $ 1,026 $ 161 ($ 116) $ 1,071
 Total assets, not 

 including investment in 

  shares of associated 

  companies $ 3,605 $ 2,912 ($ 560) $ 5,957 $ 1,291 $ 1,146 $ 8,394
 Total liabilities $ 614 $ 1,743 $ 105 $ 2,462 $ 572 $ 35 $ 3,069
 Net investment in 

  property, plant and 

  equipment $ 1,957 $ 1,847   $ 3,804 $ 910 $ 14 $ 4,728
 Capital expenditures ($ 214) ($ 302)   ($ 516) ($ 174) ($ 3) ($ 693)

   2007

    Total  Consolidation Total

 MM SCC AMC mining segment ITM eliminations consolidated

 Sales of product and 

  services  $ 2,875 $ 3,513 ($ 302) $ 6,086 $ 988 $ 4 $ 7,078
 Operating income 

  (loss) $ 1,518 $ 1,989 ($ 5) $ 3,502 $ 235 ($ 61) $ 3,676
 Administrative expenses $ 58  $ 40   $ 98 $ 45 $ 67 $ 210
 Depreciation and 

  amortization $ 217 $ 111   $ 328 $ 73 $ 1 $ 402
 Comprehensive 

  financing result ($ 20) $ 30 $ 36 $ 46 $ 36 ($ 81) $ 1 

 Net income (loss) $ 1,134 $ 2,216 ($ 1,864) $ 1,486 $ 169 ($ 24) $ 1,631
 Total assets, not 

  including investment in 

  shares of associated 

  companies $ 3,401 $ 3,729 ($ 585) $ 6,545 $ 1,603 $ 1,254 $ 9,402
 Total liabilities $ 916 $ 1,115 $ 743 $ 2,774 $ 815 $ 16 $ 3,605
 Net investment in 

  property, plant and 

  equipment $ 1,914 $ 1,752   $ 3,666 $ 1,045 ($ 84) $ 4,627
 Capital expenditures ($ 189) ($ 127)   ($ 316) ($ 257)   ($ 573)

The Company made direct sales to customers and rendered railway transportation services 
in the following areas:

	 2008

 (in millions)

 Country MM SCC ITM Eliminations Total

 U.S. $ 657 $ 887   ($ 119) $ 1,425
 Mexico  1,088   $ 1,082  13  2,183
 Europe  196  912      1,108
 Peru    130      130
 China and Asia    238      238
 Latin America, except 

 Mexico and Peru    776      776
 Other  86        86
 Grand total  $ 2,027 $ 2,943 $ 1,082 ($ 106) $ 5,946
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 2007

 (in millions)

 Country MM SCC ITM Eliminations Total

 U.S. $ 1,150 $ 716   ($ 303) $ 1,563
 Mexico  1,189   $ 988  5  2,182
 Europe  301  1,191      1,492
 Peru  1  151      152
 China and Asia    555      555
 Latin America, except 

 Mexico and Peru  234  900      1,134

 Grand total  $ 2,875 $ 3,513 $ 988 ($ 298) $ 7,078

NOTE 19 - DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS:

The Company occasionally uses derivative instruments to manage 
its exposure to market risk from changes in commodity prices, inter-
est rate and exchange rate risk exposures. The Company general-
ly does not enter into derivative contracts unless it anticipates a 
future activity that is likely to occur that will result in exposing the 
Company to market risk.

Copper and zinc swaps:
During 2008 and 2007 SCC entered into copper collar and swaps 
contracts to protect a portion of its sales of copper production as 
follows:

  2008 2007

Collar contracts:

Pounds (in millions)  220.5  170.5
Average LME cap price $ 4.23 $ 4.07
Average LME floor price $ 3.40 $ 3.20

Swap contracts:

Pounds (in millions)  175.1  11.9
Weighted average COMEX price $ 3.87 $ 3.71

Related to the settlement of these copper collar and swap contracts, 
SCC recorded a gain of $137.0 million and $10.9 million in 2008 
and 2007, respectively. These gains were recorded in net sales on 
the consolidated statement of operations. Also, these gains were 
recorded in net earnings in operating activities of the consolidated 
statement of cash flow.

SCC did not enter into any zinc derivate contracts in 2008 and 2007. 
At December 31, 2008 SCC did not hold any open copper or zinc deri-
vate instruments.

Transactions under these metal price protection programs are not 
accounted for as hedges under SFAS No. 133 and are adjusted to 
fair market value based on the metal prices as of the last day of the 
respective reporting period with the gain or loss recorded in net sales 
on the consolidated statement of operations. 

Gas swaps:
In 2008 and 2007, SCC entered into gas swap contracts to protect 
part of its gas consumption as follows:

  2008 2007

Gas volume (MMBTUs)  460,000  900,000
Fixed price $ 8.2175 $ 7.5250
Loss (in million) ($ 0.9) ($ 0.9)

The losses obtained were included in the production cost. At December 
31, 2008 SCC did not hold any open gas swap contracts.

Interest Rate Swaps:
SCC did not hold any interest rate swap contracts during 2008 and 
2007 and does not hold any open position as of December 31, 2008.

Exchange Rate Derivatives, U.S. Dollar / Mexican Peso Contracts:
Because more than 85% of SCC’s sales collections in Mexico are in 
U.S. dollars and many of its costs are in Mexican pesos, SCC entered 
into zero-cost derivatives contracts with the purpose of protecting, 
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within a range, against an appreciation of the 
Mexican peso to the U.S. dollar.

At December 31, 2008 SCC held two types of 
exchange rate derivative contracts.

In the first type of exchange rate deriva-
tive contract, if the exchange rate settles 
at or below the barrier price, SCC does not 
sell U.S. dollars, if the exchange rate settles 

Each notional amount includes a group of underlying amount transactions that have the 
same strike and barrier price.

In the second type of exchange rate derivative contract, if the exchange rate is less than or 
equal to the strike price, SCC sells U.S. dollars in an amount equal to the underlying amount 
for the expiration period at the strike price. The difference between the strike price and the 
market exchange rate is considered a gain to SCC. The total accumulated gain over the life 
of the contract cannot exceed 200 cents per U.S. dollar transacted in the first contract and 
500 cents per U.S. dollar transacted in the second contract. If the exchange rate is above the 
strike price, SCC sells U.S. dollars in an amount equal to two times the underlying amount for 
the expiration period at the strike price and the loss does not reduce the accumulated gain. 
At December 31, 2008, SCC held the following contracts of this type as shown on next page.

 Notional Underlying  Due Date, Strike Price  Barrier Price 

 Amount  amount Weekly  (Mexican  (Mexican 

 (millions) (millions) expiration until Pesos/U.S. Dollars) Pesos/U.S. Dollars)

   March 11, 
  $ 15.0 $ 1.25 2009 11.25 10.60

above the barrier price and below the strike 
price established in the contract, SCC sells 
the notional amount of U.S. dollars settling in 
the week at the strike price. If the exchange 
rate settles above the strike price established 
in the contract, SCC sells double the underly-
ing amount of U.S. dollars settling in the week 
at the strike price established in the contract. 
At December 31, 2008, SCC held the follow-
ing contracts of this type:

 Notional Underlying    Strike Price

 Amount  amount Expiration  (Mexican Pesos/U.S. 

 (millions) (millions) period Due date Dollars)

       January 13, 2009 through 

  $ 15.0 $ 2.5 Monthly June 11, 2009 10.59
       January 2, 2009 through 

  $ 85.0 $ 2.5 Weekly August 21, 2009 10.53

Each notional amount includes a group of 
underlying amount transactions that have 
the same strike and barrier price.

The exercise of these zero-cost derivative 
contracts resulted in a realized loss of $17.8 
million in 2008 and gains of $8.1 million in 
2007, respectively which were recorded as 
loss on derivative instruments on the consoli-
dated statement of operations.
 
At December 31, 2008, the mark-to market 
value of the above listed exchange rate deriv-
ative contracts generated an unrealized loss 
of $56.8 million which was recorded as loss 
on derivative instruments on the consolidated 
statement of operations.
 
If the exchange rate of the Mexican Peso to 
the U.S. Dollar were to increase or decrease 
by 10%, the additional loss or benefit of 
these derivative instruments would not be 
considered material to the overall results of 
operations of SCC.

Dual currency notes:
In 2007 SCC invested $560.0 million in dual 
currency notes which provided an above 

market interest return subject to a barrier 
range of the Mexican peso to the U.S. dollar 
exchange rates. Related to these investments, 
SCC realized an exchange loss of $1.3 million, 
which was recorded as a loss on derivative 
instruments in the consolidated statement of 
operations. At December 31, 2008, SCC did 
not hold any dual currency notes.
 
SCC earned interest of $2.1 million in 2007, 
which was recorded as interest income in the 
consolidated statement of operations.
 

NOTE 20 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

For certain of the Company’s financial 
instruments, including cash and cash equiv-
alents, accounts receivable (other than 
accounts receivable associated with provi-
sionally priced sales) and accounts payable, 
the carrying amounts approximate fair 
value due to their short maturities. Conse-
quently, such financial instruments are not 
included in the following table that provides 
information about the carrying amounts 
and estimated fair values of other financial 
instruments.
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 In millions

 2008 2007

 Mexico U.S. and Peru Mexico U.S. and Peru

 Fair  Carrying Fair Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair  Carrying

 value value value value value value Value value

Assets:        

Accounts receivables 

associated with 

provisionally priced

sales ($ 36.6) ($ 36.6) ($ 60.7) ($ 60.7) ($ .90) ($ .90) ($ 41.1) ($ 41.1)
Short-term investment $ 110.0 $ 110.0 $ 62.4 $ 62.4     $ 117.9 $ 117.9
Treasury stock $ 753.7 $ 351.0     $ $ 1,011.4 1,01$ 139.0  

        

Liabilities:        

Long-term debt:         

Mining Segment $ 62.5 $ 56.4 $ 976.1 $ 1,250.0 $ 218.3 $ 206.4 $ 1,313.4 $ 1,260.0
Railway Segment $ 379.9 $ 398.4     $ 617.5 $ 581.5

The following methods and assumptions were 
used to estimate the fair value of each class 
of financial instrument, for which it is practi-
cable to estimate that value:

• Accounts receivable associated with provi-
sionally priced sales: fair value of copper is 
based on published forward prices and fair 
value of molybdenum is based on year-
end market prices. At December 31, 2008 
the Company has recorded provisional-
ly priced sales of 141.0 million pounds of 
copper, at a forward average price of $1.39 
per pound. Also, the Company has record-
ed provisionally priced sales of 6.3 million 
pounds of molybdenum at the year-end 
market price of $9.50 per pound. These 
sales are subject to final pricing based 

on the average monthly LME and COMEX 
copper prices and Dealer Oxide molybde-
num prices in the future month of settle-
ment. Provisional sales price adjustments 
included in accounts receivable and net 
sales were in 2008 and 2007 ($97.3) 
millions and ($40.2) millions, respective-
ly. During the month of March 2009, the 
market price of copper increased and the 
price of molybdenum decreased slightly. 
The effect of these changes on 2008 sales 
settling in the first quarter of 2009 was an 
increase of $3.70 million in sales. Addition-
ally, forward prices for copper as of March 
31, 2009 also increased; the effect of this 
increase on 2008 open sales settling after 
March 2009 would be an increase of $0.60 
million in sales.

• Short-term investment: due to the short-term nature of the invest-
ments, current value is deemed to approximate fair value. 

• Long-term debt: fair value is based on quoted market prices except 
for the Mitsui loan, which is based on the present value of the cash 
flow discounted at 9% which is the Company’s weighted average 
capital cost. 

NOTE 21 - CONCENTRATION OF RISK:

The Company operates four copper open-pit mines, five underground 
poly metal mines, three smelters and eight refineries in Peru and 
Mexico and provides multi-use and freight railway service in Mexico, 
and substantially all of its assets are located in these countries. There 
can be no assurances that the Company’s operations and assets that 
are subject to the jurisdiction of the governments of Peru and Mexico 
will not be adversely affected by future actions of such governments. 
Much of the Company’s products are exported from Peru and Mexico 
to customers principally in U.S., Europe, Asia and South America.

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to 
a concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash 
equivalents, short-term investments and trade accounts receivable.

The Company invests or maintains available cash with various banks, 
principally in the U.S., Mexico, Europe and Peru, or in commercial 
paper of highly-rated companies. As part of its cash management 
process, the Company regularly monitors the relative credit standing 
of these institutions and as of December 31, 2008, had invested its 
cash as follows:

  Percentage invested in a 

Country Total cash (%) single institution

Abroad 59.5 25.5
Peru 8.3 15.4
Mexico 32.2 30.7
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During the normal course of business, the Company provides credit 
to its customers. Although the receivables resulting from these trans-
actions are not collateralized, the Company has not experienced 
significant problems with the collection of receivables.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in cases where the financial 
institutions with which it has entered into derivative transactions 
(commodity, foreign exchange and currency/interest rate swaps) are 
unable to pay when they owe funds as a result of protection agree-
ments with them. To minimize the risk of such losses, the Company 
only uses highly-rated financial institutions that meet certain require-
ments. The Company also periodically reviews the credit worthiness 
of these institutions to ensure that they are maintaining their ratings. 
The Company does not anticipate that any of the financial institu-
tions will default on their obligations.

The Company’s five largest trade receivable balances accounted for 
61.7% and 45.4% of the trade accounts receivable at December 31, 
2008 and 2007, respectively, of which one customer represented 
approximately 21.5% and 22.4%, respectively, the trade accounts 
receivable. In the railway segment, revenues received from the top 25 
customers for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 repre-
sented 57% and 60% of the total revenues for those periods.

NOTE 22 - COMMITMENTS:

Railway segment
ITM’s operations are subject to Mexican federal and state laws, and 
to regulations related to environmental protection. Under these laws, 
guidelines have been issued concerning air, soil and water pollution, 
and studies have been carried out concerning environmental impact, 
noise control and hazardous residues. The Environment and Natural 
Resources Ministry (SEMARNAT for its acronym in Spanish) may 
impose administrative and criminal sanctions against companies that 
breach environmental laws and it has authority to partially or entirely 
close any facilities that fail to comply with such regulations.

The responsibility to regenerate soil, subsoil and underground aquifer 
layers as a result of any damage caused by ITM operations, through 
February 18, 1998, lies with FNM and in a subsidiary way with the 
Mexican Federal Government. ITM has taken certain measures to 

prevent the pollution indicated in environmental audits performed 
by FNM, which served as the basis for preparing 19 agreements with 
the Federal Bureau of Environmental Protection (PROFEPA, for its 
acronym in Spanish), addressing 1,281 activities to be carried out 
within a three year term, beginning from April 1999, 100% of which 
had been completed as of December 31, 2003.

Under the terms of the concession, the Mexican Federal Government 
has the right to receive payments from Ferromex equal to 0.5% of 
the gross revenue during the first 15 years of the concession and 
1.25% during the remaining years of the concession. In the years 
ended on December 31, 2008 and 2007, such payments amounted to 
$5.4 million and $4.1 million, respectively.

Ferromex leases the building where its main offices are located, the 
lease agreement is for ten years beginning from April 1, 2003. In addi-
tion, Ferromex leases certain equipment, such as hoppers, boxcars, 
flatcars and tanker cars.

Commitments for minimum payments under lease agreements for 
the following years are as follows:

  Amounts in

 Year millions

 2009 $ 36.3
 2010  32.6
 2011  25.8
 2012  15.0
 2013 and thereafter  9.6

 Total minimum payments $ 119.3

In January 1998, Ferromex entered into a fuel purchase agreement 
with PEMEX, under which Ferromex is required to purchase, at market 
value, a minimum of 19,500 cubic meters and a maximum of 32,400 
cubic meters of diesel per month, although this limit may be exceed-
ed, like in 2007 and there was no repercussion, in conformity to the 
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modifying agreement which became effec-
tive since April 17, 2006. At the same time, 
in the modifying agreement which became 
effective from June 29, 2007, the purchase 
agreement has effect during four years and 
its validity will be extended for two years, 
and at the end of this two years period it will 
be renewed every year.

The rights to certain locomotives were 
pledge to a trust pledged in order to guaran-
tee the payment of long-term debt. See Note 
11 “Long-term debt”.

As of December 2008 and 2007, ITM guar-
antees various bank loans and certain 
exchange rate and interest rate deriva-
tive contracts, held by its non-consolidated 
subsidiary Ferrosur.

Mining segment

PERU
SCC’s operations are subject to American 
and Peruvian laws and regulations.

Power purchase agreement:
In 1997, SCC sold its Ilo power plant to an 
independent power company, Enersur, S. 
A. (Enersur). In connection with the sale, a 
power purchase agreement was also complet-
ed in which SCC agreed to purchase all of its 
power needs for its Peruvian operations from 
Enersur for twenty years, commencing in 
1997. In 2003 the agreement was amended 
releasing Enersur from its obligation to 
construct additional capacity to meet SCC’s 
increased electricity requirements. SCC 
believes it can satisfy the need for increased 
electricity requirements from other sources, 
including local power providers. Based on the 
power cost in 2008, the estimated contrac-

tual obligation to purchase energy in the 
remaining period of the contract is approxi-
mately $1.1 billion.

PERU AND MEXICO

Long-Term Sales Contracts:
Under the terms of a forward sales contract 
with Cumerio Belgium, formerly Union 
Minière, as amended, SCC is required 
to supply Cumerio Belgium, through its 
agent, S. A. SOGEM N.V., with 8,800 tons 
of blister copper during 2009. The price 
of the copper contained in blister supplied 
under the contract is determined based on 
the LME monthly average settlement price 
less a refining allowance, which is negotiat-
ed annually.

Under the terms of a sales contract with 
Mitsui & Co. Ltd. (Mitsui), the Company is 
required to supply Mitsui with 48,000 tons 
of copper cathodes annually through 2013. If 
the shipment destination is Asia, the pricing 
of the cathodes is based upon the LME 
monthly average settlement price. However, 
if the destination of shipments is the U.S., 
the pricing of the cathodes is based on the 
COMEX monthly average settlement price 
plus a producer premium, which is agreed 
upon annually based on world market terms. 
90,000 tons related to a prior contract 
(period 1994-2000) will be supplied as 
follows: 48,000 in 2014 and 42,000 in 2015.

NOTE 23 - CONTINGENCIES:

The Company is involved in various legal 
proceedings derived from its normal oper-
ations. The main contingencies and legal 
procedures are shown as follows. 

SCC & MM

Environmental matters:
SCC and MM have instituted extensive environmental conserva-
tion programs at its mining facilities in Peru and Mexico. SCC’s and 
MM’s environmental programs include, among other features, water 
recovery systems to conserve water and minimize impact on nearby 
streams, reforestation programs to stabilize the surfaces of the tail-
ings dams, and the implementation of scrubbing technology in the 
mines to reduce dust emissions. 

Peruvian operations
SCC’s operations are subject to applicable Peruvian environmental 
laws and regulations. The Peruvian government, through its Ministry 
of Energy and Mines (MEM), conducts annual audits of SCC’s Peruvi-
an mining and metallurgical operations. Through these environmen-
tal audits, matters related to environmental commitments, compli-
ance with legal requirements, atmospheric emissions and effluent 
monitoring are reviewed. SCC believes that it is in material compli-
ance with applicable Peruvian environmental laws and regulations.
 
In the first quarter of 2007, with the completion of the Ilo smelter 
modernization, SCC completed a 10-year environmental program 
agreed to with the Peruvian government in 1997. This program 
applied to all of SCC’s Peruvian operations and contained mitigation 
measures and projects necessary to: 1) bring the existing operations 
into compliance with the environmental standards established by 
the MEM, and 2) identify areas impacted by operations that were no 
longer active and needed to be reclaimed.

In 2003, the Peruvian congress published a new law announcing 
future closure and remediation obligations for the mining industry. In 
accordance with the requirements of this law, SCC has prepared and 
submitted the required closure plans to MEM. These plans have been 
or are being reviewed by the responsible governmental agency and 
have been or will be open to public discussion in the areas of SCC’s 
operations. SCC is awaiting feedback from MEM regarding these 
plans. See Note 14 “Asset Retirement Obligation” for further discus-
sion of this matter.

For the SCC’s Peruvian operations, environmental capital expenditures 
were $0.5 million and $21.6 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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Mexican operations
MM’s operations are subject to applicable Mexican federal, state and 
municipal environmental laws, to Mexican official standards, and to 
regulations for the protection of the environment, including regula-
tions relating to water supply, water quality, air quality, noise levels 
and hazardous and solid waste. Some of these laws and regulations 
are relevant to legal proceedings pertaining to the MM’s San Luis 
Potosí copper facilities.

The principal legislation applicable to Mexican operations is the 
Federal General Law of Ecological Balance and Environmental 
Protection, which is enforced by the PROFEPA. The PROFEPA moni-
tors compliance with environmental legislation and enforces Mexican 
environmental laws, regulations and official standards. PROFEPA 
may initiate administrative proceedings against companies that 
violate environmental laws, which in the most extreme cases may 
result in the temporary or permanent closing of non-complying facil-
ities, the revocation of operating licenses and/or other sanctions or 
fines. Also, according to the Federal Criminal Code, the PROFEPA 
must inform corresponding authorities regarding environmental 
non-compliance.

Mexican environmental regulations have become increasingly 
stringent over the last decade, and this trend is likely to contin-
ue and has been influenced by the environmental treaty entered 
into by Mexico, U.S. and Canada in connection with North Ameri-
can Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) in February 1999. However, 
MM’s management does not believe that continued non-compliance 
with the Federal Environmental Law or Mexican State environmen-
tal laws will have a material adverse effect on MM’s business, prop-
erties, results of operations, financial condition or prospects or 
will result in material capital expenditures. Although MM believes 
that all of its facilities are in material compliance with applicable 
environmental, mining and other laws and regulations, MM cannot 
assure that future laws and regulations would not have a material 
adverse effect on MM’s business, properties, results of operations, 
financial condition or prospects.
 
Due to the proximity of certain MM’s facilities to urban centers, the 
authorities may implement certain measures that may impact or 
restrain the operation of such facilities.
 

For the Company’s Mexican operations, environmental capital 
expenditures were $13.1 million and $25.8 million in 2008 and 2007, 
respectively.

Litigation matters:
 
Peruvian operations
García-Ataucuri and Others against SCC: In April 1996, SCC was 
served with a complaint filed in Peru by approximately 800 
former employees seeking the delivery of a substantial number 
of “labor shares” (acciones laborales) of its Peruvian Branch plus 
dividends on such shares, to be issued in a proportional way to 
each former employee in accordance with their time of work in 
SCC’s Peruvian Branch.

SCC conducts its operations in Peru through a registered Branch. 
Although the Peruvian Branch has neither capital nor liability sepa-
rate from that of SCC, under Peruvian law it is deemed to have an 
equity capital for purposes of determining the economic interest of 
the holders of the labor shares. The labor share litigation is based 
on claims of former employees for ownership of labor shares issued 
during the 1970’s until 1979, under a former Peruvian mandated profit 
sharing system. In 1971, the Peruvian government enacted legislation 
providing that workers in the mining industry would participate in the 
pre-tax profits of the enterprises for which they worked at a rate of 
10%. This participation was distributed 40% in cash and 60% as an 
equity interest in the enterprise. Under the law, the equity participa-
tion was originally delivered to the “Mining Community”, an organiza-
tion representing all workers. The cash portion was distributed to the 
workers after the close of the year. The accrual for this participation 
was (and continues to be) a current liability of SCC, until paid. In 1978, 
the law was amended and the equity distribution was calculated at 
5.5% of pre-tax profits and was made to individual workers of SCC 
in the form of “labor shares” to be issued in Peru by the Peruvian 
Branch of SCC. These labor shares represented an equity interest in 
SCC. In addition, according to the 1978 law, the equity participations 
previously distributed to the “Mining Community” were returned to 
SCC and redistributed in the form of labor shares to the individual 
employees or former employees. The cash participation was adjust-
ed to 4.0% of pre-tax earnings and continued to be distributed to 
employees following the close of the year. Effective in 1992, the law 
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was amended to its present status, and the workers’ participation in 
pre-tax profits was set at 8%, with 100% payable in cash. The equity 
participation component was eliminated from the law.

In 1995, SCC offered to exchange new common shares of SCC for 
the labor shares issued under the prior Peruvian law. Approximately 
80.8% of the issued labor shares were exchanged for SCC’s common 
shares, greatly reducing the minority interest on SCC’s balance sheet. 
What remains of the workers’ equity participation is now included on 
the consolidated balance sheet under the caption “Minority interest.”
 
In relation to the issuance of “labor shares” by the Branch in Peru, 
SCC is a defendant in the following lawsuits:

1) As stated above, in April  1996, SCC was served with a 
complaint filed in Peru by approximately 800 former employ-
ees, García Ataucuri and others vs. SCC, seeking the delivery of 
38,763,806.80 “labor shares” (acciones laborales), now “invest-
ment shares” (acciones de inversión) [or S/. 3,876,380,679.56], 
as required by Law No. 22333, to be issued in a proportional 
way to each former employee or worker in accordance with their 
time of work with SCC’s Branch in Peru, plus dividends on such 
shares. In 2000, SCC appealed an adverse decision of an appel-
late civil court, affirming a decision of a lower civil court, to the 
Peruvian Supreme Court. On September 19, 2001, the Peruvian 
Supreme Court annulled the proceedings noting that the civil 
courts lacked jurisdiction and that the matter had to be decided 
by a labor court. On March 8, 2002, Mr. García Ataucuri restat-
ed the claim to comply with Peruvian labor law and procedural 
requirements, and increased the number of plaintiffs to approxi-
mately 958 ex-workers. In January 2005, the lower labor judge 
dismissed the lawsuit on procedural grounds without deciding 
on the merits of the case. In March 2005, the plaintiffs appealed 
this decision but the appellate court dismissed the appeal due 
to procedural defects and remanded the case to the lower labor 
court for further proceedings. The lower labor court, on motions 
from the plaintiffs, reinstated the appeal of the dismissal of the 
case of seven plaintiffs that had cured the procedural defects. 
As of December 31, 2008, the case remains open with no further 
new developments. The labor court has temporarily lost juris-
diction over this case until the Supreme Court decides on the 
Constitutional Tribunal’s decision described on next page.

 In October 2007, in a separate proceeding initiated by Mr. García 
Ataucuri against the justices of the Peruvian Supreme Court, the 
Peruvian Constitutional Court nullified the Peruvian Supreme Court 
decision issued on September 19, 2001 because it had violated Mr. 
García Ataucuri’s constitutional due process rights by obliging him 
and the other plaintiffs to commence a new proceeding before the 
labor courts when they had litigated against SCC in civil courts 
for over 10 years. The Peruvian Constitutional Court ordered the 
Supreme Court to decide again on the merits of the case accepting 
or denying SCC’s 2000 appeal.

 Although SCC was not formally a party to the García Ataucuri 
proceedings before the Peruvian Constitutional Court, the nullity 
of the favorable decision of the Supreme Court, issued on Septem-
ber 19, 2001, is final and cannot be appealed by SCC.

 It is uncertain how the Peruvian Supreme Court will decide on 
SCC’s 2000 appeal and the merits of the case in view of the deci-
sion of the Peruvian Constitutional Court.

 
2) On May 10, 2006, SCC was served with a second complaint filed in 

Peru, this time by 44 former employees (Cornejo Flores and others 
vs. SCC), seeking delivery of: 1) labor shares (or shares of what-
ever other current legal denomination) corresponding to years 
1971 to December 31, 1977 (the plaintiffs are seeking the same 
38,763,806.80 labor shares mentioned in the prior lawsuit), that 
should have been issued in accordance with Law No. 22333, plus 
interest, and 2) labor shares resulting from capital increases made 
by the Branch in 1980 for the amount of the workers’ participa-
tion of nuevos S/.17,246,009,907.20, equivalent to 172,460,099.72 
labor shares, plus dividends. On May 23, 2006, SCC answered this 
new complaint, denying the validity of the claim. As of December 
31, 2008, the case remains open with no new developments.

3) Additionally, on June 27, 2008, the Company was served with a 
new complaint filed in Peru, this time by 82 former employees 
(Alejandro Zapata Mamani and others vs. SCC), seeking delivery of 
labor shares (or shares of whatever other current legal denomina-
tion) corresponding to years 1971 to December 31, 1977 (the plain-
tiffs are seeking the same 38,763,806.80 labor shares mentioned 
in the two previous labor share lawsuits), that should have been 
issued in accordance with Law No. 22333, plus interest, and 
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labor shares resulting from capital increases, plus dividends. The 
Company answered this new complaint, denying the validity of the 
claim. As of December 31, 2008 the case remains open with no 
new developments.

SCC asserts that the claims are without merit and that the labor 
shares were distributed to the former employees in accordance with 
the profit sharing law then in effect. SCC does not believe that an 
unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible. SCC has not made a 
provision for these lawsuits because it believes that it has meritori-
ous defenses to the claims asserted in the complaints.
 
Minería Integral S.A.C.: In January 2007, SCC was served with three 
claims filed in Peru by Minería Integral S.A.C. The claims alleged that 
SCC had trespassed on certain mining rights of the plaintiff, in Ilo, 
Department of Moquegua, and sought that SCC desist from the tres-
pass and pay compensation in the amount of $49.1 million. In Septem-
ber 2008, the Regional Direction of Moquegua ruled in favor of SCC 
denying the plaintiff’s claim. The plaintiff has not appealed this deci-
sion and therefore the cased is closed.

Mexican operations

The Mexican Geological Services (MGS) Royalties:
In August 2002, MGS [formerly named Council of Mineral Resources 
(COREMI)] filed with the Third Federal District Judge in Civil Matters, 
an action demanding from Mexcobre (La Caridad) the payment of 
royalties since 1997. In December 2005, Mexcobre signed an agree-
ment with MGS. Under the terms of this agreement the parties 
established a new procedure to calculate the royalty payments 
applicable for 2005 and the following years, and Mexcobre paid in 
January 2006, $6.9 million of royalties for 2005 and $8.5 million as 
payment on account of royalties from the third quarter 1997 through 
the last quarter of 2004. On January 22, 2007 the Third Federal 
District Judge issued a ruling regarding the payment related to the 
period from the third quarter of 1997 through the fourth quarter of 
2004. This ruling was appealed by both parties in February 2007. 
The appeal was lost by Mexcobre in October 2007. Mexcobre filed a 
protective action (Amparo) before the Ninth Collegiate Civil Tribunal 
which rendered a negative ruling on August 27, 2008. Mexcobre is 
defending its economic interest in the judicial process to determine 
the final amount to be paid to MGS. On an ongoing basis Mexcobre is 

required to pay a 1% royalty on La Caridad’s copper production value 
after deduction of treatment and refining charges and certain other 
carrying costs.

San Luis Potosí Facilities:
The Municipality of San Luis Potosí has granted Desarrolladora Inter-
saba, S. A. de C. V. (Intersaba), licenses for use of land and construc-
tion of housing and/or commercial zones in the former Ejido Capulines 
zone, where some residential projects like “Villa Magna” and other 
new residential projects are being developed within, an area, desig-
nated as a buffer zone due to Immsa’s use of anhydrous ammonia 
gas. This designation as a buffer zone was granted by the risk area of 
SEMARNAT (the federal environmental authority) within its approval 
of the Immsa’s Risk Analysis.
 
Regarding this situation, a number of actions occurred, including 
the following:
 
1) Against the Municipality of San Luis Potosí, requesting the annul-

ment of Desarrolladora Intersaba’s authorizations and licenses 
granted within the zinc plant’s buffer zone.

 In August 2006, the action regarding the annulment of Villa 
Magna’s licenses was decided by a federal appeals court, which 
denied Immsa’s request. In September 2006, Immsa submitted its 
final appeal to the Supreme Court of Justice and in February 2007, 
the court ruled against Immsa.

 Immsa believes that even though the outcome was adverse to its 
interest, the construction of the Villa Magna housing and commer-
cial development will not affect the operations of Immsa’s zinc 
plant by itself.

 Intersaba filed a lawsuit against Immsa, requesting payment of 
damages in the amount of approximately $11.0 million, supposedly 
caused by Immsa due to this litigation. 

 On November 2008, a local court ruled that Immsa had to pay 
$0.9 million related to this matter. Immsa appealed such ruling. 

 On March 2009, based on the fact that Intersaba did not present 
on time accounting documents that would support its damage alle-
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gations, a Federal Judge stated that Immsa did not had to pay 
any amount to Intersaba. An appeal against this rulling could be 
expected to be presented by Intersaba.

2) In addition to the foregoing, Immsa has initiated a series of legal 
and administrative procedures against the Municipality of San 
Luis Potosí due to its refusal to issue Immsa’s use of land permit 
(licencia de uso de suelo) in respect to its zinc plant. A federal 
judge ruled that Immsa’s use of land permit should be granted. 
The Municipal authorities confirmed on February, 2009 that the 
applicable local regulation allow Immsa to use the land for indus-
trial purposes and the municipal authorities are evaluating how to 
comply with the ruling.

3) Additionally, Ejido Capulines, an agricultural community, filed a 
protective action against Immsa’s Risk Analysis approved by 
SEMARNAT. As previously noted, this approval determines a buffer 
zone around the San Luis Potosí facilities.

 On November 4, 2008, a federal judge considered that the Ejido 
Capulines did not demonstrate any harm caused by Immsa’s Risk 
Analysis authorization. On December 2008, the Ejido Capulines 
appealed the decision on the federal court Jurisdiction.

4) Also, new lawsuits were filed by Immsa against the Municipal-
ity of San Luis Potosí challenging other licenses granted in the 
safeguard area.

 Lawsuits had been ruled by not granting the annulment of licenses 
considering Immsa’s lack of interest on the procedure. Neverthe-
less, Immsa believes these rulings do not have a material adverse 
effect on its operations.

 
5) Immsa filed on October 7, 2008 a lawsuit against SEMARNAT 

before the Federal Tax and Administrative Justice Court seeking 
the nullity of a July 24, 2008 denial of the Immsa’s request for a 
safeguard declaration.

 On March 2009, the Federal Tax and Administrative Justice Court 
granted Immsa the nullity of SEMARNAT’s official communication 
dated July 24, 2008. On March 2009, Immsa request to the Court 
a sentence clarification.

The Ejidal Commissariat of the “Ejido Pilares de Nacozari”, initiat-
ed a protective action (Amparo) against the second expropriation 
decree (by means of which 2.322 hectares were expropriated for 
public use), ignoring the judicial settlement reached with Mexcobre 
on this matter. The judicial settlement had been ratified in January 
2006. Mexcobre will defend the settlement reached with the Ejido 
and seek the dismissal of the case.

Coal consessions:
Mrs. Martínez, the wife of a miner, who died in the Pasta de Conchos 
accident, initiated a protective action against the negative ruling 
issued by the Ministry of Economy denying her request to launch a 
procedure to cancel Immsa’s coal concessions, which she argued the 
accident should trigger.
 
The First District Administrative Judge flatly dismissed the case, but 
this ruling was later revised by an appeals court. Mrs. Martínez filed 
a new protective action against a new ruling issued by the Ministry 
of Economy. Immsa is certain that an accident itself cannot trigger a 
procedure of cancellation of the coal concessions. Although Immsa 
cannot predict the outcome of the procedures filed by Mrs. Martínez, 
Immsa asserts that the claims of Mrs. Martínez are without merit and 
is vigorously defending against the actions.
 
Labor matters:
In recent years SCC and MM have experienced a number of strikes or 
other labor disruptions that have had an adverse impact on its opera-
tions and operating results.

Peruvian Operations 
Approximately 68% of Peruvian labor force was unionized at 
December 31, 2008, represented by eight separate unions. Three 
of these unions, one at each major production area, represent the 
majority of the SCC’s workers. The collective bargaining agree-
ments for these unions last through February 2010. Additionally, 
there are five smaller unions, representing the balance of workers. 
Collective bargaining agreements for this group are in force through 
November 2012.

From June 30 to July 5, 2008 the three major unions went on strike 
in support of a mining federation strike. During this strike operations 
were near normal; an insignificant amount of production was lost 
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because SCC continued working with the support of staff and admin-
istrative personnel and with contractors.

Mexican operations
Approximately 75% of the Mexican labor force was unionized at 
December 31, 2008, represented by two separate unions. Under 
Mexican law, the terms of employment for unionized workers is set 
forth in collective bargaining agreements. Mexican companies nego-
tiate the salary provisions of collective bargaining agreements with 
the labor unions annually and negotiate other benefits every two 
years. MM conducts negotiations separately at each mining complex 
and each processing plant.
 
In the last eight years the Cananea mine has experienced more than 
nine labor stoppages totaling more than 753 days of inactivity through 
the date of these consolidated financial statements. Beginning on July 
30, 2007, the Cananea mine in Mexico started a work stoppage which 
continues into 2009. On January 11, 2008 the Mexican Federal Labor 
Court declared the Cananea strike illegal and ordered the workers 
to return to work within 24 hours. The workers partially returned to 
work and Mexcananea resumed operations. However, on April 11, 2008 
the workers restarted the labor stoppage and shut down production, 
based upon a new federal ruling. Mexcananea has tried unsuccess-
fully to resolve the current labor stoppage that obstructs production 
at Cananea mine, in the second quarter 2008 the Board of Directors 
offered all Mexcananea employees a severance payment in accordance 
with the collective bargaining agreement and applicable law. This 
was offered in order to award the employees a significant severance 
payment that allows them to choose the labor alternative that is best 
for each of them. During 2008, under this plan a group of employees 
was terminated at a cost to Mexcananea of $15.2 million, which were 
recorded in cost of sales on the consolidated statement of operations. 
In addition, in accordance with SFAS No. 112 “Employers’ Accounting 
for Postemployment Benefits-an amendment of FASB Statements No. 
5 and 43” (SFAS No. 112), Mexcananea has estimated a liability of $34.5 
million which has been recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. In 
December 2008, the Mexican Federal Labor Court ruled in favor of 
Mexcananea and declared the strike illegal. The union appealed this 
decision. On January 7, 2009 the judge of the fifth district on labor 
matters annulled the favorable decision to Mexcananea. Mexcananea 
filed a request for a review of this ruling before an appellate federal 
court, which court declared the strike as legal on March 19, 2009.

On March 20, 2009 Mexcananea notified the Mexican Federal 
Labor Court the termination of all the individual labor contracts of 
Mexcananea workers, including the Collective Bargaining Agree-
ment with the union. This decision is based upon a finding by the 
Mexican mining authorities who confirmed that the Cananea mine 
is in a force majeure situation, since it is unable to operate due to 
severe damages caused by third parties. Once the Mexican Federal 
Labor Court approves the referred termination of the labor contracts, 
Mexcananea will evaluate its business options. 

Additionally, the Taxco and San Martín mines have been on strike 
since July 2007. It is expected that operations at these mines will 
remain suspended until these labor issues are resolved.

Regional development contribution:
In December, 2006 SCC’s Peruvian Branch signed a contract with 
the Peruvian government committing SCC to make annual contri-
butions for five years to support the regional development of Peru. 
This was in response to an appeal by the President of Peru to the 
mining industry.  The contributions are being used for social benefit 
programs. In 2008 and 2007, SCC made non-deductible contribu-
tions of $18.9 million and $16.1 million out of 2007 and 2006 earn-
ings, respectively. These contribution were deposited with a sepa-
rate entity, Copper Assistance Civil Association (Asociación Civil 
Ayuda del Cobre) which will make disbursements for approved 
investments in accordance with the agreement. Future contribu-
tions could increase or decrease depending on copper prices. The 
commitment of SCC’s Branch is for a total of 1.25% of its annual 
earnings, after Peruvian income tax. If the average annual LME 
copper price is below $1.79 per pound the contribution will cease. In 
2008 SCC made a provision of $12.2 million based on SCC’s Peruvi-
an Branch earnings.

Royalty charge:
In June 2004, the Peruvian Congress enacted legislation imposing a 
royalty charge to be paid by mining companies. Under this law, SCC is 
subject to a 1% to 3% royalty, based on sales, applicable to the value 
of the concentrates produced in our Toquepala and Cuajone mines. 
SCC made provisions of $53.9 million and $62.8 million in 2008 and 
2007, respectively, for this royalty. These provisions are included 
in “Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation, amortization and deple-
tion)” in the consolidated statement of operations.
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Tax contingency matters:
Tax contingencies are provided for under FIN No. 48. See Note 12 
“Income Tax, Asset Tax and Flat Tax”.

GMEXICO is involved in various other legal proceedings incidental 
to its operations, but the Company does not believe that decisions 
adverse to it in any such proceedings individually or in the aggre-
gate would have a material adverse effect on its financial position or 
results of operations.

Other legal matters:
Class actions: Three purported class action derivative lawsuits have 
been filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery (New Castle County) 
late in December 2004 and early January 2005 relating to the acqui-
sition of MM by SCC. On January 31, 2005, the three actions Lemon 
Bay, LLP v. AMC, et al., Civil Action No. 961-N, Therault Trust v. Luis 
Palomino Bonilla, et al., and SCC, et al., Civil Action No. 969-N, and 
James Sousa v. SCC, et al., Civil Action No. 978-N were consolidated 
into one action titled, In re Southern Copper Corporation Shareholder 
Derivative Litigation, Consol. Civil Action No. 961-N and the complaint 
filed in Lemon Bay was designated as the operative complaint in the 
consolidated lawsuit. The consolidated action purports to be brought 
on behalf of SCC’s common stockholders.

The consolidated complaint alleges, among other things, that the 
acquisition of MM is the result of breaches of fiduciary duties by SCC’s 
directors and is not entirely fair to SCC and its minority stockholders. 
The consolidated complaint seeks, among other things, a prelimi-
nary and permanent injunction to enjoin the acquisition, the award of 
damages to the class, the award of damages to SCC and such other 
relief that the court deems equitable, including interest, attorneys’ 
and experts’ fees and costs. SCC believes that this lawsuit is without 
merit and is vigorously defending against the action.

SCC’s management believes that the outcome of the aforementioned 
legal proceeding will not have a material adverse effect on SCC’s 
financial position or results of operations.

On August 8, 2008, the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors of 
Asarco LLC (the Committee) filed a complaint in the Bankruptcy Cases 
against certain current and former directors of Asarco LLC: Germán 
Larrea Mota Velasco, Genaro Larrea Mota Velasco, Xavier García de 

Quevedo Topete, Óscar González Rocha, Alfredo Cásar Pérez, Daniel 
Tellechea Salido, Manuel Calderón Cárdenas, Alberto de la Parra 
Zavala and Armando Fausto Ortega Gómez and John and Jane Does 
1-25, alleging that such directors breached their fiduciary duties to 
Asarco LLC and/or its creditors. The complaint also states causes 
of action for waste, negligence, unjust enrichment and conspiracy. 
The Committee seeks actual damages, exemplary damages, attor-
neys fees and other costs and fees. The Committee and Asarco LLC 
jointly moved to extend the time period by which they could serve the 
defendants with the complaint as many will be required to be served 
through the Hague Convention and the court granted plaintiffs’ 
motion. On September 10, 2007, Asarco and AMC, as potential indem-
nitors, filed a motion for leave to appeal from the order that granted 
the Committee derivative standing. The court has not yet ruled on 
that motion. Asarco and AMC believe that the Committee’s claims are 
without merit and intend to contest this matter vigorously.

Asarco LLC, is currently undergoing Chapter 11 bankruptcy process 
in the U.S. with the purpose of achieving a financial reorganization 
which includes the determination and valuation of environmental 
aspects. In connection with the above mentioned bankruptcy, Asarco 
is working with federal and state agencies to resolve environmental 
issues. These claims were subject of estimation proceedings estab-
lished by a Case Management Order Establishing Procedures to 
determine Asarco LLC’s environmental liabi1ities and authorizing the 
Filing of Omnibus Objections to Environmental Claims, dated March 
23, 2007 (March 23, 2007 CMO) in addition the subsequent supple-
mental case management orders.

Asarco participated in the environmental estimation proceedings as 
an interested party. At the date of these consolidated financial state-
ments, all but five of the sites scheduled under the March 23, 2007 
CMO for estimation had been settled by Asarco LLC with the claim-
ants, and for the five sites not settled, four were the subject of esti-
mation hearings. The court issued a decision for only one of the sites 
for which an estimation hearing was held. Asarco also challenged 
several of the settlements entered into by Asarco LLC and may chal-
lenge additional settlements as Asarco LLC seeks court approval of 
those settlements. Asarco LLC filed a motion seeking Court approv-
al of an approximate $1.1 billion settlement of an additional approxi-
mately 52 owned and non-owned sites, including the three sites which 
were the subject of estimation hearings but for which the Court had 
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not issued a decision (Environmental Settlement Motion). Asarco has 
challenged the Settlement Motion for the determination of environ-
mental liabilities. The hearing on the new Settlement Motion is sched-
uled for May 18 and 19, 2009.

GFM/Railway segment
Negotiations with a Mexican railway system operator - Ferromex 
has net balances receivable from a Mexican railway system opera-
tor generated from 1998 through 2008. Negotiations are current-
ly underway to determine the amounts to be recovered and paid 
per segment (interline traffic, trackage rights, and haulages) as the 
terms of these arrangements are not clearly defined in the conces-
sion agreements. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the net balances 
receivable amounted to $28.9 million and $36.0 million, respective-
ly. At December 31, 2008 Ferromex and its legal advisor consider 
that it has estimated adequately these balances and had recorded 
no additional reserves to cover the possible adverse or favorable 
results of the negotiations and legal procedures referred to in para-
graphs bellow:

a. Legal and administrative procedures - Ferromex is involved in 
several legal actions in the normal course of its business. However, 
the Ferromex’s management and its legal advisor believe that 
any individual or collective decisions related to these procedures 
would not have an adverse material effect on its financial position 
or results of operations. The main lawsuits in which the Ferromex 
is involved are as follows:

a.1. Mercantile lawsuits filed against Kansas City Southern 
México, S. A. de C. V. (KCSM before TFM, S.A. de C.V., TFM) 
Ferromex has filed three lawsuits against KCSM, requesting 
a court resolution to determinate the amount of principal 
and interest to be paid to Ferromex by KCSM for trackage 
rights, interline traffic, and haulage:

1) For the period beginning on February 19, 1998 and ending 
on August 31, 2001, the balance claimed by Ferromex at 
the inception date of this demand, amounts to $792.7 
million Mexican pesos (nominal value) and $20.6 million. 
After a lawsuit where all possible instances have been 
resorted to, including an appeal, Ferromex was denied 
this appeal, as a result of which Ferromex reserved its 

right to file a new demand and was required to cover 
legal costs and fees. Both parties thereto have started 
different legal actions and KCSM has not been able to 
prove the expenses and costs amounts since Ferromex 
has sustained that it is about an indefinite amount, at 
the same time that the amounts claimed were subject 
to a dispute resolution between the parties, and there-
fore, the Judge has not authorized the costs settle-
ment. The parts promote Indirect Protection against 
this last determination, being denied the Protection to 
Ferromex and conceding it to KCSM. Ferromex inter-
poses review resource that solves to modify the judg-
ment holds to review. It is pronounced judgment in the 
one which is estimated that the actor involved accred-
ited the extremes of the incident and is approved the 
schedule of costs liquidation. KCSM requested payment 
to Ferromex, who promotes indirect protection demand 
conceding to it the provisional and definitive suspension 
of the claimed act.

2) For the period of time from September 1, to Decem-
ber 31, 2001, in which the amount claimed amounts 
to $21.0 million Mexican pesos (nominal value). After 
several instances and actions filed by both parties, final 
judgment was passed which was partially in favor of 
Ferromex; however, both parties filed the corresponding 
requests for reexamination, same that they are declared 
groundless and is confirmed the definitive judgment. 
Both parties promote direct protection demand, same 
that is found in study and pending resolution.

3) On September 19, 2006, Ferromex filed a mercantile 
lawsuit against KCSM, claiming accountability for the 
period of time from January 2002 to December 2004, 
as well as the amounts arising from this accountability. 
Nowadays, the lawsuit is suspended since KCSM filed a 
writ of amparo against the accounting expert testimony 
by Ferromex, which in February of 2008 is granted in 
favor of KCSM. Ferromex interposes review resource that 
solves to confirm the constitutional protection granted 
to KCSM. In June 2008 in writs of the review resource 
of Ferromex is dictated interlocutory judgment in the 
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one which is solved that the admission of the expert test 
will be admitted until the stage of judgment execution. 
Ferromex interposes indirect protection, same that is 
superseded and is confirmed the resolution. It is inter-
posed pending review resource of resolution.

a.2. Nullity trial against several rulings issued by the Commu-
nications and Transports Ministry (SCT, for its acronym in 
Spanish) on haulages rights, interconnection and termi-
nal services. Nowadays, there are eight lawsuits which are 
processed in the Federal Court of Taxes and Administra-
tions, in the Supreme Court of Justice, Collegiate Courts 
and SCT. Now, GFM is looking forward to hearing the corre-
sponding resolutions.

a.3. Nullity trial filed by KCSM- Modification to the Ferromex 
Concession Agreement. On October 18, 2006, the Official 
Gazette carried the amendments made by SCT to the Conces-
sion Agreement of Ferrocarril Pacífico-Norte (Ferromex’s 
former name). KCSM initiated a nullity trial against these 
amendments. Ferromex was summoned to trial as an inter-
ested third party. The KCSM appeal was denied, as a result of 
which it requested and was granted an injunction. Ferromex 
then filed an appeal for review, which is considered valid, 
and the a quo sentence is therefore revoked and the KCSM 
injunction was annulled.  In October 2008, Ferromex filled 
allegations, which were added to those filed by other parties 
(KCSM and SCT). The proceedings were then declared 
closed, and the parties are awaiting the final sentence. 

a.4. Antitrust investigation IO - 02-2006.- Resolution DGIPMAR
 CI-10-096 -2008-001 dated January 14, 2008 issued by the 

Federal Economic Competition Commission (COFECO, for its 
acronym in Spanish) required GFM, Ferromex ITF, Ferrosur 
and ITM and other companies to submit certain information, 
which Ferromex filed on February 28, 2008. COFECO issued 
probable responsibility resolutions to the companies that 
participated in the concentration operations notified by ITM 
and ITF in November 2005. On November 2008, the author-
ities received evidence submitted in response to the Prob-
able responsibility resolution and the companies and KCSM 

are given a term to prepare briefs, which were submitted to 
COFECO on November 26, 2008.

 On January 30, 2009, COFECO issued a resolution in which 
the Company, ITM and some of its affiliated companies 
to submit, among other companies, are considered to be 
engaged in antitrust practices, and fines imposed which 
together amount to $259.0 million mexican pesos. In the 
case of Ferrosur the resolution did not establish in its deci-
sive an amount determined as a pecuniary sanction for 
this society; nevertheless, when Ferrosur is mentioned in 
another decisive also as a responsible for the monopolis-
tic practice, we suppose that the pecuniary sanction is for 
the same amount of $82.2 million Mexican pesos, and in 
the opposition also merit is being made that the resolution 
is dark in this sense. This resolution is not yet definitive, as 
an appeal can be filed at COFECO in a term of 30 days. If 
the final resolution does not favor GFM and/or Ferromex, a 
second appeal can be filed at a court.

a.5. Ordinary Mercantile suit brought by KCSM against Ferrromex 
and others. KCSM requests annulment of the November 
24, 2005 agreement for the purchase of Ferrosur, shares 
entered into by ITF and LFM, as buyers, and by GCondumex 
and Sinca, capital investment company, as sellers, as well 
as the annulment of all actions and consequences arising 
from this operation. Ferromex was notified of that request 
on March 25, 2008 and a response was filed in April. In May 
2008, KCSM requested a statement of joint litigation and 
appointment of a joint representative. After the companies 
submitted various appeals, it is resolved to deny the KCSM 
request. In November 2008, KCSM requested a statement 
of joint litigation of the codefendants, which was denied on 
November 6, 2008. KCSM appealed the denial, the appeal 
was declared groundless in December 2008.

a.6. Indirect lawsuits - These lawsuits are those in which Ferromex 
is included in labor claims filed against FNM. These indirect 
lawsuits cannot be quantified, but the possible economic 
impact would be absorbed by the Current Settlement Organ 
and for by the Mexican Federal Government, in accordance 
with the terms previously agreed in the concession agreement.
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a.7. Direct lawsuits - These lawsuits are those in which Ferromex 
is sued directly. The related amount will be liable in the case 
that the Ferromex losses the lawsuits and there will not be 
possibility of negotiation. Indemnifications paid in 2008 
and 2007, in connection with labor claims amounted to $4.1 
million and $1.2 million, respectively.

a.8. On November 24, 2005, GMEXICO reported that, through 
its subsdiary ITF, acquired 100% of the capital stock of 
Ferrosur owned by Sinca and GCondumex. GMEXICO 
believes such acquisition will strengthen Mexico’s trans-
port system by promoting competition in the load trans-
port market in Mexico. On November 8, 2006, the Federal 
Antitrust Commission denied the merger between Ferrosur 
and ITF. As result ITM and ITF started a legal proceeding to 
revoke the above mentioned ruled proposed by the Federal 
Antitrust Commission. As of the date of these consolidated 
financial statements, the outcome of this legal proceeding 
is uncertain. 

 At December 31, 2008, ITM considers that it has estimated 
adequately the accounts receivable and payable; and there-
fore, it has not recorded an additional reserve to cover the 
possible adverse or favorable results of the negotiations and 
lawsuits mentioned above.

NOTE 24 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

a. On January 30, 2009 SCC’s Board of Directors authorized a divi-
dend of 11.7 U.S. cents per share to be paid on March 30, 2009 to 
shareholders of record as of March 11, 2009.

 On January 30, 2009 GMEXICO’s Board of Directors authorized 
a dividend of 1 share for each 75 outstanding shares, which come 
from the treasury stock.

 
b. On February 18, 2009 SCC announced that it has given notice 

to Frontera Copper Corporation (Frontera), a Canadian mining, 
development and exploration company of the termination of the 
support agreement dated February 4, 2009. Under the support 
agreement, SCC agreed to acquire all of Frontera’s outstanding 

shares for $0.65 Canadian dollars (C$) per share, or approximate-
ly for C$42 million (approximately $35 million). On February 6, 
2009, Invecture made an offer of C$0.75 per share of Frontera, 
or the Invecture Offer, which Frontera’s Board of Directors unani-
mously recommended to Frontera’s shareholders to accept. SCC, 
in turn, decided not to exercise its right under the support agree-
ment to restate the Invecture Offer by increasing its C$0.65 per 
share tender to outbid the C$0.75 per share of Invecture, because 
SCC deemed that an increase of its offer would not be in its best 
economic interest. SCC remains open to pursue other business 
opportunities which are accretive to its shareholders. 

c. During the first quarter of 2009, SCC acquired 2.7 million shares 
of its common stock according to its share repurchase program. 
In addition, AMC purchased 4.9 million shares of SCC’s common 
stock, which resulted in an indirect increase from 76.4% to 76.9% 
of GMEXICO’s ownership in SCC’s capital stock.

d. GMEXICO and AMC have from time to time been named parties 
in various litigations involving Asarco LLC. In August 2002 the 
U.S. Department of Justice brought a claim alleging fraudulent 
conveyance in connection with AMC’s then-proposed purchase of 
SCC from a subsidiary of Asarco LLC. That transaction was settled 
pursuant to a consent decree dated February 2, 2003 issued by the 
U.S. Justice Department. In March 2003, AMC purchased 54.20% 
from Asarco’s ownership in SCC’s capital stock from Asarco LLC. In 
October 2004, GMEXICO and AMC, were named in a lawsuit filed 
in New York State, which lawsuit claims, among other matters, 
that AMC’s purchase of SCC from Asarco LLC should be voided 
as a fraudulent conveyance. The lawsuit filed in New York State 
court was stayed as a result of the August 2005 Chapter 11 bank-
ruptcy filing by Asarco LLC. On February 2, 2007 a complaint was 
filed in the bankruptcy court by Asarco LLC, on behalf of Asarco’s 
LLC creditors, alleging many of the matters previously claimed in 
the New York State lawsuit, including that AMC’s purchase of SCC 
from Asarco LLC should be voided as a fraudulent conveyance. This 
lawsuit was transferred to the U.S. District Court for the Southern 
District of Texas in Brownsville, Texas. The lawsuit originally filed in 
New York State was also transferred to the court in Brownsville.

 On April 1, 2009, the judgment in the Brownsville case was issued. 
GMEXICO and AMC were found liable on counts of fraudulent 
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 transfer, aiding and abetting and conspiracy. The remedies in this 
case were tied to all three charges. The judgment requires AMC 
to return approximately 260 million shares of SCC common stock 
(approximately 30.5% of total SCC outstanding shares) and to 
pay cash damages in the approximate net amount of $1.38 billion. 
The cash damages represent dividends paid on the transferred 
shares between March 31, 2003 and the present and prejudg-
ment interest, minus the consideration paid by AMC. The total 
estimated amount of this reclamation is $6.1 billion. The Company 
has obtained a stay of this judgment until June 5, 2009. However, 
the Company plans to appeal this judgment and will request a 
stay through the duration of the appeals process. If the stay is not 
granted, then the judgment will go into effect on June 6, 2009 
and Asarco LLC could attempt to collect at any time thereafter. In 
conjunction with this judgment, the court has granted a temporary 
restraining order on AMC, prohibiting, in general, from voting any 
of its shares in SCC in a way that could be harmful to Asarco LLC. 
As of the date of this report, the Company and its external legal 
counsel are unable to determine the timing and final outcome of 
this appeal process. At December 31, 2008 SCC represents 69% 
of the total consolidated assets, 82% of net consolidated sales 
and 95% of the net income of the year, respectively.

 Additionally, during April of 2009 AMC and Asarco formalized 
an agreement with the Official Committee of Unsecured Credi-
tors of the Subsidiary Debtors and the Future Claims for environ-
mental liabilities Representative pursuant to which, among other 
things, AMC and Asarco expect to agree the aggregate allowed 
amount of the asbestos claims should be $1.0 billion, and obtain 
the Judge’s final authorization that on the reorganization that 
AMC and Asarco expect to implement, such plan includes $750 
million to pay such claims.

 
e. On April 14, 2009, the Mexican Federal Labor Court issued a 

resolution approving the termination by Mexcananea of its 
labor relationships with individual and unionized employees, as 
well as the termination of its Collective Bargaining Agreement 
with its employees and with the National Mining and Metal 
Workers Union. 

f. On April 24, 2009, GMEXICO’s Board of Directors authorized a 
dividend of 1 share for each 100 outstanding shares.






